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Tap Oil Limited 

2014 Annual Report 



Disclaimer 

Certain statements contained in this document, including information as to the future financial or operating performance of Tap Oil Limited and 
its projects, are forward looking statements.  Such forward looking statements: 

• are necessarily based upon a number of estimates and assumptions that, while considered reasonable by Tap Oil Limited, are 
inherently subject to significant technical, business, economic, competitive, political and social uncertainties and contingencies;

• involve known and unknown risks and uncertainties that could cause actual events or results to differ materially from estimated or 
anticipated events or results reflected in such forward looking statements; and

• may include, among other things, statements regarding targets, estimates and assumptions in respect of production and prices, 
operating costs and results, capital expenditures, reserves and resources and anticipated flow rates, and are or may be based on 
assumptions and estimates related to future technical, economic, market, political, social and other conditions.

Tap Oil Limited disclaims any intent or obligation to update publicly any forward looking statements, whether as a result of new information, 
future events or results or otherwise. 

The words “believe”, “expect”, “anticipate”, “indicate”, “contemplate”, “target”, “plan”, “intends”, “continue”, “budget”, “estimate”, “may”, “will”, 
“schedule”, “potential”, “opportunity” and similar expressions identify forward looking statements. 

All forward looking statements made in this document are qualified by the foregoing cautionary statements. Investors are cautioned that 
forward looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and accordingly investors are cautioned not to put undue reliance on 
forward looking statements due to the inherent uncertainty therein. 

No representation or warranty is or will be made by any person (including Tap Oil Limited and its officers, directors, employees, advisers and 
agents) in relation to the accuracy or completeness of all or part of this document, or any constituent or associated presentation, information or 
material (collectively, the Information), or the accuracy, likelihood of achievement or reasonableness of any projections, prospects or returns 
contained in, or implied by, the Information or any part of it.  The Information includes information derived from third party sources that has not 
necessarily been independently verified. 

Subject to any obligations under applicable laws, regulations or securities exchange listing rules, Tap Oil Limited disclaims any obligation or 
undertaking to release any updates or revisions to the Information to reflect any change in expectations or assumptions. 

Nothing contained in the Information constitutes investment, legal, tax or other advice.  The Information does not take into account the 
investment objectives, financial situation or particular needs of any recipient.  Before making an investment decision, each recipient of the 
Information should make its own assessment and take independent professional advice in relation to the Information and any action taken on 
the basis of the Information. 

Persons compiling information about hydrocarbons 

The reserve and contingent resource information in this Report is based on information compiled by Mr Denis Bouclin B.A.Sc (Hons),  
M.A.Sc (Engineering), P.Eng., who has consented to the inclusion of such information in this Report in the form and context in which  
it appears. Mr Bouclin is a part-time employee of the Company, with more than 25 years relevant experience in the petroleum industry and is a 
member of The Association of Professional Engineers and Geoscientists of Alberta (APEGA) and The Society of Petroleum Engineers (SPE).   

Tap Oil Limited is not aware of any new information or data that materially affects the information included in the following ASX releases  
cross-referenced in this Report and that all the material assumptions and technical parameters underpinning the estimates in such releases 
continue to apply and have not materially changed: ASX release 29 January 2013, 26 February 2014 and 23 April 2015. 
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Chairman’s Letter

Dear Shareholder  

I am pleased to present to you Tap Oil Limited’s 2014 Annual Report. 

2014 was a year of challenges and significant achievement for Tap with the commencement of production at the 
Manora Oil Development, Tap’s flagship project in the Gulf of Thailand. This marked a significant milestone for 
Tap’s Board and Management and returned the Company to being a mid-tier producer following a two year hiatus.  
The Manora crude revenues provide Tap with an alternate funding stream to the domestic gas business which 
itself generates approximately A$30 million gross per annum to Tap until the end of 2016. 

The commencement of Manora coincided with a sharp decline in the oil price that has adversely impacted share 
prices across the oil and gas sector.  Tap has been no exception to this.  However, even at an oil price of between 
US$45 to US$55/bbl, Tap forecasts net cash flow during 2015 from Manora of approximately US$39 to  
US$44 million (after forecast Thai taxes, royalties, operating costs and including the hedging impact, but before 
repayment of debt).    

SUCCESSFUL COMMISSIONING OF MANORA OIL DEVELOPMENT 

The highlight of 2014 was the successful commissioning and commencement of production at Manora. 

Tap Oil focused much of its efforts in 2014 towards the timely start of production. During the year the offshore 
platform installation was completed, the FSO “Manora Princess” arrived on location at the Manora field and the 
Atwood Orca Drilling rig commenced drilling the production and injection wells. On 11 November Tap announced 
the commencement of oil production at Manora. 

Manora has been in production for over 5 months, at times in excess of 16,000 barrels per day (gross).  
The venture has now produced over 1.8 mmbbls (gross) and there have been 15 crude liftings by 21 April 2015. 
Sale of the crude is to a local refinery in Thailand. 

Following a review of the results from the development drilling programme, the Manora joint venture agreed that 
two wells (one producer and one injector) would no longer be required and also to defer two producer wells. The 
development plan had previously forecast up to 15 wells (10 producer and 5 injectors). The Operator (Mubadala 
Petroleum) has confirmed that peak production of 15,000 barrels per day (gross) has now been achieved and can 
be maintained with only 7 producing wells. 

The Manora Oil Development has been funded with a Borrowing Base Debt Facility with BNP Paribas and Siam 
Commercial Bank. The Facility is currently fully drawn at US$78.9 million. During the second half of 2015, 
approximately US$36 million will be repaid under the Facility. 

OTHER OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS 

Tap has made a number of significant gas discoveries in the Carnarvon Basin over the last four years, namely 
Zola and Bianchi (in WA-290-P and WA-49-R) and Tallaganda (WA-351-P).  Early in 2014, Tap booked an 
additional 16PJ of net 2C contingent resource in the WA-49-R retention lease for Bianchi-1, in addition to the 
48PJ of net 2C contingent resource booked for Zola and Antiope (ASX release 26 February 2014).  Tap now 
estimates gross 2C contingent resources of 638PJ within the retention lease, with a net resource to Tap of 64PJ 
(ASX release 26 February 2014).  

Before the close of the year, Tap extended the option exercise date over a potential acquisition of a 10% interest 
from WHL Energy Ltd in exploration permit Vic/P67 in the offshore Otway Basin. However, after analysis of 
additional seismic acquired during 2014, Tap’s view was that there was insufficient prospectivity in the vicinity of 
the existing La Bella discovery to justify exercising our option. 

SHARE PRICE  

On entering the second half of the 2014, Tap Oil was very optimistic about returning from a two-year production 
hiatus with the imminent production start of Manora. 
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Over the course of the next few months, this optimism was reflected in the Company’s share price, which climbed 
from 45 cents per share in June to a peak of 67.6c in September in anticipation of the resumption of production 
revenues.    

However macroeconomic factors had a profound impact on the dynamics of the oil market, resulting in a sharp 
price decline and a consequent fall in the Company’s share price.  

Despite this sudden oil price drop, and further falls since year end, Manora remains an economically robust 
development and will provide the Company with strong revenue flows in 2015 and beyond. 

LOOKING AHEAD 

The 2015 calendar year is expected be a year of consolidation for the broader oil and gas sector as it continues to 
adjust to the new macroeconomic environment with lower oil prices. Tap has executed a moderate oil hedging 
programme in February 2015 to support the amount available under the Borrowing Base Debt Facility and to 
provide revenue certainty during 2015.  

Cost reductions are now in place (including revised Manora development drilling programme with four of the 
remaining wells deferred or cancelled, and withdrawal from the G3/48 concession in Thailand) and significant 
commitments in the Australian exploration acreage have been delayed. 

Tap is also reviewing its business and asset base in order to respond to the recent change in market conditions in 
the oil and gas sector and to maximise value for all shareholders. A strategic review will consider a number of 
divestment options for each asset and alternative funding solutions. Tap notes that such divestment options (if 
successfully completed) should enable the Company to reduce its debt and potentially also allow for the payment 
of fully franked dividends to shareholders. 

THANK YOU 

I would like to thank members of the Board, senior management and all our staff and contractors for their hard 
work and contributions in what has been both a successful and challenging period.  

On behalf of the Board and Company, I would like to thank you – our shareholders – for your ongoing support of 
the Company in what has been a very challenging year for Tap in achieving first production at Manora. I look 
forward to keeping you updated in 2015 on the progress of the Strategic Review.  

Yours Sincerely  

Douglas Bailey  
Chairman 
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Schedule of Permit Interests as at 8 April 2015 
The following summarises Tap's exploration, production and pipeline interests.  The interests shown may be 
subject to certain conditions, including regulatory approvals. 

Licence/Permit Field Hydrocarbon
Tap 
(%) 

Gross Area 
(km2) Operator 

EXPLORATION PERMITS

Western Australia 
TP/7    12.47 718.5 Apache 

WA-155-P (Part II)   6.55 79.8 Apache 

WA-290-P   10.00 319 Apache 

WA-320-P   9.78 310 Apache  

WA-351-P Tallaganda  20.00 1,915 BHP Billiton 

WA-515-P   100 482 Tap 

WA-516-P   100 159 Tap 

     

Thailand*      

G1/48 Concession (excluding Production 
Area) 

  30.00 4,246 Mubadala 
Petroleum 

     

RETENTION LEASES

Western Australia 
WA-33-R Maitland gas 22.47 319 Apache 

WA-34-R Prometheus & Rubicon gas 12.00 416 Eni 

WA-49-R Antiope, Bianchi, Zola gas 10.00 159 Apache

  

PRODUCTION LICENCES
Western Australia     

TL/2  Taunton oil 10.00 399.2 Apache  

WA-8-L Amulet oil 20.00 161 Santos 

WA-22-L  oil 15.00 80 Eni 

WA-25-L  oil 15.00 398 Eni 

Thailand 
     

G1/48 North Kra Production Area Manora oil 30.00 161.14 Mubadala 
Petroleum 

TOTAL AREA   10,322.64  

PIPELINE LICENCES           
PL/14 Airlie Island License Area gas 10.00  Apache 

TPL/3 South Pepper Trunkline oil 10.00  Apache  

TPL/4 Airlie Island Tanker Loading oil 10.00  Apache  

TPL/7 Chervil to Airlie Island  oil and gas 10.00  Apache 

* Tap has withdrawn from its 30% participating interest in the G3/48 concession and has no further exploration commitments (including drilling). 
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Reserve & Contingent Resource Estimate 
The following summarises Tap’s Proved Reserves (1P), Proved plus Probable Reserves (2P) and Contingent 
Resources (2C) estimates as of the evaluation date of 31 December 2014.  Unless otherwise stated, all estimates 
are quoted as net Tap share. 

  Proved (1P) Reserves by Region at evaluation date 31 December 2014 

  Developed Undeveloped Total 

  
Sales 
Gas Condensate Oil 

Sales 
Gas Condensate Oil 

Sales 
Gas Condensate Oil 

  (PJ) (MMbbl) (MMbbl) (PJ) (MMbbl) (MMbbl) (PJ) (MMbbl) (MMbbl) 

Thailand 0 0 2.5 0 0 2.2 0 0 4.7 
                    

  Proved Plus Probable (2P) Reserves by Region at evaluation date 31 December 2014 

  Developed Undeveloped Total 

  
Sales 
Gas Condensate Oil 

Sales 
Gas Condensate Oil 

Sales 
Gas Condensate Oil 

  (PJ) (MMbbl) (MMbbl) (PJ) (MMbbl) (MMbbl) (PJ) (MMbbl) (MMbbl) 

Thailand 0 0 3.1 0 0 2.7 0 0 5.8 

  Reserves Reconciliation by Region (MMbbl) 

  Proved (1P) Reserves 

  
  

Evaluation Date 
31-Dec-13 

Revision & 
Reclassification 

Extensions & 
Discoveries 

Acquisitions 
& Divestments 

Production 
  

Evaluation Date 
31-Dec-14 

Thailand 3.6 1.17 0.08 0 -0.14 4.7 
              
  Reserves Reconciliation by Region (MMbbl) 

  Proved plus Probable (2P) Reserves 

  
  

Evaluation Date 
31-Dec-13 

Revision & 
Reclassification 

Extensions & 
Discoveries 

Acquisitions 
& Divestments 

Production 
  

Evaluation Date 
31-Dec-14 

Thailand 6.1 -0.37 0.21 0 -0.14 5.8 

2C Contingent Resources by Region at evaluation date 31 December 2014 
              

  LIGHT AND MEDIUM OIL NATURAL GAS NATURAL GAS LIQUIDS 

  Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net 
MMSTB MMSTB PJ PJ MMSTB MMSTB 

Thailand 0.5 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 
Australia 16.2 2.3 1474.2 206.2 5.7 0.8 
TOTAL 16.7 2.5 1474.2 206.2 5.7 0.8 
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2C Contingent Resources by Field at evaluation date 31 December 2014

    
LIGHT AND 

MEDIUM OIL 
NATURAL GAS 

NATURAL GAS 
LIQUIDS 

TAP 
(%) 

  
Gross

MMSTB
Net

MMSTB 
Gross

PJ 
Net
PJ 

Gross
MMSTB 

Net
MMSTB 

20.00% Amulet 7.1 1.4         

10.00% Antiope     106.0 10.6     

10.00% Bianchi     159.5 16.0 2.2 0.2 

22.47% Maitland     215.4 48.4 1.8 0.4 

30.00% Manora 0.5 0.2         

12.00% Prometheus & Rubicon     377.3 45.3     

20.00% Tallaganda     244.0 48.8 0.5 0.1 

10.00% Taunton 9.1 0.9         

10.00% Zola     372.0 37.2 1.2 0.1 

  Total 16.7 2.5 1474.2 206.2 5.7 0.8 

2C Contingent Resource Reconciliation

  
LIGHT AND 

MEDIUM OIL 
NATURAL 

GAS 
NATURAL GAS 

LIQUIDS 

  
Net Net Net 

MMSTB PJ MMSTB 

31 December 2013 CONTINGENT RESOURCE (2C) 5.6 220.1 1.4 

Conversion to Reserves 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Revisions (Manora, Maitland*) -3.1 -13.9 -0.6 

Extensions and Discoveries  0.0 0.0 0.0 

Acquisitions and Divestments 0.0 0.0 0.0 

31 December 2014 CONTINGENT RESOURCE (2C) 2.5 206.2 0.8 

* For further detail please see ASX release 23 April 2015 “2014 Reserves and Resources Estimates - Update”. 

�

The reserve and contingent resource estimate in this Report (Reserves Statement) is based on, and fairly represents, information and 
supporting documentation prepared by a qualified petroleum reserves and resources evaluator.  The Reserves Statement as a whole has 
been approved by Mr Denis Bouclin B.A.Sc (Hons), M.A.Sc (Engineering), P.Eng..  Mr Bouclin is a part-time employee of the Company, with 
more than 25 years relevant experience in the petroleum industry and is a member of The Association of Professional Engineers and 
Geoscientists of Alberta (APEGA) and The Society of Petroleum Engineers (SPE).  Mr Bouclin has consented in writing to the inclusion of 
information in this Report in the form and context in which it appears.   

Tap’s reserve and contingent resource estimate in this Report was prepared in accordance with the SPE Petroleum Resources Management 
System.  The governance arrangements for the reporting of hydrocarbon reserves and resources are based on the Company’s Reserves 
Committee Charter and Terms of Reference (available for viewing on the Company’s website).  During 2014, there were three meetings of the 
Reserves Committee.  There were no external reserves or contingent resource audits performed on any of the Company’s assets during 2014.  

Reserves and contingent resources have been estimated using both deterministic and probabilistic methods. Reserves and contingent 
resources are aggregated by arithmetic summation by category. Reference point for measurement of reserves is the point of sales. 

Third Party Gas 

As at 31 December 2014, Tap has a remaining entitlement to delivery of the following volumes of gas under 
contract.  The volumes set out below constitute gas reserves attributable to the sellers under the relevant 
agreements and as such are not disclosed herein as reserves. 

Contract Tap Share (PJ) 
Tap Share 
(mmboe) 

Gas Sale Agreement dated 27 May 2005 7.79 1.30 
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Comparative Data Summary  

12 MONTHS ENDED DEC 14 DEC 13 DEC 12** DEC 11**^ DEC 10** 

Profit & Loss (US$ million) 

Sales revenue : Oil and condensate  1.8 - 8.0 28.4 37.1 

 : Gas  24.7 26.1 35.0 33.3 28.6 

 : Tolling   - - 4.5 2.0 

Government royalties  (0.1) - - (1.2) (1.1) 

EBITDA*  (71.6) (38.8) (3.8) (10.5) (46.2) 

Exploration expenditure writedowns  (57.2) (45.6) (8.9) (4.6) (64.8) 

Property, plant & equipment writedowns  (20.9)   - - (39.8) (8.4) 

Income tax benefit/(expense)  31.9 0.2 (3.5) 3.6 13.8 

Net loss after tax  (42.7) (38.1) (3.6) (29.7) (56.5) 

EPS (cents)  (17.6) (15.8) (1.6) (12.4) (32.9) 

Gross profit as a % of revenue  54% 55% 48% 19% 20%

Balance Sheet (US$ million) 

Cash  14.0 38.9 100.1 83.1 100.5 

Capitalised exploration expenditure  21.1 81.0 90.5 143.4 111.4 

Property, plant & equipment  134.4 91.2 59.3 4.9 78.7

Total assets  224.7 228.8 264.3 300.2 330.4 

Debt  64.2 - - - - 

Total liabilities  116.9 77.8 57.2 94.8 96.1 

Net assets  107.7 151.0 207.1 205.5 234.3 

Cash Flow (US$ million) 

Operations  5.7 0.6 16.3 27.1 29.3 

Investing  (91.1) (46.0) (1.6) (43.6) (42.2) 

Financing  61.2 (1.9) - - 50.6 

* These numbers are non-IFRS financial information. Please refer to the audited financial statements for the IFRS financial 
information and Appendix 3 of the ASX release on 27 February 2015 for a reconciliation. 

**  The financial numbers in this column have been translated from AUD to USD.  For profit and loss items the exchange rate is the 
average rate for that year and for balance sheet items the exchange rate is the year end rate for that year. 

^  The 2011 results include a retrospective restatement of deferred tax assets recognised due to the impairment of the Harriet Joint 
Venture at 31 December 2011.  This restatement resulted in a derecognition of the deferred tax asset and a resultant increase in the 
loss from discontinued operations of $8.6 million as set out in note 2 to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 
2012. 
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12 MONTHS ENDED DEC 14 DEC 13 DEC 12 DEC 11 DEC 10 

Volumes 

Production 

Oil & condensate (mmbbls) : Manora  0.1* - - - - 

 : HJV  - - - 0.2 0.2 

 : Woollybutt  - - 0.1 0.2 0.3 

Sales gas (PJ) : HJV  - - - 3.6 4.1 

Total (mmboe)  0.1 - 0.1 0.8 1.1 

Third Party Gas Sales 

Sales of Third Party Gas (PJ)  3.5 3.8 4.6 3.8 3.9 

Reserves (Proved and Probable) 

Total (mmboe)  5.8 6.1 6.1 8.0 2.8 

12 MONTHS ENDED DEC 14 DEC 13 DEC 12 DEC 11 DEC 10 

Other 

Oil price – US$ average realised/bbl  58.9 N/A 94.3 119.7 78.2 

Shares on issue  243.2 242.1 241.3 241.0 241.0 

Share Price at Period End (A$)  0.42 0.50 0.62 0.60 0.83

*  Manora production commenced on 11 November 2014.
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Corporate Governance
APPROACH TO GOVERNANCE 

Tap is committed to conducting business in accordance with a high standard of corporate governance.  This 
statement outlines the key principles and practices the Board has adopted for its corporate governance.  These 
principles and practices are reviewed regularly and revised as appropriate to reflect changes in law and 
developments in corporate governance. 

The Board seeks to: 

• embrace principles and practices it considers are best practice; 
• where appropriate, become an ‘early adopter’ by complying before a published law or recommendation takes 

effect; and 
• take an active role in discussions of corporate governance best practice and associated regulation.  

In addition to the information contained in this statement, the Company’s website (www.tapoil.com.au) contains a 
dedicated corporate governance section which includes copies of the key corporate governance policies adopted 
by the Company.  

ASX CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

In March 2014, the Australian Stock Exchange (ASX) Corporate Governance Council released the third edition of 
its Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations (Recommendations).  The Company has chosen to 
adopt the third edition of the Recommendations early.  Throughout the year, Tap continued the corporate 
governance practices disclosed in our 2013 Corporate Governance Statements (which complied with the second 
edition of the Recommendations) and, where appropriate, updated its arrangements and reporting to reflect the 
new Recommendations.   

This statement summarises the Company’s compliance with the new Recommendations.  

PRINCIPLE 1: LAY SOLID FOUNDATIONS FOR MANAGEMENT AND OVERSIGHT 

Recommendation 1.1 Role of Board and Management 

The Constitution provides that the business of the Company is to be managed by or under the direction of the 
Board.  The roles and responsibilities of the Board are formalised in the Board Charter.  The Board considers that 
its prime responsibility is to oversee the business activities and management of the Group for the benefit of 
shareholders.  An extract from the Board Charter listing the Board’s responsibilities is set out below: 

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD OF TAP OIL LIMITED

The key responsibilities of the Board of Tap are to: 

• contribute to and approve strategy and performance objectives developed by management; 
• contribute to the ideas for the growth of the Group; 
• guide and monitor the businesses of the companies within the Group; 
• establish corporate governance standards; 
• ensure appropriate policies, procedures and systems are in place to: 

(i) monitor performance and reporting; and 
(ii) manage risk and internal control; 

• monitor and oversee the work of the boards of subsidiaries of Tap, including monitoring the implementation 
by subsidiary boards of the policies and decisions of the Board; 

• approve and monitor budgets, major investments and projects; 
• facilitate the appointment of additional Directors as determined by the Nominations Committee (who shall 

stand for election at the next general meeting of shareholders) and remove Directors and approve 
succession plans; 

• review and monitor the findings of the Nominations Committee in respect of the composition of the Board and 
succession plans to ensure there is an appropriate mix of expertise and experience; 
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• assess the performance of the Board as a whole and the contributions of individual Directors; 
• appoint the CEO and Managing Director and approve succession plans and remuneration of senior 

management; 
• ensure compliance with applicable laws and regulations; 
• establish ethical, environment and health and safety standards for the Group’s operations and people; and 
• establish appropriate committees to assist the Board in the discharge of its responsibilities and oversee such 

committees. 

Responsibility for management of the Group’s business activities is delegated to the Managing Director, who is 
accountable to the Board.  This responsibility and authority is subject to a delegation of authority.  Matters beyond 
the scope of the delegation of authority require Board approval.  The delegation of authority is reviewed regularly.  
An extract from the Board Charter listing management’s responsibilities is set out below.  

RESPONSIBILITIES OF MANAGEMENT

The key responsibilities of management are to: 

• contribute ideas for the growth and strategy of the Group; 
• assume and exercise the powers and perform the duties from time to time vested in management by the 

Board; 
• implement the decisions and strategies as determined by the Board; 
• manage the day to day activities of the Group; 
• develop corporate strategy performance objectives, budgets, financial plans and proposals for major projects 

for consideration and approval by the Board; 
• manage the financial and investment decisions of the Group; 
• lead negotiations in relation to material transactions; 
• manage staff recruitment, deployment and dismissals; 
• manage investor relations and represent the Company in the community with the government; and 
• protect the assets of the Group. 

Recommendation 1.2 Director Checks 

The Company has in place a policy that it will perform full checks on all potential directors.  These include a check 
on a person’s character, experience, education, criminal record and bankruptcy history.  All potential directors are 
required to provide consent for the Company to perform such checks.  Since this policy has been adopted no new 
directors have been appointed to the Board. 

Your Directors’ biographical details, including their relevant qualification and experience and the skills they are 
bringing to the Board are detailed on the Company’s website and within the Annual Report.  Details of any other 
material directorships currently held are also provided on the Company’s website and within the Annual Report. 

Recommendation 1.3 Written Agreement with each Director and Senior Executive 

All non-executive Directors are engaged by the Company under letters of appointment and senior executives are 
engaged under service contracts.  These address the roles and responsibilities of the individual. 

Details of the letters of appointment and service contracts for senior executives are provided in the Remuneration 
Report within the Annual Report. 

Recommendation 1.4 Company Secretary 

The appointment and removal of a Company Secretary is a matter for decision by the Board.  The Company 
Secretary, Ms Melanie Williams, is accountable directly to the Board (through the Chairman) on all matters to do 
with the proper functioning of the Board.  This arrangement has also been formalised in her employment contract. 
Details of the Company Secretary are set out in the Annual Report. 
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Recommendation 1.5 Diversity Policy 

The Company has adopted a Diversity Policy, a copy of which is available on the Company’s website.  The 
Diversity Policy was first adopted in 2011, with an aim to developing a diverse and flexible workforce that 
possesses the required expertise and competence to achieve the Company’s strategic objectives.  This involves 
recognising and valuing the unique contribution people can make because of their individual backgrounds, 
different skills, experiences and perspectives.  Diversity may result from a range of factors including gender, 
ethnicity, religion, culture, language, sexual orientation, disability and age.   

The Diversity Policy includes a requirement for the Board to set measurable diversity objectives and monitor the 
entity’s progress in achieving them.  The Board sets a number of measurable diversity objectives for 2014 (which 
were all completed during the year), including: 

• maintaining flexible workplace practices;  
• maintaining the current female representation across the Company and the management team; and 
• considering pay equity through an annual pay audit. 

The Board has resolved to retain the diversity objectives as set for the previous year for the coming period of 2015. 

The following table shows the number of men and women across the organisation as at 31 December 2014. 

Total No. of Men % Men No. of 
Women % Women 

Board1 4 4 100% 0 0% 

Management2 3 1 33.33% 2 66.67% 

Employees3 17 7 41% 10 59% 

1 Including Managing Director/CEO 
2 Management is defined as those employees who are key management personnel but not board members 
3 Excluding Managing Director/CEO and Management 

Recommendation 1.6 Board Performance Assessment 

Improvement in Board processes and effectiveness is a continuing objective and the primary purpose of Board 
evaluation is to identify ways to improve performance.  

The Nominations Committee is responsible for developing a process for evaluating the performance of the Board 
as a whole.  The evaluation is carried out internally and involves applying best practice criteria to the Board’s 
responsibilities.  The evaluation also takes into consideration benchmarking of progress towards goals set out in 
Tap’s business plan and regular assessment of results compared with budgets and forecasts.  Evaluations also 
consider the effectiveness of Board member interaction and the contributions made by individual Directors.  

The Nominations Committee conducted a performance evaluation of the Board, its committees and Directors 
during the 2014 financial year.  This evaluation was undertaken in accordance with the process disclosed above.

Recommendation 1.7 Performance Evaluation of Senior Executives 

The process for evaluating the performance of senior executives (including the Managing Director) is summarised 
on pages 12 to 14 of the Directors’ Report contained in Tap’s 2014 Annual Report.  Annual performance reviews 
for the 2014 financial year have been undertaken in accordance with the process described in the Directors’ 
Report. 

PRINCIPLE 2: STRUCTURE THE BOARD TO ADD VALUE 

The Constitution for Tap provides for a minimum of three Directors and a maximum of ten Directors.  The Board 
currently comprises of three independent non-executive Directors (including an independent chairman), and one 
executive Director.  
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The Board has the ability under the Company’s Constitution to delegate its powers and responsibilities to 
committees of the Board.  The Board has the following four committees to assist in the discharge of its 
responsibilities: 

• Nominations Committee; 
• Audit & Risk Committee; 
• Remuneration Committee; and 
• Reserves Committee. 

Details of these Committees are set out in this statement. 

Recommendation 2.1 Nominations Committee 

The role of the Nominations Committee is to review board composition, undertake board succession planning and 
evaluate the performance of the Board, its committees and Directors.  The Nominations Committee Charter is 
available on the Company’s website. 

The Committee is comprised of three members who are independent Directors, and one member who is not 
independent. The Nominations Committee is chaired by an independent Director.  

Board Member Capacity Independent Committee 
Position 

Committee 
Meetings 

Held 

Committee 
Meetings 
Attended 

Douglas Bailey  Non-Executive Yes Chairman 1 1 

Troy Hayden Executive No Member 1 1 

Douglas Schwebel Non-Executive Yes Member 1 1 

Michael Sandy Non-Executive Yes Member 1 1 

Recommendation 2.2 Board Skills Matrix 

Following the release of the third edition of the ASX Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations in 
March 2014, the Company has recently put in place a process to assist in identifying areas of focus and 
maintaining an appropriate and diverse mix in its membership by utilising a Board Skills Matrix.  The Board Skills 
Matrix will be reviewed by the Board annually. 

Our Board Skills matrix sets out the mix of skills, experience and expertise that the Board currently has and is 
looking to achieve for board membership.  As well as general skills expected for board membership (such as 
executive leadership and management experience, financial acumen and corporate governance and risk 
management experience), the matrix reflects various areas relevant to the Company’s strategy.  In particular, 
these areas are Resource Industry Experience, South East Asia Experience, Business Development Skills, Debt 
and Capital Market Experience and Production Experience.  Each of these areas is currently represented by the 
Board collectively.  The Board benefits from a combination of the Directors’ individual skills, experience and 
expertise in particular areas, as well as the varying perspectives and insights that arise from the interaction of 
Directors with diverse backgrounds. 

The Board is of the view that the current Directors possess an appropriate mix of skills, experience, expertise and 
knowledge to enable the Board to discharge its responsibilities, deliver the Company’s corporate objectives and 
direct the Company in accordance with high standards of corporate governance.  

Recommendation 2.3 Directors’ Independence 

An independent director is defined in the Recommendations as a director that is free of any interest, position, 
association or relationship that might influence, or reasonably be perceived to influence, in a material respect his 
or her capacity to bring an independent judgment to bear on issues before the Board and to act in the best 
interests of the Company and its shareholders generally.  
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Below is a table setting out the date each Director was appointed and their status as non-executive, executive or 
independent Directors. 

Recommendation 2.4 Majority of Directors Independent 

The recommendation of best practice is that a majority of directors (and in particular, the chairperson) should be 
independent.  75% of the Board of the Company are independent Directors. All non-executive Directors (including 
the Chairman) are independent. 

Recommendation 2.5 Chairman and Chief Executive Officer / Managing Director 

The Company has at all times maintained a separation between the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer roles.  
The day to day management of the Company is overseen by the Managing Director and the Chief Executive 
Officer, Mr Troy Hayden.  The Chairman of the Board is an independent director, Mr Douglas Bailey. 

Recommendation 2.6 Company Induction and Professional Development of Directors 

The Company has a program for the induction of new Directors. This induction covers all aspects of the 
Company’s operations so as to ensure that new Directors are able to fulfil their responsibilities and contribute to 
Board decisions.   

The Company provides appropriate resources for Directors to develop and maintain the skills and knowledge 
needed to perform their role as Directors, including briefing Directors on developments in relevant accounting 
standards. 

PRINCIPLE 3: ACT ETHICALLY AND RESPONSIBLY 

Recommendation 3.1 Code of Conduct 

In pursuit of the highest ethical standards, the Company has adopted a Code of Conduct. The Code of Conduct 
establishes the standards of behaviour required of Directors and employees in the conduct of the Company’s affairs. 

The Code of Conduct is based on the following principles: 

• respect for the law and acting accordingly; 
• maintaining stringent financial controls; 
• avoiding conflicts of interest; 
• protecting the best interests of shareholders; 
• using Tap’s assets responsibly and in the best interests of Tap; 
• acting with integrity, being fair and honest in dealings and treating other people with dignity; and 
• being responsible for actions and accountable for the consequences. 

Directors and employees have a responsibility to report any suspected non-compliance with the Code of Conduct.  
There were no instances reported to the Board during the reporting period where the conduct of an employee of 
the Company was found to be in breach of the Code of Conduct. 

Tap is committed to conducting its business fairly, honourably, with integrity and in compliance with the law in all 
jurisdictions where it operates, including all applicable anti-corruption and bribery laws. In May 2012, the  

Directors First Appointed Non-Executive Independent 

Douglas Bailey 11 November 2009 Yes Yes 

Troy Hayden 1 December 2010 No No 

Michael Sandy 22 June 2006 Yes Yes 

Douglas Schwebel 16 February 2012 Yes Yes 
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Company adopted an Anti-bribery and Corruption Policy, which prohibits Tap Directors, officers and employees 
from engaging in activity that constitutes bribery or corruption.  The policy also sets out processes to reduce the 
risk of violations of the policy when dealing with third parties who are engaged to act for or on behalf of Tap.  The 
policy is available for review on the Company’s website. 

PRINCIPLE 4: SAFEGUARD INTEGRITY IN CORPORATE REPORTING 

Recommendation 4.1 Audit and Risk Committee 

The Board has established an Audit and Risk Committee with a Charter that sets out its roles, responsibilities, 
composition, structure and membership requirements. The role of the Audit and Risk Committee is to assist the 
Board in its responsibilities to oversee the Company’s financial reporting, compliance with legal and regulatory 
requirements, internal control structure, risk management system and internal and external audit functions. A copy 
of the Charter is available for review on the Company’s website. 

All members of the Audit and Risk Committee are independent non-executive Directors.  The Chairman of the 
Audit and Risk Committee, Mr Michael Sandy, is an independent non-executive Director and is not the Chairman 
of the Board. The Audit and Risk Committee currently has three members as set out below. 

Board Member Capacity Independent Committee 
Position 

Committee 
Meetings 

Held 

Committee 
Meetings 
Attended 

Michael Sandy Non-executive Yes Chairman 4 4 

Douglas Bailey Non-executive Yes Member 4 4 

Douglas 
Schwebel Non-executive Yes Member 4 4 

Recommendation 4.2 Declarations from the CEO and CFO 

The Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer are required to make a declaration in accordance with 
section 295A of the Corporations Act that, in their opinion, the financial records of the Company have been 
properly maintained and that the Company’s financial reports comply with the appropriate accounting standards 
and present a true and fair view of the Company’s financial position and performance. The CEO and the CFO 
gave the above declarations to the Board before it adopted the Company’s 2014 Financial Statements.  

The CEO and the CFO have also stated in writing to the Board that their opinion is founded on a sound system of 
risk management and internal control which is operating effectively.  

Recommendation 4.3 External Auditors 

The Board ensures that a representative of the external auditor of the Company attends the AGM to allow 
shareholders to ask the external auditor any questions about the conduct of the audit, the preparation and content 
of the auditor’s report, the accounting policies adopted by the Company in relation to the preparation of the 
financial statements and the independence of the auditor in relation to the conduct of the audit. 

PRINCIPLE 5: MAKE TIMELY AND BALANCED DISCLOSURE 

Recommendation 5.1 Continuous Disclosure Policy 

The Board is committed to the promotion of investor confidence by ensuring that trading in the Company’s 
securities takes place in an efficient, competitive and informed market.  In accordance with the continuous 
disclosure requirements under the ASX Listing Rules, the Company maintains a Continuous Disclosure Policy  
(a copy of which is available on the Company’s website).  The Continuous Disclosure Policy ensures that all price 
sensitive information is identified, reviewed by management and disclosed to the ASX in a timely manner and  
that all information provided to the ASX is immediately available to shareholders and the market on the 
Company’s website. 
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Analyst and press briefings are often conducted following the release of half-year results, full-year results and 
major announcements and, from time to time, briefings with major shareholders are conducted in order to promote 
a better understanding of the Company.  In conducting briefings, the Company takes care to ensure that any price 
sensitive information included in the content of briefings has already been made available to all shareholders and 
the market. 

PRINCIPLE 6: RESPECT THE RIGHTS OF SECURITY HOLDERS  

Recommendation 6.1 Information on Website 

The Company provides information about itself and its governance to investors via its website and has a 
“Corporate Governance” landing page where all relevant corporate governance information can be accessed. 

The Company’s Constitution, Committee Charters and relevant Corporate Governance Polices are listed on the 
Corporate Governance landing page on the website. 

The Company website also includes copies of its annual reports and financial statements, copies of its ASX 
announcements, copies of Notice of Meetings as well as an overview of the Company’s business activities in 
appropriate areas of the website. 

Recommendation 6.2 Investor Relations Program 

The Board aims to ensure that shareholders are kept informed of all major developments affecting the Company.  

The Company has an established investor relations program, designed to facilitate effective communication 
between the Company and investors.  The Company actively engages with shareholders, meeting them on 
request and responding to any enquires that they make from time to time.  In addition, there is a detailed program 
of scheduled and ad hoc interactions with institutional investors, private investors, sell-side and buy-side analysts 
and the financial media.   

The Company’s investor relations program works in tandem with our obligations under the Continuous Disclosure 
Policy which is described in detail above and a copy of which is available on the Company’s website.  

The Company employs an Investor Relations Manager who regularly reports to the Board. 

Recommendation 6.3 Participation at Meetings of Shareholders 

The Company has policies and procedures in place which enable shareholders to receive the reports and 
participate in shareholder meetings by attendance or by written communication. The Board seeks to notify all 
shareholders so they can be fully informed for voting at the AGM. Shareholders can make an election to receive a 
copy of the Company’s Annual Report by mail; otherwise the Annual Report is available on the Company’s 
website. The Company has online voting facilities available which allow shareholders to vote ahead of the 
meeting without having to attend by appointing a proxy or corporate representative.  

Shareholders are encouraged at AGMs to ask questions of Directors, senior management as well as the 
Company’s external auditors who are required to be in attendance.  Shareholders are also given the opportunity 
to provide questions or comments ahead of the AGM, with a response being provided at the AGM where 
appropriate.   

Recommendation 6.4 Electronic Communication 

The Company has the capability to communicate with shareholders electronically through its website, email 
communications and share registry.  Electronic contact details are provided on the Company’s website. 

PRINCIPLE 7: RECOGNISE AND MANAGE RISK 

Recommendation 7.1 Risk Committee 

The Company has an Audit and Risk Committee (recently renamed from the Audit Committee) that oversees risk. 
The Charter of the Audit and Risk Committee is available on the Company’s website. 
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The Audit and Risk Committee is composed of three Directors, all of whom are independent non-executive 
Directors, and is chaired by an independent Director, Mr Michael Sandy.  

Board Member Capacity Independent Committee 
Position 

Committee 
Meetings 

Held 

Committee 
Meetings 
Attended 

Michael Sandy Non-executive Yes Chairman 4 4 

Douglas Bailey Non-executive Yes Member 4 4 

Douglas 
Schwebel Non-executive Yes Member 4 4 

The Chief Executive Officer is accountable to the Board, through the Audit and Risk Committee, for the 
implementation of the risk management process and is ultimately responsible for the management of risks in  
the business. 

The Board has adopted a formal Risk Management Policy and associated procedures so as to formalise the process 
of managing material business risks of the Company. A copy of the policy is available on the Company’s website. 

Recommendation 7.2 Annual Risk Review 

The Risk Management Policy requires management to design and implement risk management processes and 
systems to identify and manage material business risks and report to the Board on whether those risks are being 
managed effectively. 

The Board maintains policies and practices designed to identify and manage significant business risks, including: 

• regular budgeting and financial reporting; 
• procedures/controls to manage financial exposures and operational risks; 
• procedures/controls to manage environmental and occupational health and safety matters; 
• the Company’s business plan; 
• corporate strategy guidelines and procedures to review and approve the Company’s strategic plans; 
• reviewing oil price and currency hedging strategies and policy; 
• insurance and risk management programs which are reviewed by the Board; 
• prudential limitations procedures, which include Board approval for commitments or expenditures 

exceeding prescribed amounts; and 
• Board approval to open bank accounts or incorporate any subsidiary. 

The Board is regularly briefed and involved in discussions in relation to many of the material business risks facing 
the Company. 

The risk management framework is reviewed at least annually by the Audit and Risk Committee and has been 
reviewed for the year ended 31 December 2014. 

Recommendation 7.3 Internal Audit 

The Company does not have a formal internal audit function.  The Audit and Risk Committee monitors the need 
for an internal audit function having regard to the size, geographic location and complexity of the Company’s 
operations. 

The Company’s management periodically undertakes an internal review of financial systems and processes and 
where systems are developed.  The Audit and Risk Committee also considers reviews of specific areas and 
monitors the implementation of system improvements.
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Recommendation 7.4 Sustainability Risks 

The Company values economic, environmental and social sustainability within the areas which it operates.  
In order to mitigate any material exposure to economic, environmental and social sustainability risks, the Board, 
assisted by the Audit and Risk Committee, has oversight of risk management and meet regularly to review and 
assess risks.  The Company’s financier has adopted the Equator Principles, a risk management framework 
developed by financial institutions for determining, assessing and managing environmental and social risk in 
projects.  Through its financing arrangements and following the financier’s due diligence, the Company is required 
to materially comply with the requirements of the Equator Principles. 

During 2014, the Company identified and addressed the following as material risks relating to economic, 
environmental and social sustainability: 

• The Company has an established suite of corporate governance charters and policies in place which apply 
to the Board and business practice. Copies of these charters and policies including a code of conduct are 
available on the Company’s website. In addition to corporate governance policies, Tap has in place specific 
policies and procedures to prevent bribery and corruption and manage the giving and receiving of gifts and 
entertainment.  

• Oil price volatility and currency conversion fluctuations in United States dollars and Australian dollars are 
affected by many factors beyond the control of the Company. The recent decline in oil prices has had an 
adverse effect on the Company. To mitigate, the Company actively monitors oil price movements and such 
exposure to ensure that it is managed within risk tolerance and finance facilities. The Company has also 
executed a moderate oil hedging programme to support the amount available under the Borrowing Base 
Debt Facility and to provide revenue certainty during 2015.  

• The majority of the Company’s assets are held in joint venture with third parties where the joint venture is 
operated by the Company’s joint venture partner. For example, Mubadala Petroleum is the operator of the 
Manora Oil Development / G1/48 concession in the northern Gulf of Thailand.  The Company has 
established processes in place for the review of work programs and budgets (including internal technical 
and commercial review by the Company). The Company endeavours to develop and maintain good working 
relationships with its joint venture partners and carefully selects new parties. Management regularly 
monitors the performance of joint venture parties. 

• The Company regularly monitors the operations of the Manora Oil Development and the G1/48 concession 
in the northern Gulf of Thailand to mitigate operational and liability risks under the existing contractual and 
regulatory framework, given that it is not the operator and is not managing the day to day operations.  This 
includes internally reviewing progress reports received from the Operator on operational matters (including 
drilling, production, Health, Safety, Security and the Environment). In addition, the Environmental Impact 
Assessment (EIA) for the Manora Oil Development (as approved in 2012 by the Office of Natural 
Resources and Environmental Policy and Planning in Thailand) contains proposed mitigation measures and 
a monitoring program of environmental, social and health impacts. The Operator also has in place active 
Environmental Management Plans and oil spill contingency plans.

• The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of health, safety and environmental 
management and reporting as well as conducting its business in a manner that prevents injury or illness to 
employees, contractors and the community. The Company has policies, processes and procedures in place 
to mitigate such risk. Regular training sessions and emergency exercises are conducted to ensure staff are 
prepared in the event of an incident. 

• The Company’s projects in the northern Gulf of Thailand and Myanmar are subject to the risks associated 
in operating those foreign countries such as economic, social or political instability or change. The 
Company monitors these ongoing risks, and government and community relations in those countries. In 
addition, Tap endeavours to participate in its projects with a view to positively affecting the people, 
communities and environments in which it operates. For example, during the year, Tap, in conjunction with 
the operator of its Thailand concessions (Mubadala Petroleum), participated in environmental programs in 
Thailand including support for sea turtle conservation and research at Talu Island and artificial reefs along 
the coastline in Prachuap Kirikhan. Also during 2015, the Woollybutt Joint Venture, of which Tap is a 
participant, donated a surplus subsea wellhead to the Charles Darwin University in the Northern Territory.  



Page 17 Tap Oil 2014 Annual Report  

PRINCIPLE 8: REMUNERATE FAIRLY AND RESPONSIBLY 

Recommendation 8.1 Remuneration Committee 

The Board has established a Remuneration Committee with a charter that sets out its roles, responsibilities, 
composition, structure and membership requirements. The Charter is available on the Company’s website.

The Remuneration Committee currently has three members. All members of the Remuneration Committee are 
independent non-executive Directors (including the Chairman). The Remuneration Committee currently has the 
following composition: 

Board Member Capacity Independent Committee 
Position 

Committee 
Meetings 

Held 

Committee 
Meetings 
Attended 

Douglas 
Schwebel Non-executive Yes Chairman 2 2 

Douglas Bailey Non-executive Yes Member 2 2 

Michael Sandy Non-executive Yes Member 2 2 

Recommendation 8.2 Disclosure of Remuneration Policies and Practices 

The purpose of the Remuneration Committee is to assist the Board to ensure that proper controls apply in the 
remuneration of Directors, management and employees. The Remuneration Committee operates principally in a 
review and/or advisory capacity. 

The Remuneration Committee’s role is to review and recommend remuneration for Directors, management and 
employees, review remuneration policies and practices, company incentive schemes and superannuation 
arrangements in accordance with the Remuneration Committee Charter. 

The Committee considers independent advice, where circumstances require, on the appropriateness of 
remuneration to ensure the Company attracts, motivates and retains high quality people. 

The ASX Listing Rules and the Company’s Constitution require that the maximum aggregate amount of 
remuneration to be allocated among the non-executive directors be approved by the shareholders in the general 
meeting.  In proposing the maximum amount for consideration by shareholders, and in determining allocation, the 
Remuneration Committee takes account of the time demands made on Directors and such factors as fees paid to 
non-executive directors in comparable Australian companies. 

Details of the remuneration policies and framework of the Company and the remuneration paid to Directors 
(executive and non-executive) and management are set out on pages 12 to 14 of the Directors’ Report contained 
in Tap’s 2014 Annual Report in the Remuneration Report in the Directors’ Report on pages 10 to 24. 
Shareholders will be invited to consider and approve the Remuneration Report at the 2015 AGM. 

Recommendation 8.3 Policy on Equity Based Remuneration Scheme 

The Company has a Dealing in Securities Policy which applies to all Directors, employees, contractors and 
consultants of Tap.  This policy provides a brief summary of the law on insider trading and other relevant laws and 
establishes a best practice procedure relating to dealing in securities that provides protection to both Tap and its 
personnel against the misuse of unpublished information which could materially affect the value of Tap securities.  

In accordance with the Corporations Act, Tap personnel are prohibited from hedging Tap securities prior to the 
vesting of those securities or while those securities are subject to a holding lock or restriction on dealing under the 
terms of an employee incentive plan operated by the Company. This prohibition is contained in the Dealing in 
Securities Policy, a copy of which is available on the Company’s website. 

The Company intends to review its Dealing in Securities Policy during 2015 following ASX’s updated guidance on 
trading policies released earlier this year.  
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ASX CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COUNCIL RECOMMENDATIONS (THIRD EDITION) CHECKLIST

The Corporate Governance Statement was approved by the Board and is current as at 23 April 2015. 

Tap has chosen to early adopt the third edition of the ASX Corporate Governance Council’s Corporate 
Governance Principles and Recommendations. The table below contains each of the ASX Corporate Governance 
Principles and Recommendations (third edition) and denotes whether the Company has complied with  
the relevant Recommendation.  Further detail is also contained in the Appendix 4G – Key to Disclosures – 
Corporate Governance Council Principles and Recommendations, released to the ASX at the same time as this 
Annual Report. 

Complied 

Principle 1 – Lay solid foundations for management and oversight 

1.1 A listed entity should disclose: 

(a) the respective roles and responsibilities of its board and management; and 

(b) those matters expressly reserved to the board and those delegated to management. 

Yes 

1.2 A listed entity should: 

(a) undertake appropriate checks before appointing a person, or putting forward to security holders 
a candidate for election, as a director; and 

(b) provide security holders with all material information in its possession relevant to a decision on 
whether or not to elect or re-elect a director. 

Yes 

1.3 A listed entity should have a written agreement with each director and senior executive setting out the 
terms of their appointment. 

Yes 

1.4 The company secretary of a listed entity should be accountable directly to the board, through the 
chair, on all matters to do with the proper functioning of the board. 

Yes 

1.5 A listed entity should: 

(a) have a diversity policy which includes requirements for the board or a relevant committee of the 
board to set measurable objectives for achieving gender diversity and to assess annually both 
the objectives and the entity’s progress in achieving them; 

(b) disclose the policy or a summary of it; 

(c) disclose as at the end of each reporting period the measurable objectives for achieving gender 
diversity set by the board or a relevant committee of the board in accordance with the entity’s 
diversity policy and its progress towards achieving them, and either: 

(1) the respective proportions of men and women on the board, in senior executive positions 
and across the whole organisation (including how the entity has defined “senior executive” 
for these purposes) 

(2) if the entity is a “relevant employer” under the Workplace Gender Equality Act, the entity’s 
most recent “Gender Equality Indicators”, as defined in and published under that Act. 

Yes 

1.6 A listed entity should: 

(a) have and disclose a process for periodically evaluating the performance of the board, its 
committees and individual directors; and 

(b) disclose, in relation to each reporting period, whether a performance evaluation was undertaken 
in the reporting period in accordance with that process. 

Yes 

1.7 A listed entity should: 

(a) have and disclose a process for periodically evaluating the performance of its senior executives; 
and 

(b) disclose, in relation to each reporting period, whether a performance evaluation was undertaken 
in the reporting period in accordance with that process. 

Yes 
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Complied 

Principle 2 – Structure the board to add value 

2.1 The board of a listed entity should: 
(a) have a nomination committee which: 

(1) has at least three members, a majority of whom are independent directors; and 
(2) is chaired by an independent director, 
and disclose: 
(3) the charter of the committee; 
(4) the members of the committee; and 
(5) as at the end of each reporting period, the number of times the committee met throughout 

the period and the individual attendances of the members at those meetings; or 
(b) if it does not have a nominations committee, disclose that fact and the processes it employs to 

address board succession issues and to ensure that the board has the appropriate balance of 
skills, knowledge, experience, independence and diversity to enable it to discharge its duties 
and responsibilities effectively. 

Yes 

2.2 A listed entity should have and disclose a board skills matrix setting out the mix of skills and diversity 
that the board currently has or is looking to achieve in its membership. 

Yes 

2.3 A listed entity should disclose: 

(a) the names of the directors considered by the board to be independent directors; 
(b) if a director has an interest, position, association or relationship of the type described in Box 2.3 

but the board is of the opinion that it does not compromise the independence of the director, the 
nature of the interest, position, association or relationship in question and an explanation of why 
the board is of that opinion; and 

(c) the length of service of each director. 

Yes 

2.4 A majority of the board of a listed entity should be independent directors. Yes 

2.5 The chair of the board of a listed entity should be an independent director and, in particular, should 
not be the same person as the CEO of the entity.

Yes 

2.6 A listed entity should have a program for inducting new directors and provide appropriate professional 
development opportunities for directors to develop and maintain the skills and knowledge needed to 
perform their role as directors effectively. 

Yes 

Principle 3 – Act ethically and responsibly 

3.1 A listed entity should: 
(a) have a code of conduct for its directors, senior executives and employees; and 
(b) disclose that code or a summary of it. 

Yes 

Principle 4 – Safeguard integrity in corporate reporting 

4.1 The board of a listed entity should: 
(a) have an audit committee which: 

(1) has at least three members, all of whom are non-executive directors and a majority of 
whom are independent directors; and 

(2) is chaired by an independent director, who is not the chair of the board, 

and disclose: 

(3) the charter of the committee; 
(4) the relevant qualifications and experience of the members of the committee; and 
(5) in relation to each reporting period, the number of times the committee met throughout the 

period and the individual attendances of the members at those meetings; or 

(b) if it does not have an audit committee, disclose that fact and the processes it employs that 
independently verify and safeguard the integrity of its corporate reporting, including the 
processes for the appointment and removal of the external auditor and the rotation of the audit 
engagement partner.  

Yes 
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Complied 

4.2 The board of a listed entity should, before it approves the entity’s financial statements for a financial 
period, receive from its CEO and CFO a declaration that, in their opinion, the financial records of the 
entity have been properly maintained and that the financial statements comply with the appropriate 
accounting standards and give a true and fair view of the financial position and performance of the 
entity and that the opinion has been formed on the basis of a sound system of risk management and 
internal control which is operating effectively. 

Yes 

4.3 A listed entity that has an AGM should ensure that its external auditor attends its AGM and is 
available to answer questions from security holders relevant to the audit. 

Yes 

Principle 5 – Make timely and balanced disclosure 

5.1 A listed entity should: 

(a) have a written policy for complying with its continuous disclosure obligations under the Listing 
Rules; and 

(b) disclose that policy or a summary of it. 

Yes 

Principle 6 – Respect the rights of security holders

6.1 A listed entity should provide information about itself and its governance to investors via its website. Yes 

6.2 A listed entity should design and implement an investor relations program to facilitate effective two-
way communication with investors. 

Yes 

6.3 A listed entity should disclose the policies and processes it has in place to facilitate and encourage 
participation at meetings of security holders. 

Yes 

6.4 A listed entity should give security holders the option to receive communications from, and send 
communications to, the entity and its security registry electronically. 

Yes 

Principle 7 – Recognise and manage risk 

7.1 The board of a listed entity should: 
(a) have a committee or committees to oversee risk, each of which: 

(1) has at least three members, a majority of whom are independent directors; and 
(2) is chaired by an independent director, 

 and disclose: 
(3) the charter of the committee; 
(4) the members of the committee; and 
(5) as at the end of each reporting period, the number of times the committee met throughout 

the period and the individual attendances of the members at those meetings; or 

(b) if it does not have a risk committee or committees that satisfy (a) above, disclose that fact and 
the processes it employs for overseeing the entity’s risk management framework. 

Yes 

7.2 The board or a committee of the board should: 

(a) review the entity’s risk management framework at least annually to satisfy itself that it continues 
to be sound; and 

(b) disclose, in relation to each reporting period, whether such a review has taken place. 

Yes 

7.3 A listed entity should disclose: 
(a) if it has an internal audit function, how the function is structured and what role it performs; or

(b) if it does not have an internal audit function, that fact and the processes it employs for evaluating 
and continually improving the effectiveness of its risk management and internal control 
processes. 

Yes 

7.4 A listed entity should disclose whether it has any material exposure to economic, environmental and 
social sustainability risks and, if it does, how it manages or intends to manage those risks. 

Yes 
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Complied 

Principle 8 – Remunerate fairly and responsibly 

8.1 The board of a listed entity should: 

(a) have a remuneration committee which: 

(1) has at least three members, a majority of whom are independent directors; and 

(2) is chaired by an independent director, 

and disclose: 

(3) the charter of the committee; 

(4) the members of the committee; and 

(5) as at the end of each reporting period, the number of times the committee met throughout 
the period and the individual attendances of the members at those meetings;  

(b) if it does not have a remuneration committee, disclose that fact and the processes it employs for 
setting the level and composition of remuneration for directors and senior executives and 
ensuring that such remuneration is appropriate and not excessive. 

Yes 

8.2 A listed entity should separately disclose its policies and practices regarding the remuneration of 
non-executive directors and the remuneration of executive directors and other senior executives. 

Yes 

8.3 A listed entity which has an equity-based remuneration scheme should: 

(a) have a policy on whether participants are permitted to enter into transactions (whether through 
the use of derivatives or otherwise) which limit the economic risk of participating in the scheme; 
and 

(b) disclose that policy or a summary of it. 

Yes 
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Glossary 
3D seismic seismic recorded along many closely spaced traverses and processed to form a three 

dimensional view of the subsurface 

AUD, A$ or $ Australian dollars 

AGM Annual General Meeting 

ASX Australian Securities Exchange Limited 

bbls barrel of oil, 42 US gallons, 35 imperial gallons, 5.615 cubic feet, 159 litres 

Bcf billion (1,000,000,000) cubic feet 

Board the Board of Directors of the Company 

BOE or boe barrels of oil equivalent 

BOPD or bopd barrels per day (oil and condensate) 

CEO Chief Executive Officer 

CFO Chief Financial Officer 

Consolidated Entity Consolidated entity comprises of Tap and its controlled subsidiaries as set out in the 
financial report.

Constitution the constitution of the Company 

Contingent Resources 
(2C) 

those quantities of petroleum which are estimated, on a given date, to be potentially 
recoverable from known accumulations but which are not currently considered to be 
commercially recoverable 

Corporations Act the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) 

Director a director of the Company 

EBITDA earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation 

EBITDAX earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation and exploration expense 

EPS earnings per share 

FID Final Investment Decision 

Financial Year the 12 months ending 31 December 

FSO Floating Storage Offloading  

Group Tap and its subsidiaries 

HJV Harriet Joint Venture comprising Apache Northwest Pty Ltd, Kufpec Australia Pty Ltd and 
Harriet (Onyx) Pty Ltd (formally Tap (Harriet) Pty Ltd) 

Hydrocarbons oil, condensate and natural gas 

km kilometres 

km2  square kilometres 

LNG liquefied natural gas 

mmbbls million barrels 

mmboe million barrels of oil equivalent 

mmstb million stock tank barrels 

NPAT net profit/loss after tax 

PJ petajoules (1015 joules); 1,000 TJ 

prospect a geological feature in the subsurface which is a potential trap for petroleum and is 
sufficiently defined for drilling 

PRRT Petroleum Resource Rent Tax 

Report this Annual Report 

Reserves hydrocarbon reserves as that term is defined in the ASX Listing Rules 

Tap or the Company Tap Oil Limited (ABN 89 068 572 341) 

Tcf trillion (1,000,000,000,000) cubic feet, 1,000 Bcf 

TJ Terajoules (1012 joules); 1,000 Gigajoules 

USD or US$ United States dollars 
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Directors 

Douglas W Bailey
B.BUS (ACC), CPA, ACIS, AMP (HARVARD BUS. SCHOOL)
Non-executive Director and Chairman (Director since November 2009)
Chairman of the Nominations Committee, Member of Audit and Risk, Remuneration and Reserves 
Committees
Douglas Bailey is an accountant with over 35 years of experience in the resources industry. He is a former CEO 
and Managing Director of Ashton Mining Limited and a former CFO of Woodside Petroleum Limited. Douglas is 
experienced in all commercial aspects of resource company financing, project development, acquisitions and 
administration.  
During a 20 year career with the Ashton Mining group, Douglas as CFO was responsible for a number of project 
and corporate financings, the public listing through IPOs of several subsidiaries in both Australia and 
internationally, the acquisition and development of new production opportunities and finally, as CEO and MD, the 
defence of the company when faced with two takeover bids in 2000. The group was taken over by Rio Tinto with 
the final takeover price being some 40% higher than the first bid. 
Douglas joined Woodside Petroleum as its Chief Financial Officer in 2002 and was responsible for corporate 
financing, reporting, mergers and acquisitions, strategy and investor relations. During his time at Woodside 
Petroleum, Douglas led a number of acquisition projects, principally internationally, as Woodside Petroleum 
sought to broaden its asset base beyond the North West Shelf and its exploration driven growth strategy.  
Douglas has over 30 years of board room experience in Australian and international stock exchange listed 
companies with many years of that experience as a non-executive director, both independent and company 
representative. His commercial and corporate skills complement and support the strong technical and commercial 
skills of the other Tap board members.  
Douglas is presently also a Non-Executive Director of St Barbara Limited. 

Troy J Hayden 
B.ECON, M. FIN

Managing Director/CEO (Appointed December 2010) 
Member of the Nominations Committee 
Troy joined Tap in December 2010 after a 12 year career at Woodside Petroleum Limited, where he held a 
number of positions, including Acting CFO, Vice President of the USA Business Unit and Vice President of the 
Pluto Business Unit.  Since leaving Woodside Petroleum in 2008, he has undertaken a number of financial and 
commercial consulting projects working with First Quantum Minerals Ltd and QR National Limited.  He has built 
and maintains a wide range of senior level relationships across the petroleum, resources and financial sectors in 
Australia and internationally. 
Troy brings an appealing mix of skills to the CEO role: leadership, financial and general management expertise, 
including overseeing exploration and production activities, and over 20 years’ experience in the resources and 
petroleum industries. 

Michael J Sandy
B.SC HONS (GEOLOGY) MAICD
Non-executive Director (Director since June 2006) 
Chairman of Audit and Risk and Reserves Committees, Member of Nominations and Remuneration 
Committees

Michael Sandy is a geologist with over 35 years experience in the resources industry with the past 30 years 
focused on oil and gas.   

Michael’s early career was in minerals exploration before he moved to Papua New Guinea and helped set up the 
Petroleum Division of the Geological Survey. He subsequently set up a company to manage a team of specialist 
field geologists. He was Technical Manager of Oil Search Limited and based in Port Moresby for 3 years in the 
years leading up to the Kutubu oil fields coming on production. In the first half of 1994, Michael took on temporary 
roles as Oil and Gas Analyst with BZW Australia Limited, and in the second half of that year was involved in 
establishing Novus Petroleum Ltd and preparing that company for its IPO in April 1995. That equity raising of 
$168 million is still the largest oil and gas IPO in ASX history.   
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Over 10 years, Michael held several senior management roles for Novus Petroleum and was a member of the 
executive committee from inception. He was manager of the company’s assets in the Middle East (Oman, Qatar, 
Pakistan, Iran, Egypt) and SE Asia (Thailand, Laos, Indonesia, Australia, Philippines) and President of Novus 
USA based in Houston.  He was also Business Development Manager and involved in numerous acquisitions and 
divestments to a total value of over $500 million. Finally, he co-managed the Novus Petroleum takeover defence 
effort in 2003/4 when the company was taken over by MedcoEnergi.   

For the last 10 years, Michael has been the principal of Sandy Associates (previously MJSA), a group of 
resources industry consultants. It is active in petroleum, minerals and geothermal projects, and resources industry 
start-ups. Michael is Chairman of ASX-listed Burleson Energy Limited (BUR) and a director of two private 
resources focused companies. 

Michael brings a wide mix of commercial and technical skills and experience which complement the skills of the 
other Board members of Tap. In particular, Michael has substantial experience with managing companies of 
similar size to Tap (including investor relations, business development, asset management, takeover defence), 
and has maintained good contacts in both the resources and financial markets industries. 

Douglas A Schwebel  
PHD B.SC (HONS) GEOLOGY
Non-executive Director (Director since 16 February 2012) 
Chairman of Remuneration Committee, Member of Audit and Risk, Nominations and Reserves 
Committees
Douglas Schwebel has over 35 years’ experience in the oil and gas sector working in both large and small 
companies.   
During his 26-year career with ExxonMobil between 1980 and 2006, Douglas held various technical and 
managerial positions in Australia, the USA and Asia.  His roles covered the upstream value chain, from strategy 
development to exploration, resource commercialisation, development and production. He has managed large 
successful exploration drilling campaigns in Australia and South East Asia. He was responsible for the discovery 
of the giant Jansz-Io gas field on the North West Shelf and played a key role in its integration into the Gorgon 
LNG project. He also had a lead role in efforts to commercialise the giant Hides gas field in PNG. 
Between 2008 and 2011, Douglas was Chief Executive Officer of privately owned Pexco NV and its Australian 
subsidiary Benaris International Pty Ltd. During his time with Pexco, he oversaw a period of growth during which 
the company increased its interests in the Geographe-Thylacine gas project in offshore Victoria and expanded its 
exploration footprint in South East Asia. 
Douglas has also served as a Non-Executive Director on the Boards of Roc Oil Limited and Great Artesian Oil & 
Gas Limited, and is currently a Non-Executive Director of Beach Energy Limited. 
Douglas’ technical and commercial experience across all aspects of the upstream oil and gas business has given 
him a set of skills, which complement the other members of the Tap Board. 
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Directors’ Report 
The Directors of Tap Oil Limited (Tap or the Consolidated Entity) submit herewith the annual financial report of the 
Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2014, in order to comply with the provisions of the 
Corporations Act 2001. 

With the funding of Tap’s main asset, the Manora oil field development, in USD and subsequent Manora pricing 
benchmarks and operating costs being denominated in USD, Tap Oil Limited has elected to change its 
presentation currency from Australian dollars to US dollars. The directors believe that changing the presentation 
currency to US dollars will provide greater transparency of the underlying performance of the Group and improve 
investors’ ability to compare the Company’s financial results with other publicly traded businesses in the 
international oil and gas industry.

1. Principal Activities
Tap’s principal activities in the course of the financial year were oil and gas exploration, development and 
production and gas marketing. Tap re-commenced as an oil producer on 11 November 2014 when production 
commenced at the Manora Oil Development in Thailand. 

2. Consolidated Results  
Tap’s revenue for 2014 was $26.8 million (2013: $28.9 million), of which $0.2 million (2013: $1.7 million) was 
interest revenue. Gross profit was $14.3 million (2013: $14.5 million). After impairment losses and write-downs of 
$78.1 million (2013: $47.1 million), the net loss from before tax was $74.6 million (2013: $38.3 million); and the 
net loss after tax was $42.7 million (2013:  $38.1 million). Net cash flows from operations were $5.7 million inflow 
(2013: $0.6 million inflow). 

3. Dividends 
The Directors of the Company do not recommend the paying of a dividend for the financial year. 

Since the end of the previous financial year, no dividend has been paid or declared. 

4. Review of Operations
4.1  Strategic Overview 
Tap is a diversified exploration and production company, with ongoing revenues and cash flow from the Manora 
Oil Development in the Gulf of Thailand, its third party gas business and a balanced exploration and appraisal 
portfolio. Tap’s strategic intent is to create value for shareholders through discovering, developing, acquiring, 
producing and selling oil and gas.   

The commencement of production at the Manora Oil Development on 11 November 2014 marked a significant 
milestone for Tap Oil’s Board and Management and returned the Company to a mid-tier producer following a two 
year hiatus.   

4.1.1 Production and Sales 

2014
‘000 boe 

2014
$’000 

2013
’000 boe 

2013
$’000 

Production (net to Tap):    
Oil - Manora 148  -  

Total liquids 148  -  

Total production 148  -  

Sales (net to Tap):    
Liquids 31 1,833 - - 
Third Party Gas Sales – 3,483 TJ (2013:  3,770 TJ) 514 24,717 556 26,118 

Total sales 545 26,550 556 26,118 

Average realised oil price $58.9/bbl  N/A 

Manora Oil Field – G1/48 Thailand 

The Manora oil field is located in the G1/48 concession. Mubadala Petroleum operates the concession and the 
field. Tap reached FID on the Manora Oil Development on 23 July 2012 and production commenced on  
11 November 2014 with the first lifting on 25 December 2014.  

The Manora oil development has three key components. The platform, the Floating Storage Offloading (FSO) Unit 
and the development wells. Manora is a single well head platform with a four-leg platform jacket substructure  



Tap Oil Limited 
Directors’ report 

2 

with the topsides containing the production process and well head equipment. A pipeline and risers connect the 
platform to a leased FSO Unit. The FSO is a site-specific crude oil FSO that is moored and linked to the platform 
and also serves as the accommodation hub.  

Phase 1 of the offshore installation program was the loadout and subsequent installation of the Manora platform 
jacket, subsea lines and Pipeline End Manifold (PLEM), which was completed in the first quarter of 2014. Phase 2 
of the offshore installation program, the loadout and installation of the topsides, was completed in July 2014. 

Following a review of the results from the development drilling programme to date, the Manora joint venture has 
agreed that two wells (one producer and one injector) are no longer required and also to defer two producer wells.  
The development plan had previously forecast up to 15 development wells (10 producers and 5 injectors). The 
Operator (Mubadala Petroleum) has confirmed that peak production of 15,000 barrels per day (gross) has now 
been achieved and can be maintained with only 7 producer wells (instead of the original 10 producer wells). The 
last of the 11 wells to be drilled in this sequence (7 producers and 4 injectors) has commenced. 

In early September 2014, the Atwood Orca jackup drilling unit spudded the first development well in the drilling 
programme and production commenced on 11 November 2014 with two wells, MNA-01 and MNA-02, initially 
flowing at a combined rate of 2,200 barrels per day (gross). Manora is now producing from six wells: MNA-01, 
MNA-02, MNA-03, MNA-05, MNA-07 and MNA-08.   

MNA-01 and MNA-02 came onto production on 11 November 2014, with MNA-03 following a day later. MNA-05 
started production on 23 November 2014. All of these wells have been completed with ESP pumps, exhibited high 
productivity as expected, and are producing free of water and sand.  At 31 December 2014, production was from 
the central fault block 600 sand reservoirs.  

Following the end of the quarter MNA-07, the first well to be produced from the east fault block, was put on 
production with a tested rate of 1,332 barrels per day (gross) with 40% watercut, and has increased to 62% 
watercut at present. MNA-08 started production on 21 February 2015.Manora development drilling is ongoing and 
is expected to be completed by March 2015. The drilling results from the development drilling programme to  
date have: 

• confirmed good reservoir continuity and pressure connectivity in the major reservoir units; 

• demonstrated good oil production rates; 

• confirmed the ability to achieve the desired water injection rates in the injection wells; and 

• suggested deeper structure particularly on the flank of the Manora oil field. 

Tap will review its booked reserves and contingent resources following the completion of development drilling and 
production performance. 

The Operator (Mubadala Petroleum) has confirmed that peak production of 15,000 barrels per day (gross) has 
now been achieved. As at 14 February 2015, Manora had produced 1 million stock tank barrels (gross) (based on 
FSO official rate and corrected for shrinkage). Water injection to two wells started on 19 February 2015. The first 
cargo lifting was completed on 25 December 2014, and six further liftings have been completed to date.   

In December 2014, Tap executed a six month contract to sell its share of Manora crude domestically in Thailand, 
at a small discount to the Dubai US$ crude oil price (Platts). These sales proceeds are received in Thai Baht 
(THB). Tap executes foreign exchange hedging to manage the USD/THB sales revenue exposure. 

Third Party Gas 

Tap has contracts with third parties where it buys gas from the John Brookes field and re-sells this gas to 
customers. Both the purchase and sale prices are CPI linked and fixed in AUD, thereby avoiding any exposure to 
changes in commodity prices. This gas is largely contracted and is expected to generate revenue of 
approximately A$30 million per annum through to at least the end of 2016. 

Revenues from the gas contracts were lower in 2014 due to an increase in deferred delivery under take-or-pay 
arrangements (banking) resulting in a lower than expected revenue being recorded. 

4.1.2 Exploration and Appraisal 

As the focus was on the Manora development, 2014 was a relatively quiet year of exploration for Tap. Tap did not 
participate in any wells during the year.  

Carnarvon Basin – Offshore Western Australia 

WA-351-P 

WA-351-P is an exploration permit in the offshore Carnarvon Basin, Western Australia.  The permit contains the 
Tallaganda gas discovery drilled during the second quarter of 2012.  The Tallaganda-1 well was a new field gas 
discovery in the Triassic Mungaroo Formation. The Tallaganda structure straddles both WA-351-P and WA-335-P 
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to the south. The structure is well defined by modern 3D seismic data. Tap has booked 49 PJ as a 2C contingent 
resource (ASX release 29 January 2013). 

The discovery of hydrocarbons at Tallaganda-1 is considered significant for the future exploration potential of the 
permit as it confirms an active petroleum system within the acreage and proves the Mungaroo play on block, for 
which a number of undrilled prospects are identified. Current efforts are directed at geological and geophysical 
studies aimed at high grading further Triassic Mungaroo prospects for further drilling. During the year approval 
was granted for variation of the Year 5 work program such that the Year 5 well has been replaced with 260 km2

3D seismic reprocessing plus geological and geophysical studies. Year 5 of the first renewal of WA-351-P ends 
on 27 December 2015. 

WA-290-P and WA-49-R 

WA-290-P is an exploration permit in the offshore Carnarvon Basin, Western Australia. In early 2011, the Joint 
Venture drilled the Zola discovery and in August 2012, a retention lease, WA-49-R, was granted over the Zola and 
Antiope discoveries for a period of five years. The lease area covers two graticular blocks.  

The Greater Zola Structure comprises several fault blocks along the Alpha Arch, south of the giant Gorgon gas 
field.  A single fault block was tested by Zola-1 (the Zola fault block).  Within the Greater Zola Structure, the 
Bianchi-1 discovery well was drilled in 2013 on an independent Triassic prospect some 6.4 kilometres  
north-northeast of the Zola-1 gas discovery and 20.8 kilometres south-southwest of the Gorgon-1 gas discovery.  

Tap has booked a total of 64 PJ of net 2C contingent resource for the gas discoveries made in WA-49-R to date 
(includes the Zola, Bianchi and Antiope discoveries) (ASX release 26 February 2014). 

WA-320-P and WA-155-P (Part II) 

WA-320-P and WA-155-P (Part II) are exploration permits in the offshore Carnarvon Basin, Western Australia. 
The Palmerston prospect straddles both WA-320-P and WA-155-P (Part II).  

In 2013, Tap farmed out a portion of its interest in both permits to JX Nippon Oil and Gas Exploration (Australia) 
Pty Ltd in exchange for a 5% carry on the Palmerston-1 well (up to a total well cost of $70 million). Post farmout, 
Tap retains a 9.778% equity in WA-320-P and 6.555% equity in WA-155-P (Part II).  

Palmerston is a Triassic fault block with structural similarity to the Zola structure. The Palmerston-1 well will target 
sandstones in the proven Mungaroo Formation play.  

In November 2014, approval was granted to suspend the Year 3 commitments (including the well) for a period of 
24 months to 20 October 2016. 

During the year, approximately 310 km² of multiclient 3D seismic data from the TGS “Huzzas MC3D seismic 
survey” was licensed by the WA-320-P Joint Venture.  Processing of the seismic data set is in progress, with an 
expected completion date in the second quarter of 2015.  The new seismic data will be used in planning for the 
Palmerston well. 

TL/2 and TP/7 

The TL/2 production licence and TP/7 exploration permit are located in shallow water in the offshore Carnarvon 
Basin approximately 40 kilometres north-northeast of Onslow, Western Australia.  

The Taunton oil field was discovered in 1991 and straddles the TL/2 and TP/7 permit boundaries. It was 
subsequently appraised by three additional wells which encountered oil in the Birdrong Sandstone. Tap has 
previously recognised a net 2C Contingent Resource of 0.9 MMstb for the Taunton field which is primarily in the 
Birdrong Sandstone reservoir (2012 Tap Annual Report).  

During the year approval was granted for the variation of the TP/7 Year 3-5 work program (July 2014 – July 2017) 
to substitute the 3D seismic acquisition and well commitment with geotechnical studies. Studies on the Taunton 
oil field are progressing ahead of assessment of development options for the field. 

Offshore Thailand 

In 2014, Tap held a 30% direct interest in both the G1/48 and G3/48 concessions in the northern Gulf of 
Thailand.  These concessions are operated by Mubadala Petroleum.  The Manora discovery in late 2009 opened 
up a new oil play in the northern Gulf of Thailand.

During the year, the Operator conducted an extensive review of the G1/48 permit area, specifically focused on 
delivering a balanced prospect portfolio for the Kra Basin, and integrating the results of the successful Malida-1 
well and subsequent Malida sidetrack wells. Subject to further successful drilling to aggregate additional resource 
volumes, there may be potential to tie discoveries back to the Manora facility should sufficient volumes be proved.   

The preferred prospect for drilling in G1/48 in 2015 has been selected from the updated prospect portfolio. Given 
the low oil price environment, the Company is in discussions with the Operator on the timing of this well, with its 
preference to delay the drilling of the well until a later date.  
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Tap has also decided not to pursue some of its less prospective exploration areas.  This includes the Company’s 
withdrawal from its 30% participating interest in G3/48,Thailand. The joint venture has agreed that Tap will have 
no further exploration obligations (including drilling) with respect to G3/48.  This will result in a cost saving of  
$2.7 million to Tap in 2015. The G3/48 withdrawal will not have any impact on the Manora Oil Development  
or exploration in the G1/48 concession. 

Other Exploration 

Block M-07 Moattama Basin, Offshore Myanmar 

The 13,000 km2 block is located in the gas and condensate prone Moattama basin, offshore Myanmar. The Block 
is 160 kilometres east of the 6.5 Tcf Yadana gas field, and 110 kilometres northeast of the 1.5 Tcf Zawtika gas 
field. The Moattama basin is Myanmar’s most prolific offshore hydrocarbon province, with existing production from 
two offshore fields and a third field close to production commencement. Production is typically from stacked 
Miocene clastic reservoirs.   

In March 2014, Tap was advised by the Myanmar Ministry of Energy (MOE) of the successful award of a 
Production Sharing Contract (PSC) for shallow water Block M-7 in the Moattama basin, offshore Myanmar. The 
PSC award is subject to finalisation of terms with the MOE. On agreement on terms and PSC award, Tap will hold 
a 35.625% interest with Roc Oil operating the license on behalf of its joint venture participants.  The block award 
includes provisions for the joint venture to undertake an 18 month Environmental Impact Assessment and Study 
Period, following which it has an option to proceed into a three year exploration work programme.  

Accra Contract Area, Offshore Ghana 

The Offshore Accra Contract Area covers an area of 2,000 km2 and is located to the southeast of Accra, the 
capital of the Republic of Ghana, in water depths ranging from less than 50 metres to greater than 2,500 metres.  

3D seismic data over the block was acquired in 2011 and interpretation of the data identified a number of 
significant leads and prospects, of which the Starfish prospect was selected and matured for drilling as the 
commitment well for the Initial Exploration Period.  The Starfish-1 wildcat well was drilled in 2013. 

Following an evaluation of the on-block data and remaining prospectivity, Tap decided to withdraw from the 
Offshore Accra Contract Area and not proceed to the First Extension Period. The assignment of Tap’s interest to 
the continuing parties was approved by the Ghanaian government on 13 November 2014. 

Vic/P67- Otway Basin, Offshore Victoria 

On 18 September 2013, Tap executed an agreement with WHL Energy for an option to acquire an initial 10% 
interest in exploration permit Vic/P67 in the offshore Otway Basin.  The consideration payable for this option is up 
to a maximum of $2.95 million of the Year Two commitment seismic costs in the permit.  The payment was 
deferred until 31 March 2015.  

On 11 February 2015, Tap advised WHL that it had elected not to exercise its option to acquire 10% of the 
Vic/P67 permit. The final seismic cost amounts to $2,778,887 and remains payable on 31 March 2015. Upon 
payment, Tap will have no further obligation or liability in respect of exploration permit Vic/P67.  

SPA 5 AO and SPA 6 AO – Carnarvon Basin, Onshore Western Australia 

On 24 April 2012, Tap entered into an agreement with Rusa Resources Pty Ltd (Rusa) to participate in the initial 
exploration of a large acreage position in the onshore Carnarvon Basin, Western Australia via a negotiated 
acreage option. The exploration focus is primarily on unconventional plays, with the main targets being Permian 
shale gas and Devonian shale oil. There is also conventional oil and gas potential.  

Tap’s exposure was limited to assisting Rusa financially to secure two special prospecting authorities (SPAs) and 
on award to fund a reconnaissance surface geochemical survey. Each SPA carried an option to convert a 
percentage of the SPA area into exploration permits.  Tap has earned the right to take a 20% interest in the 
resulting exploration permits on election, with an option to earn an additional 15% in each permit once granted.  
On 23 February 2015, Tap advised Rusa of its withdrawal from the project. Tap will have no further obligation or 
liability under the agreement or in respect of the project, and Tap has forfeited any right to earn any working 
interest in SPA 5 AO and SPA 6 AO (or any resultant exploration permit). 

4.2 Financial Summary 
Tap’s revenue for 2014 was $26.8 million (2013:  $28.9 million), of which $0.2 million (2013: $1.7 million) was 
interest revenue.  Gross profit was $14.3 million (2013: $14.5 million).  After impairment losses and write-downs of 
$78.1 million (2013: $47.1 million), the net loss from before tax was $74.6 million (2013:  $38.3 million), and the 
net loss after tax was $42.7 million (2013: $38.1 million). Net cash flows from operations were $5.7 million inflow 
(2013: $0.6 million inflow). 

Revenues from the gas contracts were lower in 2014 due to an increase in deferred delivery under take-or-pay 
arrangements (banking) resulting in a lower than expected revenue being recorded. 
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Manora revenues consisted of just the one lifting on 25 December 2014 following commencement of production on 
11 November 2014. The selling price was $58.9/bbl. There were significant oil inventories at 31 December 2014. 

Forming part of the cost of sales is the depreciation charged on a unit of production basis.  The depreciation of 
$0.938m (2013: nil) charged for the year ended 31 December 2014 relates to the Manora to the oil & gas asset 
which commenced production on 11 November 2014. 

The exploration activities in 2014 are set out in the Strategic Overview in item 4.1 above. Following an evaluation 
at the end of 2014 the exploration impairment losses and write-downs recorded as at 31 December 2014 were 
$57.2 million (2013: $45.6million). The property, plant and equipment impairment loss of $20.9 million recognised 
in 2014 (2013: nil) relates to the Manora development asset ($15.1 million) and the Airlie development asset  
($5.8 million).   

Administration costs were steady for the year at $6.731 million (2013: $6.566 million). There were further staff 
reductions in 2015 and although employee costs were lower than 2013, the full benefit of staff reductions and 
other cost cutting initiatives will be seen in 2015. 

5. Directors  

The names and particulars of the Directors of the Company during or since the end of the financial year are: 

Name Committee Memberships Experience 

D W Bailey  B.Bus (Acc), CPA, ACIS
Non-executive Director and Chairman
Appointed 11 November 2009 

Nominations Committee (Chair) 
Audit Committee 
Remuneration Committee 
Reserves Committee 

Douglas Bailey is an accountant with over 30 years 
experience in the resources industry.  He is a former CEO 
and Managing Director of Ashton Mining Limited and a 
former CFO of Woodside Petroleum Limited.  Douglas is 
experienced in all commercial aspects of resource company 
financing, project development, acquisitions and 
administration.  Douglas is presently also a Non-Executive 
Director of St Barbara Limited. 

T J Hayden  B.Econ, M.Fin
Managing Director/CEO 
Appointed 1 December 2010

Nominations Committee Troy Hayden joined Tap in December 2010 after a 12 year 
career at Woodside Petroleum, where he held a number of 
key positions, including Acting CFO, Vice President of the 
USA Business Unit and Vice President of the Pluto Business 
Unit.  Since leaving Woodside in 2008, Troy has undertaken 
a number of financial and commercial consulting projects 
working with First Quantum Minerals and QR National.  

M J Sandy  B.Sc Hons (Geology)
Non-executive Director 
Appointed 22 June 2006

Audit Committee (Chair) 
Reserves Committee (Chair) 
Nominations Committee 
Remuneration Committee  

Michael Sandy is a geologist with over 35 years experience 
in the resources industry with the past 30 years focused on 
oil and gas.  Michael has worked for various oil and gas 
companies, including Oil Search and Novus Petroleum, 
during the last 25 years.  Michael brings a wide mix of 
commercial and technical skills and experience which 
complement the skills of the other Board members of Tap. 

D A Schwebel  PhD B.Sc (Hons) 
Geology
Non-executive Director 
Appointed 16 February 2012

Remuneration Committee (Chair) 
Audit Committee  
Nominations Committee 
Reserves Committee  

Douglas Schwebel has over 30 years experience in the 
resources sector, having held various senior executive 
positions with ExxonMobil, including Exploration Director for 
its Australian upstream subsidiaries.  His 26-year career with 
Exxon Mobil included exploration and resource 
commercialisation and strategy roles in Australia, the USA 
and Asia.  Between 2008 and 2011, he was Chief Executive 
Officer of the privately owned Pexco NV and its Australian 
subsidiary Benaris International Pty Ltd.  Dr Schwebel has 
also served as a Non-Executive Director on the Boards of 
Roc Oil Limited and Great Artesian Oil & Gas Limited, and is 
currently a Non-Executive Director of Beach Energy Limited. 
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Directorships of other Listed Companies 

Directorships of other listed companies held by Directors of the Company in the three years immediately before 
the end of the financial year are as follows: 

Name Company Position Commenced Ceased

D W Bailey St Barbara Limited Director January 2006 - 

M J Sandy Equus Mining Limited (formerly Caspian 
Oil and Gas Limited) 

Director September 2005 February 2013 

 Burleson Energy Limited Chairman/ 
Director 

May 2006 - 

 Hot Rock Limited Director June 2007 September 2014

D A Schwebel Beach Energy Limited Director November 2012  

T J Hayden has not held any other listed company directorships in the last three years. 

Directors’ Meetings  

The following table sets out the number of Directors’ meetings (including meetings of committees of the Board of 
Directors of Tap Oil Limited) held during the financial year and which each Director of the Company was eligible to 
attend and the number of meetings attended by each Director of the Company. 

Board of Directors Audit and Risk 
Committee 

Remuneration 
Committee 

Reserves 
Committee 

Nominations 
Committee 

Directors Held Attended Held Attended Held Attended Held Attended Held Attended 
D W Bailey 12 12 4  4  2 2   3 3   1 1 
T J Hayden 12 12 -   4(i) - 2(i) - 3(i) 1 1 
M J Sandy  12 12 4 4 2 2   3 3   1 1 
D A Schwebel  12 12 4 4 2 2   3 3   1 1 
(i) Not a member of the committee but attended via invitation to all or part of meeting. 

There were no changes made to the composition of the Board and the various Board committees during the year.   

Directors’ Shareholdings 

The following table sets out each Director’s relevant interest in shares and rights of the Company or a related 
body corporate as at the date of this report: 

Directors 
Fully paid 
ordinary 
shares 

Rights 

D W Bailey 377,934 - 

T J Hayden 2,186,970 5,875,992* 

M J Sandy 169,000 - 

D A Schwebel 150,000 - 

* The vesting conditions have been satisfied in respect of 61,454 of the rights held by T J Hayden.  61,454 shares will be issued to T J Hayden 
in due course following the release of Tap’s 2014 Financial Statements, in accordance with the Tap Oil Limited Share Rights Plan. 

No Non-executive Directors of the Company have share rights. 

Company Secretary 

Melanie Williams LLB, Grad Cert Corp Mgt was appointed on 10 February 2011.  Ms Williams also acts as the 
Company’s General Counsel.  She is admitted to practice as a barrister and solicitor in the Supreme Court of 
Western Australia.  Prior to joining Tap, she was counsel with an international law firm, based in Singapore, 
specialising in oil and gas transactions, particularly in the Asian region.   

6. Changes in State of Affairs  
During the financial year, there was no significant change in the state of affairs of the Consolidated Entity other 
than as referred to in the financial statements or notes thereto. 
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7. Subsequent Events 
Since the end of the financial year, the Directors are not aware of any other matter or circumstance not otherwise 
dealt with within the financial report that has significantly or may significantly affect the operations of the 
Consolidated Entity, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of the Consolidated Entity in subsequent 
financial years, except for the following: 

Manora 

(a) Manora is now producing from six wells: MNA-01, MNA-02, MNA-03, MNA-05, MNA-07 and MNA-08.    

Following the end of the year, MNA-07, the first well to be produced from the east fault block, was put on 
production with a tested rate of 1,332 barrels per day (gross) with 40% watercut, and has increased to  
62% watercut at present.  MNA-08 started production on 21 February 2015. 

(b) The Operator (Mubadala Petroleum) has confirmed that peak production of 15,000 barrels per day (gross) 
has now been achieved.  As at 14 February 2015, Manora had produced 1 million stock tank barrels (gross) 
(based on FSO official rate and corrected for shrinkage). Water injection to two wells started on  
19 February 2015. 

(c) Following a review of the results from the development drilling programme to date, the Manora joint venture 
has agreed that two wells (one producer and one injector) are no longer required and also to defer two 
producer wells.  The development plan had previously forecast up to 15 development wells (10 producers 
and 5 injectors).  The Operator (Mubadala Petroleum) has confirmed that peak production of 15,000 barrels 
per day (gross) has now been achieved and can be maintained with only 7 producer wells (instead of the 
original 10 producer wells).  The Operator has advised that the revised Manora Oil Development drilling 
programme reduces the development drilling budget by approximately $5 million (gross) allowing for well 
cost overruns to date and the modified forward drilling programme. 

(d) Tap has received a proposal from the Operator to approve a capital expenditure increase for the facilities 
on the Manora Oil Development by effectively $28 million (gross) – a 15% increase since the 2015 budget 
was signed in December 2014. This would bring the total estimated cost at completion to $328 million 
(gross). This proposal was unexpected and follows Tap’s approval of the 2015 budget in December 2014 
which was in line with Operator’s previous capital expenditure estimates. Tap understands that the increase 
relates to increased facilities costs claimed by the platform contractor, and the increased duration of hook 
up and commissioning work. Extensive work is being undertaken by Tap to validate these unexpected cost 
overruns, and further discussions are being held with the Operator. If these costs are approved by the joint 
venture, Tap’s total estimated capital expenditure for the project will be approximately $105 million (after 
repayment of the carry of Northern Gulf Petroleum Pte. Ltd).  These costs have not yet been approved and 
are not considered commitments. Tap has reserved its position on Manora cost overruns until further clarity 
is provided by the Operator. 

Vic/P67 

On 11 February 2015, Tap advised WHL that it had elected not to exercise its option to acquire 10% of the 
Vic/P67 permit.  The final seismic cost amounts to $2,778,887 and remains payable on 31 March 2015.  Upon 
payment, Tap will have no further obligation or liability in respect of exploration permit Vic/P67.  

G3/48 

Tap has withdrawn from its 30% participating interest in G3/48,Thailand.  The joint venture has agreed that Tap 
will have no further exploration drilling obligations (including drilling) with respect to G3/48.  This will result in a 
cost saving of $2.7 million to Tap in 2015.  The G3/48 withdrawal will not have any impact on the Manora Oil 
Development or exploration in the G1/48 concession.

Financing 

On 31 January 2015, Tap announced that it had fully drawn $68.5 million of its Borrowing Base Debt Facility of up 
to $90 million with BNP Paribas and Siam Commercial Bank. At that time the facility size had reduced to  
$68.5 million due to the fall in oil price and consequent decreases in forecast net cash flows from Manora.  
Tap has been in discussions with BNP Paribas and Siam Commercial Bank regarding a review of its existing 
borrowing base debt facility. On 27 February 2015, Tap, BNP Paribas and Siam Commercial Bank have agreed 
the following modifications and waivers to the debt facility: 

•     Tap has the ability to draw down $78.9 million (previously $68.5m) under the borrowing base; 
•     the following waivers are in place until 31 July 2015, at which stage Tap believes it will no longer require them: 

•     the banks have waived their minimum liquidity requirements during the waiver period; 
•     financial cover ratio requirements have been temporarily reduced; 

•     a waiver fee is payable, and a higher interest rate margin applicable to the debt, during the waiver period; and 
•     the deferral of repayments during the waiver period. 
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As the size of the borrowing base debt facility is linked to Manora reserves and revenues (as well as Third Party 
Gas revenues), the maximum amount available under the facility fluctuates with changes in the oil price.   

The current debt repayment schedule remains 3 years. Tap intends to fully draw the remaining amount of the 
facility during March 2015. This amount will be used towards Tap’s share of the remaining approved Manora 
capital expenditure of $1 million, and for general corporate and exploration costs. The increased borrowing 
amount ensures that all forecast commitments can be fully funded at this time. 

Assuming the facility is fully drawn as above, Tap’s liability for repayments in 2015 will total $27 million. All these 
repayments are scheduled for on or after 31 July 2015. 

Hedging 

Tap has hedged 40% of forecast 1P Manora production over April to December 2015 at an average swap price of 
$62.75/bbl, (representing 495,000 barrels) to enhance the borrowing base and support Tap’s cashflows. 

Section 203D Notice 

On 27 February 2015 the Directors of Tap Oil Limited received a notice from Mr Chatchai Yenbamroong under 
section 203D of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) of his intention to move resolutions at a meeting of Tap 
shareholders convened under section 249F of the Corporations Act to:  

(a) remove as directors of Tap each of Messrs Douglas Bailey, Troy Hayden, Michael Sandy and any other 
director of Tap appointed on and from the date of receipt of the section 203D notice until the end of the 
general meeting of Tap shareholders at which these resolutions are considered (other than Messrs David 
Whitby, Alan Stein, David Johnson, James Menzies and any other person that may be nominated by Mr 
Yenbamroong as a director of Tap at that general meeting of Tap); and 

(b) appoint each of Messrs David Whitby, Alan Stein, David Johnson and James Menzies as directors of Tap.  

Mr Yenbamroong, who is the executive director and controller of Northern Gulf Petroleum Holdings Ltd (NGPH), 
currently has voting power to approximately 19.98% of Tap, having recently increased its shareholding in Tap 
from approximately 6% to 19.98% of Tap’s total issued capital through various on-market trades.   Please refer to 
the ASX announcement dated 27 February 2015 for further information. 

8. Future Developments
The Consolidated Entity will continue to operate as an upstream oil and gas company involved in a number of 
projects ranging from exploration and appraisal through to development and production as well as gas marketing. 
The key focus as at the date of this report is the successful completion of the development drilling programme. 

In accordance with its objectives, the Consolidated Entity will consider growing its exploration effort and 
production base by farm-in, permit application and/or acquisition within its existing operational focus areas and in 
other suitable countries or regions. 

Disclosure of specific information regarding likely developments in the operations of the Consolidated Entity in 
future financial years and the expected results of those operations is likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to 
the Consolidated Entity. Accordingly, such information has not been disclosed in this report. 

9. Environmental Regulations
The Consolidated Entity’s policy is to comply with, or exceed, its environmental obligations in each jurisdiction in 
which it operates. In Australia, the environmental obligations are regulated under both State and Federal law.  
No known environmental breaches have occurred in relation to the Consolidated Entity’s operations. 

The National Greenhouse and Energy Reporting Act 2007 requires certain companies to report their annual 
greenhouse gas emissions and energy use. As at the date of this report, the Company is not required to submit  
a report in relation to this matter. 
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10. Share Options and Rights 
10.1 Share Rights  
Details of issued share rights as at the date of this report are as follows. 

All rights noted below vest after three years and expire after seven years, except: 

• 288,197 performance rights were issued to the Managing Director as a special award on 16 January 2013 
(expiring on 1 January 2020). These rights had a two year performance period with average annual 
performance targets as per the current performance rights benchmarks over a two year period (50% 
against Absolute Total Shareholder Return and 50% against Relative Total Shareholder Return). The 
vesting conditions have been satisfied in respect of 61,454 performance rights and 61,454 shares will be 
issued to the Managing Director in due course following the release of the Company’s 2014 Financial 
Statements, in accordance with the Tap Oil Limited Share Rights Plan. Further reference can be made to 
section 12.7 of this report. 

• a total of 850,362 retention rights were issued as a special award to certain key employees on 5 February 
2015 (expiring 1 January 2022) for their performance in 2014 and for retention purposes. These rights vest 
on 1 July 2016 provided the person remains employed with the Company.  

• a total of 958,298 retention rights were issued to employees in lieu of a cash payment for the 2014 STI 
award on 5 February 2015 (expiring 1 January 2022). These rights vest on 1 January 2016 (unless the 
employee is made redundant, in which case the rights will vest on the date the employee is made 
redundant).  For more details, please refer to section 12.5 of this report. 

• 40,241 retention rights were issued to a contractor as part of the remuneration package for services 
rendered to Tap. The vesting conditions have been satisfied in respect of all of these rights and 40,241 
shares will be issued to the contractor in due course following the release of the Company’s 2014 Financial 
Statements, in accordance with the Tap Oil Limited Share Rights Plan. 

Number Expiry date of 
rights 

Performance Rights 

61,454* 01-Jan-20 
2,107,204 01-Jan-20 
5,000,000 24-May-20 
2,426,827 01-Jan-21 
3,383,211 01-Jan-22 

Retention Rights 

25,353 17-Sep-19 
31,289 04-Feb-20 
36,564 15-Jul-20 
30,840 29-Jul-20 
19,877 19-Aug-20 
22,830 01-Sep-20 
14,715 02-Sep-20 
50,000 14-Oct-20 

40,241* 12-Feb-21 
1,808,660 01-Jan-22 

61,287 12-Jan-22 

*Vesting conditions satisfied but shares not yet issued.  Refer above for further detail. 

11. Indemnification of Officers and Auditors 
During the financial year, the Company paid a premium in respect of a policy insuring the Directors of the 
Company (as named above), the Company’s secretaries and all executive officers of the Company and any 
related body corporate against a liability incurred as such a Director, secretary or officer to the extent permitted by 
the Corporations Act 2001. The policy of insurance prohibits disclosure of the nature of the liability and the 
amount of the premium. 

During the financial year, the Company entered into a deed of indemnity, insurance and access with Ms Anna 
Sudlow. All other directors and current executives as listed below have previously entered onto a deed of 
indemnity, insurance and access with the Company. The Company has not otherwise, during or since the 
financial year, except to the extent permitted by law, indemnified or agreed to indemnify an officer or auditor of the 
Company or of any related body corporate against a liability incurred as such an officer or auditor. 
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12. Remuneration Report – Audited 
This report is presented in the following sections:

12.1 Introduction 

12.2 Key terms 

12.3 Governance 

12.4 Existing Remuneration Arrangements for Directors and Executives 

12.5 Elements of Remuneration related to Performance 

12.6 KMP Remuneration related to Performance 

12.7 Other Elements of Director and Executive Remuneration 

12.1 Introduction 
The Directors of the Company have prepared this remuneration report to outline the overall remuneration 
strategy, policies and practices, which were adopted by the Company in 2014. An integral part of the company’s 
remuneration strategy involves the Share Rights Plan initially approved by shareholders in 2010 and approved 
again in May 2013. The report has been prepared in accordance with Section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001 
and its regulations. 

Tap’s Remuneration Policy is designed to ensure that the level and form of compensation achieves certain 
objectives, including: 

(a) attraction and retention of employees and management to pursue the Company’s strategy and goals; 

(b) delivery of value-adding outcomes for the Company; 

(c) fair and reasonable reward for past individual and Company performance; and 

(d) incentive to deliver future individual and Company performance. 

Remuneration consists of base salary, superannuation, short term incentives and long term incentives.  
Remuneration is determined by reference to market conditions and performance. Performance is evaluated at an 
individual level as well as the performance of the Company as a whole. 

The remuneration policies and structure in 2014 were generally the same as for 2013. 

12.2 Key Terms 
Throughout this remuneration report, the following terms have the meaning indicated below: 

Directors means the Managing Director/CEO and the Non-executive Directors. 

Executives means the Managing Director/CEO and managers (including the Company Secretary) who report to 
the Managing Director/CEO. 

Executive Directors means any Directors who are also executives.  For this report, the only Executive Director 
was the Managing Director/CEO. 

FAR means fixed annual remuneration or base salary (including superannuation). 

Key Management Personnel or KMP is defined by AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures as all directors and 
those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the 
Company and the Consolidated Entity.  

KPI means key performance indicators determined by the Board. 

LTI means long term incentive award which provides an incentive to deliver future Company performance. 

STI means short term incentive award which provides a reward for performance in the past year. 
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12.3 Governance 
12.3.1 The Remuneration Committee 

The Remuneration Committee’s role is to review and recommend remuneration for KMP, review remuneration 
policies and practices, Company incentive schemes and superannuation arrangements in accordance with the 
Remuneration Committee Charter. 

The Committee considers independent advice, where circumstances require, on the appropriateness of 
remuneration to ensure the Company attracts, motivates and retains high quality people. 

The ASX Listing Rules and the Constitution require that the maximum aggregate amount of remuneration to be 
allocated among the Non-executive Directors be approved by shareholders in general meeting.  In proposing the 
maximum amount for consideration by shareholders, and in determining the allocation, the Remuneration 
Committee takes account of the time demands made on Directors and such factors as fees paid to Non-executive 
Directors in comparable Australian companies. 

The Remuneration Committee comprises a Non-executive Chairman and two Non-executive Directors. The 
Committee meets formally at least twice a year and also has numerous workshop sessions during the year.  
Executive Directors attend meetings as appropriate.

Remuneration arrangements for Directors and Executives are reviewed by the Remuneration Committee and 
recommended to the Board for approval. The Remuneration Committee considers external data and information 
and may engage independent advisers where appropriate to establish market benchmarks. 

Remuneration arrangements are determined in conjunction with the annual review of the performance of 
Directors, Executives and employees of the Company.  Performance of the Directors of the Company including 
the Managing Director/CEO, are evaluated by the Board assisted by the Remuneration Committee. The Managing 
Director/CEO reviews the performance of Executives with the Remuneration Committee. These evaluations take 
into account criteria such as the achievement toward the Company’s performance benchmarks and the 
achievement of individual performance objectives. 

12.3.2 Individuals covered by the Remuneration Report 

The detailed disclosures of the remuneration report relate to the KMP of the Company as defined in section 12.2 
and listed below: 

Non-executive Directors 

• D W Bailey (Chairman)  

• M J Sandy 

• D A Schwebel  

Executives - current 

• T J Hayden (Managing Director/CEO) 

• D J Rich (Chief Financial Officer) 

• M J Williams (General Counsel/Company Secretary) 

• A C Sudlow (Investor Relations and Commercial Manager)  

Executives - former 

• B M Ulmer (Engineering and Development Manager) – resigned 18 June 2014 

• T M Schmedje (Exploration/New Ventures Manager) – resigned 4 July 2014  
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12.4 Existing Remuneration Arrangements for Directors and Executives
12.4.1 Overview of Executive Remuneration Structure

The remuneration arrangements for Directors and Executives of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2014 
are summarised below. 

The remuneration structure in place for 2014 applies to all employees including the Executive Director and 
Executives of the Company. The Company’s remuneration structure has five elements: 

(a) FAR; 

(b) STI; 

(c) LTI; 

(d) retention incentives which encourage new employees to remain in employment for at least three years; and 

(e) special awards which reward individuals for meritorious achievements or retain individuals who are involved 
in a critical task that will extend more than one year. 

Each of the STI, LTI, retention incentives and special awards are at risk. The elements are described below. 

(a) Base Salary or Fixed Annual Remuneration (FAR) 

The first step to attracting and retaining talented, qualified and effective employees is paying base salaries which 
are competitive in the markets in which the Company operates. The Company compiles competitive salary 
information on companies of comparable size in the oil and gas industry from various sources. Information is 
obtained from surveys conducted by independent consultants and national and international publications. In the 
past the Board has engaged independent advisors to review the remuneration levels paid to the Company’s KMP.  
An advisor was not retained for the 2014 review.  

FAR will be paid in cash and is not at risk other than by termination.  Individual FAR is set each year based on job 
description, competitive salary information sourced by the Company and overall competence in fulfilling the 
requirements of the particular role.  

(b) Short Term Incentive Awards (STI) 

An STI award is assessed by a performance-based factor multiplied by a benchmark award for the individual’s 
level in the Company multiplied by the individual’s FAR. The STI award is usually made in cash and the amount of 
the payment is calculated by the following formula:

Performance Factor x STI Organisational Level Benchmark x Individual’s FAR

An individual employee’s performance factor is assessed against both the individual’s performance and the 
Company’s performance over the preceding year. A rating for individual performance is determined on a scale  
of 1 to 5 based on how well the individual performs against the individual’s annual goals. The Company’s 
performance is assessed against a set of corporate goals, which are in the form of KPIs, which are set by the 
Board for a given year. In 2014, the KPIs included the achievement of key strategic objectives set for the year, 
performance against budgeted earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation and exploration expenses 
(EBITDAX), asset management and 12 month relative total shareholder return against a peer group of 
companies. Each KPI is given a relative weighting and is assessed against threshold, good (target) and excellent 
benchmarks. The Board will vary KPIs each year to suit prevailing circumstances. 

An individual’s combined performance factor is determined from the assessment table below:  
Performance Factors (%) 

Annual Corporate  
KPI Performance

Individual Performance Ranking 
5 4 3 2 1 

< Threshold 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 
Threshold  0% 20% 50% 63% 75% 
Good  0% 40% 100% 125% 150% 
 Excellent  0% 60% 150% 188% 225% 
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Three STI organisational level benchmarks have been established as percentages of individual FARs. These 
three levels reflect the increased involvement at each level in the organisation’s pursuit and achievement of the 
Company’s goals. These benchmarks are set out below.  

Organisational Level Managing 
Director/CEO* Management Professional,  

Technical & Support 
STI Organisational Benchmarks 20% 15% 12.5% 

* Note that the Managing Director/CEO agreed to a variation of his employment contract where he is not entitled 
to STI awards until after 1 July 2016. Refer to paragraph 12.4.1(g) for more information. 

Any award will be subject to the Company exceeding one or more fundamental performance hurdles determined 
by the Board on an annual basis.  While a positive STI award might be assessed under a previously prescribed 
set of KPIs, circumstances within the year might see a reduction in the Company’s ability or desire to pay such an 
award (for example due to an unexpected material reduction in the Company’s cash flow or significantly poor 
share price performance).  The Board, at its absolute discretion, reserves the right to withhold the making of any 
STI awards if it finds itself in such a position. 

In light of the Company’s cash flow position, the Board exercised its discretion and determined that the  
STI awards for 2014 would be paid in the form of retention rights rather than in cash. The retention rights issued in 
lieu of cash will vest on 1 January 2016 (unless the employee is made redundant, in which case the rights will 
vest on the date the employee is made redundant). 

(c) Long Term Incentive Awards (LTI) 

The Company believes that encouraging its employees to become shareholders is the best way of aligning their 
interests with those of its shareholders.  

LTI awards are made in the form of rights to shares which will have a vesting timeframe of three years. The 
number of rights that vest will be based on the Company’s performance over the same three years.  

An LTI award will be made by way of the grant of performance rights as soon as practicable after each year-end.  
Grants of performance rights will be made each year with effect from 1 January. 

The number of performance rights to be granted annually to each employee is calculated by the following formula: 

LTI Organisational Level Benchmark x Individual’s FAR ÷ Share Price

Three maximum LTI organisational benchmarks have been established as percentages of individual FARs.  
These three levels reflect the increased involvement of each level in pursuing and achieving the Company’s 
goals. These benchmarks are set out in the following table. 

* Note that the Managing Director/CEO agreed to a variation of his employment contract where he is not entitled 
to LTI awards until after 22 May 2016. Refer to paragraph 12.4.1(g) for more information. 

The total number of performance rights granted is subject to being reduced proportionately so that the total 
number of performance rights is within: 

(a) the Board’s determined cap on the total number of performance rights which are issued as LTI awards in  
a given year; and 

(b) any discretionary cap on the total number of rights on issue at any given time. 

The calculation will use the 30-day volume-weighted average share price (VWAP) of the Company’s shares 
preceding the first day of each measurement period.

The Board has established an initial guideline that the total number of performance rights to be issued in a single 
year will be capped at 1.5% of the fully paid issued capital of the Company as at the end of the prior year. In the 
event that the potential total number of performance rights exceeds the cap then all awardees receive a pro-rata 
reduced number of performance rights. This cap is at the discretion of the Board and may be altered depending 
on the prevailing context. 

The Board has also set a discretionary cap on the total number of rights on issue at any given time. This cap is 
currently set at 6% of the number of issued fully paid shares in the Company.   

Organisational Level Managing 
Director/CEO* Management Professional,  

Technical & Support 
LTI Organisational Level Benchmarks 120% 70% 30% 



Tap Oil Limited 
Directors’ report 

14 

Vesting of up to 50% of the performance rights depends upon the Company’s absolute total shareholder return 
(ATSR) over three years and up to 50% depends upon relative total shareholder return (RTSR). The ATSR and 
RTSR performance hurdles required to achieve increasing levels of vesting are set by the Board to apply from 
1 January of the relevant year. For the 2014 grant of performance rights, the Board set the following ATSR and 
RTSR performance hurdles:  

Note:  For actual results between above benchmarks, the vesting of performance rights will be on a pro-rata 
basis. 

The combination of ATSR and RSTR measures have been chosen to cover a range of outcomes which can 
deserve reward but may show up better under one measure but not under the other. The reward for strong 
absolute return is moderated in the event that there is a poorer relative return and the award for strong relative 
return is moderated in the event the absolute return is poorer. ATSR is used rather than earnings per share 
(EPS), as in the Board’s view, EPS would shift the key focus away from the Company’s long-term business which 
includes exploration.  However, the Company has and does use an earnings measure as one of its short-term 
KPIs to ensure attention is paid to meeting forecast annual production and cost management targets. 

Vesting characteristics of the performance rights are as follows: 

(i) performance measurement period is three years, which is consistent with the typical time cycle for an 
exploration program and the Company’s strategic emphasis on exploration; 

(ii) performance is based on differences in ATSR and RTSR as measured from the end of one preceding 
period to the end of the current (three years) assessment period. The ATSR and RTSR use the 30-day 
VWAP of the Company’s shares up to and including the last day of each measurement period; and 

(iii) RTSR will be assessed against a peer group of like companies determined by the Board before the start of 
each assessment period or as soon as practical thereafter. In 2014, the Company used a group of 
approximately 30 petroleum industry companies which are listed on the ASX and whose market 
capitalisation ranged from approximately $12 million to $850 million (at 31 December 2013).  

(d) Retention Incentives 

Retention rights are issued to employees pursuant to the terms of the share rights plan upon or as soon as 
practicable after commencement of employment. Such rights vest if the employee remains employed by the 
Company for three years. The number of retention rights to be issued to a new employee is set at one of three 
levels reflecting the organisational level appropriate for the employee’s initial job grade. These levels are outlined 
in the following table. 

(e) Special Awards 

The Board has the discretion to make special awards each year.  Special awards can be in the form of cash, 
and/or performance rights and/or retention rights. Special awards are granted to individual employees or 
Executives who are judged by the Board to have made an extraordinary contribution to the current or future 
performance of the Company or who are expected to play a critical role in one of the Company’s activities that 
could take two to three years to complete, and where retention of the individual’s services is seen as an important 
determinant of the success to that activity. 

No special awards were made to any KMP in 2014. Following the Board’s review of the 2014 year, the Company 
issued 850,363 retention rights in 2015 as a special award to certain key employees for their performance in 2014 
and for retention purposes. The retention rights have an 18 month vesting period.  

Assess 50% of Rights 
Against ATSR 

Assess 50% of Rights 
Against RTSR 

Average Annual 
ATSR over 3 years 

% of Rights which 
will vest after 3 years 

Relative TSR 
(Relative Percentile 

Ranking of TSR against 
peers over 3 years) 

% of Rights which 
will vest after 3 

years 

<5% 0%  <P50% 0% 
=5% 12.5%  =P50% 12.5% 

=15% 25%  =P62.5% 25% 
25% 50% P75% 50% 

Organisational Level 
Managing 

Director/CEO 
Management Professional, 

Technical & Support 

Organisational Level Benchmarks 
(Retention) 

Subject to employment 
contract negotiations 

35% 15% 
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(f) Accounting for Options and Rights Granted to Employees 

The values of the rights and options are expensed in the profit and loss account over the vesting period. No 
options were granted in 2014 and there are none on issue.  

Performance rights granted in 2014 are valued at the date of grant using a Monte Carlo Simulation model to 
determine the probability of the absolute return performance hurdles and the relative return performance hurdles 
being achieved.  Retention rights granted in 2014 are valued using the Black Scholes model at the date of grant.  
No cash benefit is received by KMP of the Company until the sale of the resultant shares, which cannot be done 
unless and until the rights or options have vested and the shares issued. 

(g) Executive Director’s Remuneration 

As at 31 December 2014, T J Hayden was the only Executive Director on the Board.  Mr Hayden commenced as 
Managing Director/CEO on 1 December 2010 under an executive employment agreement. On 18 April 2013, Tap 
announced that it had agreed to a variation of Mr Hayden’s employment agreement, including the renewal of his 
contract beyond December 2013 and a revised remuneration package.  

As part of the revision Mr Hayden agreed to a reduction in the cash component of his remuneration to take a 
greater exposure to the Tap share price to July 2016 via performance rights. The key terms of Mr Hayden’s 
employment agreement are as follows: 

(i) There is no fixed term.  

(ii) Mr Hayden's FAR decreased by 23% from $650,000 to $500,000 per annum, inclusive of superannuation 
contributions from 22 May 2013. This amount is reviewable annually. There was no increase in FAR following 
the review at 31 December 2013 or 2014 (effective 1 January 2015). 

(iii) Mr Hayden has waived his entitlement to receive payments under the Company’s STI plan until 1 July 2016.  

(iv) Mr Hayden has waived his entitlement to participate in any future LTI plans until 22 May 2016. 

(v) On 24 May 2013 following receipt of shareholder approval at the 2013 annual general meeting, Mr Hayden 
was granted a special award of 5 million performance rights, which are 100% “at risk”. Each performance 
right that vests entitles Mr Hayden to receive one fully paid ordinary share in Tap for nil consideration.  
The performance rights issued to Mr Hayden have a vesting date of 1 July 2016. The number of rights that 
will vest is dependent on the 30 day volume weighted average price (VWAP) of Tap’s shares preceding  
1 July 2016 as set out in the table below: 

Target share price (30 day
VWAP preceding 1 July 2016) 

% of rights
that vest

Number of
rights that vest 

< $1.00 0% 0 
$1.00 25% 1.25 million 
$1.33 50% 2.5 million 
$1.67 100% 5 million 

If the 30 day VWAP of the Company’s shares preceding 1 July 2016 falls between any of the above target 
share prices, the percentage of rights that will vest will be determined on a pro-rata basis. The maximum 
number of rights that can vest is 5 million. 

(vi) Mr Hayden may terminate his executive employment agreement by giving six months' written notice. Except 
for the Company’s right to terminate without notice in prescribed circumstances, the Company may terminate 
Mr Hayden’s employment as follows: 

• by giving Mr Hayden 6 months' written notice; or 

• by providing either 1 month's written notice, if by reason of any illness, injury or incapacity, Mr Hayden is 
unable to perform his duties for a total of 3 months in any period of 12 months. 

A range of other terms and conditions apply to both Mr Hayden and the Company.

The Company has entered into a deed of indemnity, insurance and access with Mr Hayden whereby the 
Company will maintain an appropriate level of directors’ and officers’ indemnity insurance and provide access to 
Company records. 
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(h) Executives 

A summary of the key terms and conditions of the service agreements with Executives (other than the CEO) are 
as follows: 

Remuneration 

All service agreements now standardise the Executive’s entitlement to: 

(i) FAR (refer section 12.4.1(a) of this report); 

(ii) STI (refer to section 12.4.1(b) of this report); 

(iii) LTI (refer to section 12.4.1(c) of this report); and 

(iv) any other benefits that may be provided by the Company including special awards (refer section 12.4.1(e) 
of this report). 

Termination 

All service agreements may be terminated under the following circumstances: 

(i) resignation on three months’ notice by the Executive; 

(ii) termination on three months’ notice by the Company; 

(iii) termination without notice by the Company for cause;  

(iv) termination by the Company because the Executive’s position is redundant; or  

(v) termination on three months’ notice by the Executive at any time within 12 months of a material diminution 
in his or her position, remuneration package, responsibilities, reporting lines and/or primary place of work. 

In circumstances where the Executive’s employment is terminated under (iv) or (v), the Executive is entitled (to 
the extent permitted by the Corporations Act and the ASX Listing Rules and without obliging the Company to seek 
shareholder approval) to a severance payment equal to 12 months base salary plus superannuation.   

The Company has entered into deeds of indemnity, insurance and access with D Rich, M Williams and A Sudlow 
whereby the Company will maintain an appropriate level of directors’ and officers’ indemnity insurance and 
provide access to Company records.  

(i) Non-executive Directors’ Remuneration 

In line with Corporate Governance principles, Non-executive Directors of the Company are remunerated solely by 
way of fees and statutory superannuation.  The annual fee is set to reflect current market levels based on the 
time, responsibilities and commitments associated with the proper discharge of their duties as members of the 
Board. All Directors of the Company are encouraged to apply a proportion of their fees to purchase shares in the 
Company. The maximum total pool of available fees is set by shareholders in general meeting and is currently 
$500,000. 

The fees paid to individual Non-executive Directors have not increased since 2008 and in that time the number of 
Non-executive Directors has reduced from four to three. The maximum total pool of available fees has not 
increased since 2010. 

Other than statutory superannuation, Non-executive Directors of the Company are not entitled to any retirement 
benefits upon retirement from office. 

The Company has entered into terms of engagement with each of D W Bailey, M J Sandy and D A Schwebel 
whereby those persons are appointed as Non-executive Directors of the Company. The term of the appointment 
is determined in accordance with the Company's Constitution and is subject to the provisions of the Constitution 
dealing with retirement, re-election and removal of Directors of the Company (in this regard, the Constitution 
provides that all Directors of the Company, other than the Managing Director/CEO, are subject to re-election by 
shareholders by rotation every three years during the term of their appointment). 

The terms of engagement provide that the Company will maintain an appropriate level of directors’ and officers’ 
insurance and provide access to Company records in accordance with the terms of deeds of indemnity, insurance 
and access entered into between the Company and each of the Non-executive Directors.  

The remuneration payable by the Company to Non-executive Directors is shown in the relevant tables. 
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12.5 Elements of Remuneration related to Performance 

The Corporations Act requires disclosure of the Company’s remuneration policy to contain a discussion of the 
Company’s earnings and performance and the effect of the Company’s performance on shareholder wealth in the 
reporting period and the four previous financial years. The table below provides a five year financial summary to 
31 December 2014. Note all monetary figures are USD.  

12 months ended Dec 14 Dec 13 Dec 12 Dec 11 Dec 10 Notes 

NPAT ($million)  (36.6) (38.1) (3.7) (29.8) (56.5) 2 

EPS (cents) Basic  (15.1) (15.8) (1.5) (12.3) (33.0) 1, 2 

EPS (cents) Diluted  (15.1) (15.8) (1.5) (12.3) (33.0) 1, 2 

Year end share price ($) 0.34 0.45 0.64 0.61 0.84 3, 4 

Shares on Issue (million) 243.2 242.1 241.3 241.0 241.0  

Market Capitalisation ($million) 83.78 108.32 155.35 146.86 203.29 3 

1. No dividends were paid during any of the financial years. 
2. 2010 to 2013 inclusive were previously stated in AUD and have been translated here to USD at the average rate for the year. 
3. 2010 to 2013 inclusive were previously stated in AUD and have been translated here to USD at the year end rate.  
4. The opening share price for 2010 was $1.05 (as at 31 December 2009). 

Key Performance Indicators (KPI) Assessment for 2014 

For the 2014 year, the Board determined a set of Company KPIs, reflecting the Company’s strategies, business 
plan and budget. The 2014 KPIs and the performance set against them are set out below.  

1. Performance against key strategic objectives set for the year 

This measure is concerned with the Company’s strategic and qualitative objectives, which are subjective to 
measure. The emphasis here is on the effectiveness of the process rather than outcomes. Some key 
objectives include improved effectiveness in identifying exploration opportunities, developing strategies for 
core assets and effective joint venture and other key relationships. 

2. Performance against budgeted earnings before interest, tax, depreciation or exploration (EBITDAX) 

The Company failed to meet its budget EBITDAX target. This outcome was largely a result of the delay in 
production at the Manora Oil Development until 11 November 2014.  

3. Performance against asset management goals 

Under this measure, the Board considers improvements in the management of Tap’s portfolio of assets.  
The assessment of performance against this KPI was focused on achievement of first production at the 
Manora Oil Development, management of the Company’s liquidity, award of Myanmar PSC and the 
successful management of the FVSN contractor disputes.  

4. Performance against 12 month relative total shareholder return (RTSR) against a peer group of 

companies 

Although Tap’s share price drifted down over the year, so did many of Tap’s peer group.  Tap finished the 
year with a ranking of 11 out of 32 peer companies used to assess Tap’s RTSR.  

The Board assigned an overall performance rating against the above criteria of 93.72%. This was largely 
influenced by the commencement of production at Manora. The Board’s assessment of the Company’s 
performance for the 2014 year resulted in a STI award. In light of the Company’s cash flow position, the Board 
exercised its discretion and determined that the STI awards for 2014 would be paid in the form of retention rights 
rather than in cash. The retention rights issued in lieu of cash will vest on 1 January 2016 (unless the employee is 
made redundant, in which case the rights will vest on the date the employee is made redundant).  

12.6 KMP Remuneration related to Performance

FAR for all employees is based on comparisons to similar positions in peer companies and is reviewed annually.  
An individual’s performance will have a strong influence on any annual increase, as will any changes in job 
responsibilities. 

The elements of remuneration shown in the columns labelled “Bonus” and “Share-based payment equity settled” 
in the tables below are related to Company and individual performance. The elements of remuneration shown in 
the remaining columns are not performance related. The performance conditions used in the determination of 
performance-based remuneration for Executive Directors and Executives of the Company are explained in detail 
in the discussion on remuneration policy in this remuneration report. As noted above, the 2014 STI award was 
paid in the form of retention rights and not cash. The value of options, shares and rights shown in the tables below 
are the accounting costs accrued in the financial year for grants in the financial year or in previous financial years.  
No cash benefit is received by KMP of the Company until the sale of the resultant shares, which cannot be done 
unless and until the rights or options have vested and the shares issued. No cash bonus awards were forfeited 
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because the person did not meet the relevant service or performance conditions. Non-executive Directors of the 
Company received fixed remuneration only. 

Following the Board’s review of the 2014 year, the Company issued 485,922 retention rights in February 2015 as 
a special award to certain KMP for their performance in 2014 and for retention purposes.  The retention rights 
have an 18 month vesting period.  

KMP did not receive any FAR increase effective 1 January 2015. 

Managing Director/CEO 

The Company entered into an executive employment agreement with Mr Hayden as set out in section 12.4(g) of 
this report. Under that agreement, Mr Hayden’s FAR, with effect from 22 May 2013, was reduced to $500,000 per 
annum (inclusive of superannuation) in return for taking a greater exposure to the Tap share price over the next 
three years to 1 July 2016 via the issue of 5 million performance rights. As part of this, Mr Hayden waived his 
entitlement to receive payments or grants under the Company’s LTI plan until 22 May 2016 and under the 
Company’s STI plan until 1 July 2016. As with the KMP remuneration above, Mr Hayden did not receive any 
increase in FAR effective 1 January 2015.   

Mr Hayden did not hold any share rights with a vesting date in 2014.  Mr Hayden held a total of 1,195,979 
performance rights with a vesting date of 1 January 2015. The vesting conditions have been satisfied in respect of 
61,454 of these rights and the remaining 1,134,525 rights lapsed. 61,454 shares will be issued to Mr Hayden in 
due course following the release of the Company’s 2014 Financial Statements, in accordance with the Tap Oil 
Limited Share Rights Plan. 

12.7 Other Elements of Director and Executive Remuneration 
Remuneration packages contain the following key elements: 

(a) Short term employee benefits – salary/fees, bonuses and non-monetary benefits, such as car parking. 

(b) Post-employment benefits – including superannuation, prescribed retirement benefits and retirement gifts. 

The remuneration of the key management personnel of the Consolidated Entity and the Company is set out below: 
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2014 

Short-term employee benefits Post-
employment Other long-

term 
employee 
benefits 

Share-
based 

payment 
equity 
settled Total 

Salary & 
fees 

Bonus 
(viii)  

Non-
monetary 

Other 
(ii)

Super-
annuation 

Rights 
(i) 

Non-executive 
Directors  
D W Bailey 131,308 - - - 22,185 - - 153,493 
M J Sandy 70,167 - - - 6,578 - - 76,745 
D A Schwebel 59,935 - - - 16,811 - - 76,746 
Executives - 
current
T J Hayden 428,422 - 5,714 - 23,028 - 140,779 597,943 
D J Rich 385,907 49,660 5,714 - 16,504 - 105,481 563,266 
M J Williams 329,024 67,718 5,714 - 16,504 - 54,746 473,706 
A C Sudlow 295,449 - 5,714 - 23,005 - 42,113 366,281 
Executives - 
former
B M Ulmer (vi) 372,235 - 2,896 376,196 13,167 - 9,580 774,074 
T M Schmedje (vii) 174,235 - 2,646 219,432 12,264 - 11,942 420,519 

2,246,682 117,378 28,398 595,628 150,046 - 364,641 3,502,773 

2013 

Short-term employee benefits Post-
employment Other long-

term 
employee 
benefits 

Share-
based 

payment 
equity 
settled Total 

Salary & 
fees Bonus  Non-

monetary 
Other 

(ii)
Super-

annuation 
Rights 

(i) 

Non-executive 
Directors  
D W Bailey 150,784 - - - 13,759 - - 164,543 
M J Sandy 75,392 - - - 6,879 - - 82,271 
D A Schwebel 69,907 - - - 12,365 - - 82,272 
Executives - 
current 
T J Hayden 515,406 - 5,479 - 24,829 - 148,490 694,204 
B M Ulmer 475,408 - 5,479 - 24,197 - 25,890 530,974 
D J Rich 414,364 - 5,479 - 24,824 - 96,287 540,954 
M J Williams(iii) 147,393 - 2,687 - 11,842 - 52,656 214,578 
T M Schmedje 393,820 - 5,479 - 23,566 - 185,991 608,856 
A C Sudlow 238,307 - 4,383 - 24,800 - 42,853 310,343 
Executives - 
former
A N Patterson(iv) 83,529 - 1,306 112,440 3,985 - 63,893 265,153 
S F Blenkinsop(v) 313,019 - 3,197 - - - - 316,216 

2,877,329 - 33,489 112,440 171,046 - 616,060 3,810,364 

(i) Under the rights column, performance rights have been valued using a Monte Carlo Simulation model and retention rights have been valued using 
the Black Scholes model.  Further details of the share rights plan is contained in note 22 to the financial statements. 

(ii) These amounts relate to payments due under contracts for accrued leave, past services, in lieu of notice and ex-gratia payments. 
(iii) Melanie Williams was on parental leave from 1 February 2013 to 5 August 2013. 
(iv) Andrew Patterson resigned from Tap Oil effective 29 March 2013. 
(v) Scott Blenkinsop was acting General Counsel/Company Secretary from 29 January 2013 to 30 August 2013. 
(vi) Blaine Ulmer resigned from Tap Oil effective 18 June 2014. 
(vii) Milton Schmedje resigned from Tap Oil effective 4 July 2014. 
(viii) Cash bonuses paid in May 2014 in relation to specific outcomes achieved by the executive. 
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Rights over Equity Instruments Granted

Tap currently has the Tap Share Rights Plan as its share based payment scheme. This plan was first approved by 
shareholders on 30 April 2010 and again on 22 May 2013. All rights to shares have a vesting period of three 
years. The following share rights over ordinary shares were granted to KMP during the reporting period. These 
were granted as remuneration unless otherwise noted.  The rights granted have no exercise price, are exercisable 
from the date of vesting and the details of vesting periods are set out in note 22 to the financial statements. All 
rights expire on the earlier of their expiry date or termination of the individual’s employment. None of the 
performance rights granted to KMP vested during the reporting period (2013: 113,265) and 3,604,947 
performance rights lapsed (2013: 1,925,525). A total of 732,582 of the retention rights granted to KMP vested 
during the reporting period (2013: 762,238) and none lapsed (2012: 194,445).   

The vesting conditions (as set out in note 22 to the financial statements) have been satisfied in respect of 61,454 
performance rights (with a vesting date of 1 January 2015) held by Mr Hayden. 61,454 shares will be issued to  
Mr Hayden in due course following the release of the Company’s 2014 Financial Statements, in accordance with 
the Tap Oil Limited Share Rights Plan 

No cash benefit is received by KMP of the Company until the sale of the resultant shares, which cannot be done 
unless and until the rights have vested and the shares issued. 

2014 
Number of 

performance 
rights granted 
during 2014 (i) 

Number of 
retention 

rights 
granted 

during 2014 
(i) 

Grant date 
(performance 

rights) 

Grant date 
(retention 

rights) 

Fair value per 
performance 
right at grant 

date 
$ 

Fair 
value per 
retention 
right at 
grant 
date 

Value of 
rights 

granted 
during the 

year 
$ 

Financial 
year in 
which 

rights vest 
Expiry date 

Number of 
rights 
vested 

during 2014 
(ii) 

Non-executive 
Directors  

D W Bailey - - - - - - - - - - 

M J Sandy - - - - - - - - - - 

D A Schwebel - - - - - - - - - - 

Executives - current 

D J Rich 623,641 - 01-Jan-14 - 0.15 - 95,417 2017 01-Jan-21 - 

M J Williams 217,110 - 01-Jan-14 - 0.15 - 33,218 2017 01-Jan-17 - 

M J Williams 45,476 - 01-Jan-14 - 0.15 - 6,958 2017 01-Jan-17 - 

A C Sudlow 346,217 - 01-Jan-14 - 0.15 - 52,971 2017 01-Jan-21 - 

A C Sudlow 186,424 - 01-Jan-14 - 0.15 - 28,523 2017 01-Jan-21 - 

A C Sudlow (iii) 111,501 - 01-Jan-13 - 0.13 - 14,952 2016 01-Jan-20 - 

2013 
Number of 

performance 
rights granted 
during 2013 (i) 

Number of 
retention 

rights 
granted 

during 2013 
(i) 

Grant date 
(performance 

rights) 

Grant date 
(retention 

rights) 

Fair value per 
performance 
right at grant 

date 
$ 

Fair 
value per 
retention 
right at 
grant 
date 

Value of 
rights 

granted 
during the 

year 
$ 

Financial 
year in 
which 

rights vest 
Expiry date 

Number of 
rights 
vested 

during 2013 
(ii) 

Non-executive 
Directors  

D W Bailey - - - - - - - - - - 

M J Sandy - - - - - - - - - - 

D A Schwebel - - - - - - - - - - 

Executives - current 
T J Hayden 288,197 - 16-Jan-13 - 0.11 - 31,413 2015 01-Jan-20 - 

T J Hayden 814,538 - 16-Jan-13 - 0.12 - 101,410 2016 01-Jan-20 - 

T J Hayden 5,000,000 - 24-May-13 - 0.00 - 1,000 2016 24-May-20 - 

B M Ulmer 389,127 - 16-Jan-13 - 0.12 - 48,446 2016 01-Jan-20 - 

D J Rich 321,640 - 16-Jan-13 - 0.12 - 40,044 2016 01-Jan-20 - 

M J Williams 279,625 - 16-Jan-13 - 0.12 - 34,813 2016 01-Jan-20 - 

T M Schmedje 315,973 - 16-Jan-13 - 0.12 - 39,339 2016 01-Jan-20 - 

T M Schmedje - 158,983 - 16-Jan-13 - 0.63 100,159 2013 13-Dec-19 158,983 

A C Sudlow 167,252 - 16-Jan-13 - 0.12 - 20,823 2016 01-Jan-20 - 

Executives - former

A P Patterson - - - - - - - - - - 

S F Blenkinsop - - - - - - - - - - 

(i) Each right entitles the holder to one share in the Company upon vesting.  
(ii) Relates only to rights granted during the current reporting period. 
(iii) These rights were issued in 2014 however they relate to the 2013 LTI award of performance. 
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The following table summarises the value of rights that have vested or lapsed during the financial year: 

2014 
Number of 

rights 
vested 

Value of 
rights 

vested at 
vesting 

date 
A$ 

Number of 
rights 
lapsed 

Value of rights 
lapsed at the 
date of lapse 

A$ 

Number of 
ordinary shares 

issued as a result 
of vesting 

Amount 
paid 

Amount 
unpaid 

Non-executive Directors  
D W Bailey - - - - - - - 
M J Sandy - - - - - - - 
D A Schwebel - - - - - - - 
Executives - current 
T J Hayden - - - - - - - 
D J Rich 121,693 99,995 293,136 56,531 121,693 - - 
M J Williams 142,027 112,001 - - 142,027 - - 
A C Sudlow 106,566 111,894 - - 106,566 - - 
Executives - former
B M Ulmer - - 1,937,801 295,892 - - - 
T M Schmedje 203,313 198,314 1,374,010 216,595 203,313 - - 

573,599 522,204 3,604,947 569,018 573,599 - - 

2013 
Number of 

rights 
vested 

Value of 
rights 

vested at 
vesting 

date 
A$ 

Number of 
rights 
lapsed 

Value of rights 
lapsed at the 
date of lapse 

A$ 

Number of 
ordinary shares 

issued as a result 
of vesting 

Amount 
paid 

Amount 
unpaid 

Non-executive Directors  
D W Bailey - - - - - - - 
M J Sandy - - - - - - - 
D A Schwebel - - - - - - - 
Executives - current 
T J Hayden 496,625 263,211 792,858 420,215 496,625 - - 
B M Ulmer  30,000 18,600 344,757 212,162 30,000 - - 
D J Rich 152,500 94,550 272,645 167,453 152,500 - - 
M J Williams - - 79,366 47,619 - - - 
T M Schmedje 196,378 102,676 79,366 47,619 196,378 - - 
A C Sudlow - - 79,366 47,619 - - - 
Executives - former
A N Patterson - - 471,614 287,685 - - - 
S F Blenkinsop - - - - - - - 

875,503 479,037 2,119,972 1,230,372 875,503 - - 

Value of Rights – Basis of Calculation 

The value of performance rights at the grant date is calculated as the fair value of the rights at grant date, using 
the Monte Carlo Simulation model, multiplied by the number of rights granted. 

The value of retention rights at the grant date is calculated as the fair value of the rights at grant date, using the 
Black Scholes model, multiplied by the number of rights granted. 

The value of rights included in remuneration for the year is calculated in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards.  This requires the value of rights to be determined at grant date and thereafter included in 
remuneration for the year based proportionately on the vesting period.  Where the rights vest fully in the year of 
grant, the full value of the rights is recognised in remuneration for that year.  

No adjustment is made to the value included in remuneration or the financial results where the right ultimately has 
a lesser or greater value than as at the date of grant.  The inputs into the fair value calculation of the rights 
granted are set out in note 22 to the financial statements. 

The following table summarises the proportion of remuneration comprised of share-based payment expenses for 
the 2014 financial year: 
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% of remuneration 
for the year 

consisting of rights 
Non-executive Directors   
D W Bailey - 
M J Sandy - 
D A Schwebel - 
Executives - current 
T J Hayden 23.5% 
D J Rich 18.7% 
M J Williams 11.6% 
A C Sudlow 11.5% 
Executives - former
B M Ulmer  1.2% 
T M Schmedje 2.8% 

Discretionary Cap on Total Number of Rights 

The Board maintains a discretionary guideline cap on the total number of all performance and retention rights on 
issue to employees and Executives.  Currently the Board has set this cap at 6% of the number of issued fully paid 
shares in the Company.  This cap provides a margin to cover the issue of rights above the 4.5% maximum level of 
rights that may be issued over the three year vesting period of such rights at the guideline maximum rate of 1.5% 
per annum.  The Board will inform shareholders of exceptions or changes to these guidelines should they occur.  

The Board is of the view that such a cap significantly reduces the potential for material dilutionary effects of issues 
of rights at low share prices. 

A total of 3,753,834 performance rights were issued during the year, effective 1 January 2014, being the award of 
LTI performance rights for the year ended 31 December 2013. A further 111,501 performance rights were issued 
to a KMP, effective 1 January 2013, due to a miscalculation in the grant of the 2013 LTI awards.  40,241 retention 
rights were also issued during the year.  

The total number of performance and retention rights on issue at 31 December 2014 was 12,128,057.  Excluding 
the 5 million rights granted to the Managing Director (as approved by shareholders at the 2013 annual general 
meeting), this number equalled 7,128,057 which is 2.93% of shares on issue at 31 December 2014 and under the 
policy guideline cap of 6%. 

On 1 January 2015, 2,260,863 performance rights lapsed.  In February 2015, the Company issued the 2014 LTI 
award of 3,383,211 performance rights, the 2014 STI award of 958,299 retention rights and the 2014 special 
awards of 850,363 retention rights.  All awards took effect from 1 January 2015.  The 2014 LTI award was under 
the policy guideline cap of 1.5% of the shares on issue.   

On 27 January 2015, the Company issued 61,287 retention rights to a new employee. 

The total number of rights on issue at the time of this report is 15,120,354 (including the 5 million granted to the 
Managing Director) which equals 6.22% of shares on issue at the time of this report.  
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Key management personnel equity holdings 
The following table summarises the fully paid ordinary shares of Tap Oil Limited held by key management 
personnel: 

2014 
Balance at 

1/1/14 
Received on 

vesting of rights 

Net other 
change 

(i) 

Balance held 
directly & 

indirectly at 
31/12/14 

Balance held 
nominally 
(indirectly) 

(ii) 
No. No. No. No. No. 

Non-executive 
Directors 
D W Bailey 145,650 - 232,284 377,934 200,000 
M J Sandy 98,472 - 111,000 209,472 - 
D A Schwebel 100,000 - 50,000 150,000 - 
Executives -
current 
T J Hayden 568,900 - 1,717,299 2,286,199 650,900 
M J Williams 35,398 142,027 - 177,425 - 
A C Sudlow 75,398 106,566 - 181,964 - 
D J Rich 152,969 121,693 (274,662) - - 
Executives -
former
B M Ulmer  34,654 - - 34,654 - 
T M Schmedje 158,983 203,313 (362,296) - - 

1,370,424 573,599 1,473,625 3,417,648 850,900 

2013 
Balance at 

1/1/13 
Received on 

vesting of rights 
Net other 
change 

(i) 

Balance held 
directly & 

indirectly at 
31/12/13 

Balance held 
nominally 
(indirectly) 

(ii) 
No. No. No. No. No. 

Non-executive 
Directors 
D W Bailey 145,650 - - 145,650 - 
M J Sandy 98,472 - - 98,472 - 
D A Schwebel 100,000 - - 100,000 - 
Executives     
T J Hayden 72,275 496,625 -   568,900 568,900 
M J Williams 35,398 -   -   35,398 - 
B M Ulmer  34,654 30,000  (30,000) 34,654 - 
T M Schmedje  - 196,378  (37,395) 158,983 - 
A C Sudlow 35,398 -   40,000 75,398 - 
D J Rich 91,469 152,500  (91,000) 152,969 - 
A N Patterson - -  -   -   - 
S F Blenkinsop - -   -   -   - 

613,316 875,503 (118,395) 1,370,424 568,900 
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The following table summarises the rights in ordinary shares of Tap Oil Limited: 

2014 
Balance at 1/1/14 Granted as 

remuneration 
Vested during 

the year 
Lapsed during the 

year Balance at 31/12/14 

No. No. No. No. No. 
Non-executive 
Directors 
D W Bailey - - -  - - 
M J Sandy - - -  - - 
D A Schwebel - - -  - - 
Executives -
current 
T J Hayden 7,010,517 - - - 7,010,517 
M J Williams 689,410 262,586 (142,027) - 809,969 
A C Sudlow 394,383 644,142 (106,566) - 931,959 
D J Rich 1,088,935 623,641 (121,693) (293,136) 1,297,747 
Executives -
former
B M Ulmer 1,214,834 - - (1,214,834) - 
T M Schmedje 973,281 - (203,313) (769,968) - 

11,371,360 1,530,369 (573,599) (2,277,938) 10,050,192 

2013 
Balance at 1/1/13 Granted as 

remuneration 
Vested during 

the year 
Lapsed during the 

year Balance at 31/12/13 

No. No. No. No. No. 
Non-executive 
Directors 
D W Bailey - - -  - - 
M J Sandy - - -  - - 
D A Schwebel - - -  - - 
Executives 
T J Hayden 2,197,265 6,102,735 (496,625) (792,858) 7,010,517 
M J Williams 489,151 279,625 - (79,366) 689,410 
B M Ulmer  1,200,464 389,127 (30,000) (344,757) 1,214,834 
T M Schmedje 774,069 474,956 (196,378) (79,366) 973,281 
A C Sudlow 306,497 167,252 - (79,366) 394,383 
D J Rich 1,192,440 321,640 (152,500) (272,645) 1,088,935 
S F Blenkinsop - - -  - - 
A N Patterson 194,445 277,169 - (471,614) - 

6,354,331 8,012,504 (875,503) (2,119,972) 11,371,360 

Other transactions with key management personnel 
There were no other transactions with key management personnel during the year. 

13. Non-Audit Services 
The Directors of the Company are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services during the year by the auditor 
(or by another person or firm on the auditor’s behalf) is compatible with the general standard of independence for 
auditors imposed by the Corporations Act. 

Details of amounts paid or payable to the auditor for non-audit services provided during the year by the auditor 
are outlined in note 24 to the financial statements. 

14. Auditor’s Independence Declaration 
The auditor’s independence declaration is included on page 26 of the financial report. 
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15. Rounding off of Amounts 
The Company is a company of the kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/0100, dated 10 July 1998, and in 
accordance with that Class Order, amounts in the Directors’ report and the financial report are rounded off to the 
nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise indicated. 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors of the Company made pursuant to section 298(2) of the 
Corporations Act 2001. 

On behalf of the Directors of the Company 

D W Bailey 
Chairman 

West Perth, Western Australia 
27 February 2015 
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Board of Directors 
Tap Oil Limited 
Level 1, 47 Colin Street 
WEST PERTH WA 6005 

27 February 2015 
 
 
Dear Board Members 
 

Auditor’s Independence Declaration to Tap Oil Limited 
 
In accordance with section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, I am pleased to provide the following 
declaration of independence to the directors of Tap Oil Limited. 
 
As lead audit partner for the audit of the financial statements of Tap Oil Limited for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2014, I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no 
contraventions of: 
 

(i) the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the 
audit; and 

(ii) any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.   
 
 
 
 
Yours sincerely 
 
 
 
DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU 
 
 
 
 
Ross Jerrard 
Partner  
Chartered Accountants 
 

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 
ABN 74 490 121 060 
 
Woodside Plaza 
Level 14 
240 St Georges Terrace 
Perth WA 6000 
GPO Box A46 
Perth WA 6837 Australia 
 
Tel:  +61 (0) 8 9365 7000 
Fax: +61 (0) 8 9365 7001 
www.deloitte.com.au 
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of 
Tap Oil Limited 
 
 
Report on the Financial Report  
 
We have audited the accompanying financial report of Tap Oil Limited, which comprises the 
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2014, the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, the statement of cash flows and the statement of changes in equity for the 
year ended on that date, notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information, and the directors’ declaration of the consolidated entity, comprising the 
company and the entities it controlled at the year’s end or from time to time during the financial year  
as set out on pages 29 to 83.  
 
Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report 
 
The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a 
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 
2001 and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 
the financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error. In Note 1, the directors also state, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 
101 Presentation of Financial Statements, that the consolidated financial statements comply with 
International Financial Reporting Standards. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we comply 
with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from material misstatement.   
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. 
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control, relevant to the company’s 
preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view, in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the company’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness 
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as 
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report. 
 

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 
ABN 74 490 121 060 
 
Woodside Plaza 
Level 14 
240 St Georges Terrace 
Perth WA 6000 
GPO Box A46 
Perth WA 6837 Australia 
 
Tel:  +61 (0) 8 9365 7000 
Fax: +61 (0) 8 9365 7001 
www.deloitte.com.au 



 

 

 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinion. 
 
Auditor’s Independence Declaration 
 
In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations 
Act 2001. We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, 
which has been given to the directors of Tap Oil Limited, would be in the same terms if given to the 
directors as at the time of this auditor’s report.  
 
Opinion 
 
In our opinion: 
 
(a) the financial report of Tap Oil Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, 

including: 
 

(i) giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 31 December 
2014 and of its performance for the year ended on that date; and 

 
(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; 

and 
 
(b) the consolidated financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting 

Standards as disclosed in Note 1. 
 

Report on the Remuneration Report  
 
We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 10 to 24 of the directors’ report for the 
year ended 31 December 2014. The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and 
presentation of the Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 
2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit 
conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. 
 
Opinion 
 
In our opinion the Remuneration Report of Tap Oil Limited for the year ended 31 December 2014, 
complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.  
 
 
 
 
DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU 
 
 
 
 
Ross Jerrard 
Partner 
Chartered Accountants 
Perth, 27 February 2015 
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Directors’ Declaration 

The Directors of the Company declare that: 

(a) in the Directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its 
debts as and when they become due and payable; 

(b) in the Directors’ opinion, the attached financial statements and notes thereto are in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001, including compliance with accounting standards and giving a true and fair view of 
the financial position and performance of the Consolidated Entity; 

(c) in the Directors’ opinion, the attached financial statements and notes thereto are in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, as 
stated in note 1 to the financial statements; and 

(d) the Directors have been given the declarations required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors made pursuant to section 295(5) of the Corporations  
Act 2001. 

On behalf of the Directors of the Company 

D W Bailey 
Chairman 

West Perth, Western Australia 
27 February 2015 
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Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income for the financial year ended 31 December 2014 

Note  
2014

US$’000

Restated(1)

2013
US$’000

    
Continuing operations     
Revenue 2(a)  26,550  26,118  
Cost of sales 2(b)  (12,201) (11,651) 
Gross profit   14,349  14,467  
Other revenue 2(a)  239  1,908  
Other income 2(c)  81  3,271  

Administration expenses 2(d)  (6,731) (6,566) 

Finance costs 2(e)  (2,221) (998) 

Impairment losses and write-downs 2(f)  (78,065) (45,634) 

Other expenses 2(g)  (2,242) (4,743) 

Loss before tax   (74,590) (38,295) 
Income tax and PRRT benefit/(expense) 3(a)  31,885  167  
Loss for the year    (42,705) (38,128) 

    
Other comprehensive income     
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit and 
loss     
Foreign currency translation differences - foreign 
operations    (1,286) 2,224  
Total comprehensive loss for the year   (43,991) (35,904) 

    
Earnings per share from continuing operations:     
Basic (cents per share) 14  (17.6) (15.8) 
Diluted (cents per share) 14  (17.6) (15.8) 

(1) Tap Oil Limited has elected to change its presentation currency from Australian dollars to US dollars. Refer to Note 1 for 
further details.   

The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income is to be read in conjunction with 
the notes to the financial statements. 
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Consolidated statement of financial position 
as at 31 December 2014 

Note  
2014

US$’000

Restated
2013

US$’000

Restated(1)

1 January 2013
US$’000

  
Current assets   
Cash and cash equivalents 20(a)  14,034 38,936 100,079 
Trade and other receivables 4  20,785 10,530 7,295 
Inventories 5  10,679 2,950 853 
Other current assets 6  3,332 4,147 6,162 
Total current assets   48,830 56,563 114,389 

Non-current assets 
Property, plant and equipment 7  134,387 91,248 59,336 
Exploration and evaluation assets 8  21,083 80,967 90,587 
Deferred tax assets 3(c)  20,352 - - 
Total non-current assets   175,822 172,215 149,923 
Total assets   224,652 228,778 264,312

  
Current liabilities   
Trade and other payables 10  27,087 48,189 20,799 
Current tax liability 3(b)  - - 5,228 
Provisions 11  2,520 3,168 3,597 
Loans and borrowings 9  12,850 - - 
Total current liabilities   42,457 51,357 29,624 

  
Non-current liabilities   
Deferred tax liabilities 3(c)  - 10,768 12,671 
Provisions 11  23,049 12,690 14,941 
Loans and borrowings 9  51,405 - - 
Other non-current liabilities   - 2,950 - 
Total non-current liabilities   74,454 26,408 27,612 
Total liabilities   116,911 77,765 57,236

Net assets   107,741 151,013 207,076
  

Equity   
Issued capital 12  133,175 133,175 133,175 
Share options reserve   3,526 3,526 3,526 
Share rights reserve   2,800 2,081 1,373 
Foreign currency translation reserve   55,258 56,544 75,187 
Current year profit reserve   69,821 30,968 - 
Retained earnings   (156,839) (75,281) (6,185)

Total equity   107,741 151,013 207,076 

(1) Tap Oil Limited has elected to change its presentation currency from Australian dollars to US dollars. As such, in accordance 
with AASB 101.39, a third consolidated statement of financial position and notes to the restated amounts have been 
presented. 

The consolidated statement of financial position is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial 
statements. 
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Consolidated statement of cash flows 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2014 

Note  
2014

US$’000

Restated
2013

US$’000

Cash flows from operating activities 
Receipts from customers 28,952 29,807 
Payments to suppliers and employees (23,453) (24,645)
Interest received 212 2,409 
Income taxes paid - (6,963)
Net cash provided by operating activities 20(b) 5,711 608 

Cash flows from investing activities 
Payments for property, plant and equipment (86,881) (3,667)
Payments for exploration assets (3,852) (43,361)
Payments for restoration expenditure (368) (320)
Proceeds from the farm-out of permit interests - 1,328 
Net cash used in investing activities (91,101) (46,020)

Cash flows from financing activities 
Draw down of borrowings 65,400 - 
Purchase of shares under share-based payment 
arrangements - (110)
Payments for financing costs (4,185) (1,781)
Net cash provided/(used in) by financing activities 61,215 (1,891)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (24,175) (47,303)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial 
year 38,936 100,079 
Effects of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash held 
in foreign currencies (727) (13,840)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 20(a) 14,034 38,936

The consolidated statement of cash flows is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements. 
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Notes to the financial statements  
for the financial year ended 31 December 2014 

Note Contents 
1 Summary of accounting policies 
2 Loss for the year from operations 
3 Income taxes  
4 Trade and other receivables 
5 Inventories  
6 Other current assets 
7 Property, plant and equipment 
8 Exploration and evaluation assets 
9 Loans and borrowings 

10 Trade and other payables 
11 Provisions  
12 Issued capital  
13 Reserves  
14 Earnings per share  
15 Commitments for expenditure  
16 Leases  
17 Segment information  
18 Interests in joint operations  
19 Subsidiaries  
20 Notes to the cash flow statement  
21 Financial instruments  
22 Share-based payments  
23 Key management personnel compensation  
24 Related party transactions  
25 Remuneration of auditors  
26 Contingencies  
27 Subsequent events  
28 Parent entity disclosures  
29 General information 
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1. Summary of accounting policies
Statement of compliance

The financial report is a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance 
with the Corporations Act 2001, Accounting Standards and Interpretations, and complies with other 
requirements of the law.  

The financial report comprises the consolidated financial statements of the Consolidated Entity. For the 
purposes of preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Company is a for-profit entity. 

The financial report complies with Australian Accounting Standards and International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS).  

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the directors on 27 February 2015. 

Basis of preparation

The financial report is presented in US Dollars, unless otherwise noted, and on the basis of historical 
cost, except for the revaluation of financial instruments. Cost is based on the fair values of the 
consideration given in exchange for assets. 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is 
directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an 
asset or a liability, the Consolidated Entity takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability 
if market participants would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at 
the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated 
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that 
are within the scope of AASB 2, leasing transactions that are within the scope of AASB 17, and 
measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable 
value in AASB 102 or value in use in AASB 136. 

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 
3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the 
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows: 

• Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
that the entity can access at the measurement date.

• Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included in Level 1, that are observable for the 
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. 

• Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. 

The Company is a company of the kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/0100, dated 10 July 1998, 
and in accordance with that Class Order amounts in the financial report are rounded to the nearest 
thousand dollars, unless otherwise indicated. 

Accounting policies are selected and applied in a manner which ensures that the resulting financial 
information satisfies the concepts of relevance and reliability, thereby ensuring that the substance of 
the underlying transactions or other events is reported. Apart from changes in accounting policies 
noted below, the accounting policies adopted are consistent with those disclosed in the Annual 
Financial Report for the year ended 31 December 2013. Certain comparative information has been 
reclassified to be presented on a consistent basis with current year’s presentation. 
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Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

Change in presentation currency

With the funding of Tap’s main asset, the Manora oil field development, in USD and subsequent 
Manora pricing benchmarks and operating costs being denominated in USD, Tap Oil Limited has 
elected to change its presentation currency from Australian dollars to US dollars. The directors believe 
that changing the presentation currency to US dollars will provide greater transparency of the 
underlying performance of the Group and improve investors’ ability to compare the Company’s financial 
results with other publicly traded businesses in the international oil and gas industry. The change in 
presentation currency represents a voluntary change in accounting policy, which has been applied 
retrospectively.  

As a result of the change in presentation currency, the Consolidated Entity is required to restate all 
comparative amounts to US dollars by translating the assets and liabilities using the current rate 
method. Under this method the assets and liabilities are translated into US dollars at the exchange rate 
in effect at the end of each prior reporting period, the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income is translated using the average rate for the year and shareholder’s equity is 
translated at historic rates. All resulting exchange differences are reported as a separate component of 
shareholder’s equity titled Foreign Currency Translation Reserve (“FCTR”).

In order to arrive US dollar comparatives, the following rates were applied at the reporting date: 

Currency 2014 2013 2012

Average rate (1 January to 31 
December) 

AUD to US$1 0.9029 0.9679 - 

Closing rate (31 December) AUD to US$1 0.8202 0.8948 1.0384 

The above procedures resulted in a FCTR of US$75.2m on 1 January 2013. Earnings per share for 2013 
has also been restated in US dollars to reflect the change in presentation currency (refer to Note 14).  

New and revised Standards and Interpretations affecting amounts reported and/or disclosures in the 
financial statement 

In the current year the Consolidated Entity has adopted all of the new and revised Standards and 
Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board that are relevant to its operations 
and mandatorily effective for an accounting period that begins on or after 1 January 2014. The 
following Standards and Interpretations were adopted: 

- AASB 2012-3 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Offsetting Financial Assets 
and Financial Liabilities’ 

- AASB 2013-3 ‘Amendments to AASB 136 – Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial 
Assets 

- AASB 2013-4 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Novation of Derivatives and 
Continuation of Hedge Accounting’  

- INT 21 – Levies  

- AASB 2011-4 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards to Remove Individual Key 
Management Personnel Disclosure Requirements’ 

- AASB 1031 ‘Materiality’ (2013) 

- AASB 2013-9 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards’ – Part B: ‘Materiality’ 

The adoption of these standards did not result in changes in accounting policies or adjustments to the 
amounts recognised in the financial statements. The standards only affected disclosures in the notes to 
the financial statements.  
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Impact of the application of AASB 2012-3 

The Consolidated Entity has applied the amendments to AASB 132 Offsetting Financial Assets and 
Financial Liabilities for the first time in the current year. The amendments to AASB 132 clarify the 
requirements relating to the offset of financial assets and financial liabilities. Specifically, the 
amendments clarify the meaning of ‘currently has a legally enforceable right to set-off’ and 
‘simultaneous realisation and settlement’.  

The amendments have been applied retrospectively. As the Consolidated Entity does not have any 
financial assets and liabilities that qualify for offset, the application has no impact on the disclosures or 
on the amounts recognised in the Consolidated financial statements.  

Impact of the application of AASB 2013-3 

The Consolidated Entity has applied AASB 136 Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial 
Assets for the first time in the current year. The amendments to AASB 136 remove the requirement to 
disclose the recoverable amount of a cash-generating unit (CGU) to which goodwill or other intangible 
assets with indefinite useful lives had been allocated when there has been no impairment or reversal 
of impairment of the related CGU. Furthermore, the amendments introduce additional disclosure 
requirements applicable to when the recoverable amount of an asset or a CGU is measured at fair 
value less cost of disposal. These new disclosures include the fair value hierarchy, key assumptions 
and valuation techniques which are in line with the disclosure required by AASB 13 Fair Value 
Measurements. 

The application of these amendments has had no material impact on the disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements.

Impact of the application of AASB 2013-4 

The Consolidated entity has applied the amendments to AASB 139 Novation of Derivatives and 
Continuation of Hedge Accounting for the first time in the current year. The amendments to AASB 139 
provide relief from the requirement to discontinue hedge accounting when a derivative designated as a 
hedging instrument is novated under certain circumstances. The amendments also clarify that any 
change to the fair value of the derivative designated as a hedging instrument arising from the novation 
should be included in the assessment and measurement of hedge effectiveness. 

The amendments have been applied retrospectively. As the Consolidated Entity does not have any 
derivatives that are subject to novation, the application of these amendments has had no impact on the 
disclosures or on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.  

Impact of the application of INT 21 

The Consolidated Entity has applied INT 21 Levies for the first time in the current year. INT 21 
addresses the issue as to when to recognise a liability to pay a levy imposed by a government. The 
Interpretation defines a levy, and specifies that the obligating event that gives rise to the liability is the 
activity that triggers the payment of the levy, as identified by legislation. The Interpretation provides 
guidance on how different levy arrangements should be accounted for, in particular, it clarifies that 
neither economic compulsion nor the going concern basis of financial statements preparation implies 
that an entity has a present obligation to pay a levy that will be trigged by operating in a future period.  

Interpretation 21 has been applied retrospectively. The application of this Interpretation has had no 
material impact on the disclosures or on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.  

Impact of AASB 2011-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards to Remove Individual Key 
Management Personnel Disclosure Requirements 

This standard removes the individual key management personnel disclosure requirements in AASB 
124 Related Party Disclosures. As a result the Consolidated Entity only discloses the key management 
personnel compensation in total and for each of the categories required in AASB 124. 

In the current year the individual key management personnel disclosure previously required by AASB 
124 (note 23 (a) and 23(c) in the 31 December 2013 financial report) is now disclosed in the 
remuneration report due to an amendment to Corporation Regulations 2001 issued in June 2013. 

The Consolidated Entity has not elected to early adopt any new standards or amendments. 
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Adoption of new and revised Accounting Standards

At the date of authorisation of the financial report, a number of Standards and Interpretations were on 
issue but not yet effective: 

Standard/Interpretation 
Effective for 

annual reporting 
periods beginning 

on or after 

Expected to be 
initially applied in 
the financial year 

ending

AASB 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ and the relevant 
amending standards 1 January 2018 31 December 2018 

AASB 1055 “Budgetary Reporting’ and AASB 2013-1 
‘Amendments to AASB 1049 – Relocation of Budgetary 
Reporting Requirements’  

1 January 2015 31 December 2015 

AASB 2014-1 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards’ – 

• Part A: ‘Annual Improvements 2010-2012 and 
2011-2013 Cycles’ 

• Part B: ‘Defined Benefit Plans: Employee 
Contributions (Amendments to AASB 119)’ 

• Part C: ‘Materiality’ 

1 January 2015 31 December 2015 

AASB 2014-3 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in 
Joint Operations  

1 January 2016 31 December 2016 

AASB 2014-4 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Clarification of Acceptable Methods of 
Depreciation and Amortisation 

1 January 2016 31 December 2016 

AASB 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ 
and AASB 2014-5 ‘Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from AASB 15’ 

1 January 2017 31 December 2017 

AASB 2014-9 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Equity Method in Separate Financial 
Statements 

1 January 2016 31 December 2016 

AASB 2014-10 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Sale or Contribution of Assets between an 
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture 

1 January 2016 31 December 2016 

AASB 2015-1 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Annual Improvements to Australian 
Accounting Standards 2012-2014 Cycle 

1 January 2016 31 December 2016 

AASB 2015-2 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Disclosure Initiative: Amendments to 
AASB 101’ 

1 January 2016 31 December 2016 

AASB 2015-3 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from the Withdrawal of AASB 1031 
Materiality’ 

1 January 2016 31 December 2016 

AASB 2015-4 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Financial Reporting Requirements for 
Australian Groups with a Foreign Parent’ 

1 January 2016 31 December 2016 

AASB 2015-5 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Investment Entities: Applying the 
Consolidation Exception’ 

1 January 2016 31 December 2016 
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At the date of authorisation of the financial report, there were no Standards and Interpretations issued 
by the IASB/IFRIC where an equivalent Australian Standard or Interpretation has not been made by the 
AASB,  in issue but not yet effective. 

The Directors note that the impact of the initial application of the Standards and Interpretations is not 
yet known or is not reasonably estimable.  These Standards and Interpretations will be first applied in 
the financial report of the Consolidated Entity that relates to the annual reporting period beginning on or 
after the effective date of each pronouncement. 

Accounting Policies

The following significant accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation and presentation of 
the financial report: 

(a) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, cash in banks, demand deposits, the 
Consolidated Entity’s share of joint operations bank balances and investments in money market 
instruments.  Cash equivalents are short-term, and highly liquid investments. 

Any bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities in the balance sheet. 

(b) Comparative amounts 

When the presentation or classification of items in the financial report is amended, comparative 
amounts are reclassified unless the reclassification is impracticable. 

(c) Basis of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and 
entities (including structured entities) controlled by the Company (the parent entity) and its 
subsidiaries.  Control is achieved when the Company: 

- has power over the investee; 

- is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and  

- has the ability to use its power to affect its returns. 

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances 
incidate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above. 

A list of subsidiaries is included in note 19 to the financial statements.  Consistent accounting 
policies are employed in the preparation and presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements. 

On acquisition, the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of a subsidiary are measured at their 
fair values at the date of acquisition.  Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair values of 
the identifiable net assets acquired is recognised as goodwill.  If, after reassessment, the fair 
values of the identifiable net assets acquired exceed the cost of acquisition, the deficiency is 
credited to profit and loss in the period of acquisition. 

The consolidated financial statements include the information and results of each subsidiary from 
the date on which the Company obtains control and until such time as the Company ceases to 
control such entity.  

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, all intercompany balances and transactions, 
and unrealised profits arising within the Consolidated Entity are eliminated in full. 
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(d) Employee benefits 

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, 
annual leave and long service leave when it is probable that settlement will be required and they 
are capable of being measured reliably. 

Liabilities recognised in respect of employee benefits expected to be settled within 12 months are 
measured at their nominal values using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of 
settlement. 

Liabilities recognised in respect of employee benefits which are not expected to be settled within 
12 months are measured as the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made 
by the Consolidated Entity in respect of services provided by employees up to reporting date. 

Contributions to superannuation plans are expensed when incurred.  

(e) Financial assets 

Subsequent to initial recognition, investments in subsidiaries are measured at cost in the 
company financial statements. 

Other financial assets are classified into the following specified categories:  financial assets ‘at fair 
value through profit or loss’, ‘held-to-maturity’ investments, ‘available-for-sale’ financial assets, 
and ‘loans and receivables’.  The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the 
financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition. 

Loans to related parties are recorded at the amortised cost amount, with no fixed due date, nor is 
interest charged on the outstanding balance. 

Trade Receivables and Loans 
Loans and receivables are recorded at the amortised cost amount using the effective interest rate 
method less impairment. 
Impairment of financial assets 
Financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit and loss, are assessed for 
indications of impairment at each reporting date.  Financial assets are impaired where there is 
objective evidence that as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition 
of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the investment have been impacted. 
Derecognition of financial assets 
The Consolidated Entity derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash 
flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another party.

(f) Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity 

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance 
with the substance of the contractual arrangement.   

Equity instruments 

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity 
after deducting all of its liabilities.  Equity instruments issued by the Consolidated Entity are 
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. 

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly in 
equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation 
of the Company’s own equity instruments. 

Financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss 
‘FVTPL’ or “other financial liabilities’. 
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(i) Financial liabilities at FVTPL 

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial liability is either held for 
trading or it is designated as at FVTPL. 

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if: 

- it has been incurred principally for the purpose of repurchasing it in the near term; or   

- on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the 
Consolidated Entity manages together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term 
profit-taking; or 

-  it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument. 

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading may be designated as at 
FVTPL upon initial recognition if: 

- such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition 
inconsistency that would otherwise arise; or  

- the financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, 
which is managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance 
with the Consolidated Entity's documented risk management or investment strategy, and 
information about the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or 

- it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and AASB 
139 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’ permits the entire 
combined contract to be designated as at FVTPL. 

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on 
remeasurement recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or 
loss incorporates any interest paid on the financial liability and is included in the ‘other 
gains and losses’ line item. Fair value is determined in the manner described in note 21.

(ii) Other financial liabilities 

Other financial liabilities, including borrowings and trade and other payables, are initially 
measured at fair value, net of transaction costs. 

Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, with interest expense recognised on an effective yield basis. The 
effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial 
liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest 
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the 
expected life of the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the net 
carrying amount on initial recognition. 

Included in other payables is income received in advance.  This represents gas sales for 
which payment has been received, but the gas has not yet been delivered.  The gas 
revenue will be recognised in the profit/loss when the gas is delivered to the customers in 
future periods.

(iii) Derecognition of financial liabilities 

The Consolidated Entity derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the 
Consolidated Entity’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire. The difference 
between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration 
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss. 

(g) Inventories 

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value 
represents the estimated selling price less all estimated costs of completion and costs to be 
incurred in marketing, selling and distribution. 



Tap Oil Limited 
Consolidated statement of cash flows 

42 

1. Summary of accounting policies

(h) Foreign currency 

All foreign currency transactions during the financial year are brought to account using the 
exchange rate in effect on the dates of the transactions. 

At each reporting date, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the 
rates prevailing on the reporting date. 

Exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.  

The individual financial statements of each group entity are presented in its functional currency 
being the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates.  For the 
purposes of the consolidated financial statements, the results and financial position of each entity 
are expressed in US dollars, which is the presentation currency for the consolidated financial 
statements. 

The functional currency of all the entities in the Consolidated Entity is Australian dollars except for 
Tap Energy Thailand Pty Ltd which has a functional currency of United States dollars. The 
financial statements of subsidiaries whose functional currency is in a currency other than United 
States dollar have been converted into the presentation currency as follows: 

(i)    assets and liabilities are translated to the presentation currency at exchange rates at the 
reporting date. Income and expenses are translated to the presentation currency at 
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions; 

(ii)    foreign currency differences are recognised in other comprehensive income, and presented 
in the foreign currency translation reserve in equity. 

(i) Impairment of assets 

At each reporting date, the Consolidated Entity reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and 
intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an 
impairment loss.  If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in 
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).  Where the asset does not generate 
cash flows that are independent from other assets, the Consolidated Entity estimates the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less cost of disposal and value in use.  In 
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value 
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money 
and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been 
adjusted. 

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its 
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its 
recoverable amount.  An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately, unless the 
relevant asset is carried at fair value, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation 
decrease. 

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset 
(cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to 
the extent that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would 
have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (cash-generating 
unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately, 
unless the relevant asset is carried at fair value, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss 
is treated as a revaluation increase. 

(j) Interests in joint operations 

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the 
arrangement have rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the 
arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which 
exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties 
sharing control.  
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Interests in joint operations are reported in the financial statements by including the Consolidated 
Entity’s share of assets employed in the joint operations, the share of liabilities incurred in relation 
to the joint operations and the share of any expenses incurred in relation to the joint operation in 
their respective classification categories. The Consolidated Entity accounts for the assets, 
liabilities, revenues and expenses relating to its interest in a joint operation in accordance with the 
AASBs applicable to the particular assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. 

When a subsidiary transacts with a joint operation in which it is a joint operator (such as a sale or 
contribution of assets), the Consolidated Entity is considered to be conducting the transaction with 
the other parties to the joint operation, and gains and losses resulting from the transactions are 
recognised in the Consolidated Entity’s financial statements only to the extent of other parties’ 
interests in the joint operation. 

When a subsidiary transacts with a joint operation in which it is a joint operator (such as a 
purchase of assets), the Consolidated Entity does not recognise its share of the gains and losses 
until it resells those assets to a third party.  

(k) Leasing 

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all 
the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee.  All other leases are classified as operating 
leases. 

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term. 

(l) Petroleum exploration and evaluation expenditure 

Exploration and evaluation expenditure is brought to account at cost and is classified as tangible 
assets. 

Ongoing costs of acquisition, exploration and evaluation are capitalised in relation to each 
separate area of interest in which rights to tenure of the area of interest are current and in respect 
of which: 

(i) such costs are expected to be recouped through successful development and exploitation of 
the area or alternatively by their sale; or 

(ii) exploration and evaluation activities in the area have not yet reached the stage which permits 
a reasonable assessment of the existence of economically recoverable reserves, and active 
and significant operations are continuing 

Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for impairment when facts and circumstances 
suggest that the carrying amount of an exploration and evaluation asset may exceed its 
recoverable amount. 

All exploration permits are treated as separate areas of interest, with certain areas of interest 
recognised at the field level.  

The Consolidated Entity does not record any expenditure made by a farmee on the Consolidated 
Entity’s account in respect of farm-outs.  The Consolidated Entity also does not recognise any 
gain or loss on its exploration and evaluation farm-out arrangement, but redesignates any costs 
previously capitalised in relation to the whole interest as relating to the partial interest retained.  
Any cash consideration received directly from the farmee is credited against costs previously 
capitalised in relation to the whole interest with any excess accounted for by the farmor as a gain 
on disposal. 

Once an area of interest enters a development phase, all capitalised acquisition, exploration and 
evaluation expenditure is transferred to development costs within property, plant and equipment.
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(m) Petroleum Resources Rent Tax

PRRT is recognised as an income tax expense on an accruals basis when the corresponding 
sales are recognised and an amount calculated in accordance with government legislative 
requirements will be payable on those sales. 

PRRT is calculated at the rate of 40% of sales revenues less certain permitted deductions and is 
tax deductible for income tax purposes. 

(n) Property, plant and equipment

Plant and equipment, leasehold improvements and equipment are stated at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment.  Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable 
to the acquisition of the item, cost of replacing part of the property, plant and equipment and 
borrowing cost capitalised. 

In the event that settlement of all or part of the purchase consideration is deferred, cost is 
determined by discounting the amounts payable in the future to their present value as at the date 
of acquisition. 

Depreciation is provided on property, plant and equipment, including freehold buildings but 
excluding land.  Depreciation is calculated on property, plant and equipment, other than 
capitalised development costs and leasehold improvement costs, on a straight line basis so as to 
write off the net cost of each asset over its expected useful life to its estimated residual value.  
Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the period of the lease or estimated useful life, 
whichever is the shorter, using the straight line method.  The estimated useful lives, residual 
values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period. 

The following estimated useful lives are used in the calculation of depreciation: 

• Office improvements, furniture & equipment 3 – 12 years 
• Development expenditure  Unit of production 
• Oil & gas facilities Unit of production 

Capitalised development costs are amortised from the commencement of production on a unit of 
production basis over recoverable reserves. Recoverable reserves are subject to review annually.  
The recoverable reserves are estimates calculated from available production and reservoir data 
and are subject to change.  A significant change in estimate could give rise to a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the next annual reporting period. 
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(o) Provisions

 Provisions are recognised when the Consolidated Entity has a present obligation, the future 
sacrifice of economic benefits is probable, and the amount of the provision can be measured 
reliably. 

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle 
the present obligation at reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties 
surrounding the obligation.  Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to 
settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows.

A restoration provision is recognised and updated at different stages of the development and 
construction of a facility and then reviewed on a six monthly basis.  When the liability is initially 
recorded, the estimated cost is capitalised by increasing the carrying amount of the related 
exploration and evaluation assets or development asset.

Where a restoration obligation is assumed as part of the acquisition of an asset or obligation, the 
liability is initially measured at the present value of the future cash flows to settle the present 
obligation as at the acquisition date.  The unwinding of the discount implicit in the present value 
calculations is included in finance costs.

(p) Revenue recognition 

Sale of goods 

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the Consolidated Entity has transferred to the 
buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods. 

Dividend and interest revenue 

Dividend revenue is recognised on a receivable basis.  Interest revenue from a financial asset is 
recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Consolidated Entity and 
the amount can be measured reliably. 

(q) Taxation 

Goods and services tax 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of goods and services tax (GST), except: 

(i) where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority, GST is 
recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of expense; or 

(ii) for receivables and payables which are recognised inclusive of GST. 

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part 
of receivables or payables. 

Cash flows are included in the cash flow statement on a gross basis.  The GST component of 
cash flows arising from investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, 
the taxation authority is classified as operating cash flows. 

Current tax 

Current tax is calculated by reference to the amount of income tax payable or recoverable in 
respect of the taxable profit or tax loss for the period.  It is calculated using tax rates and tax laws 
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by reporting date.  Current tax for current and 
prior periods is recognised as a liability (or asset) to the extent that it is unpaid (or refundable).

Deferred tax  

Deferred tax is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method and is measured at the tax 
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset realised, 
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of 
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the reporting period.  Temporary differences are differences between the tax base of an asset or 
liability and its carrying amount in the balance sheet.  The tax base of an asset or liability is the 
amount attributed to the asset or liability for tax purposes. 

In principle, deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred 
tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable amounts will be 
available against which deductible temporary differences or unused tax losses and tax offsets can 
be utilised.  However, deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary 
differences giving rise to them arise from the initial recognition of assets and liabilities (other than 
as a result of a business combination) which affects neither taxable income nor accounting profit.  
Furthermore, a deferred tax liability is not recognised in relation to taxable temporary differences 
arising from goodwill. 

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would 
follow from the manner in which the Consolidated Entity expects, at the end of the reporting 
period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when they relate to income taxes levied by the same 
taxation authority and the Consolidated Entity intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities 
on a net basis. 

Tax consolidation 

The Company and all its wholly-owned Australian resident entities are part of a tax-consolidated 
group under Australian taxation law.  Tap Oil Limited is the head entity in the tax-consolidated 
group.  Tax expense/income, deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets arising from 
temporary differences of the members of the tax-consolidated group are recognised in the 
separate financial statements of the members of the tax-consolidated group using the ‘separate 
taxpayer within group’ approach. 

Current tax liabilities and assets and deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and tax 
credits of the members of the tax-consolidated group are recognised by the Company (as head 
entity in the tax-consolidated group). 

Due to the existence of a tax funding arrangement between the entities in the tax-consolidated 
group, amounts are recognised as payable to or receivable by the Company and each member of 
the group in relation to the tax contribution amounts paid or payable between the parent entity and 
the other members of the tax-consolidated group in accordance with the arrangement.  Further 
information about the tax funding arrangement is detailed in note 3 to the financial statements.  
Where the tax contribution amount is recognised by each member of the tax-consolidated group 
for a particular period is different to the aggregate of the current tax liability or asset and any 
deferred tax asset arising from unused tax credits in respect of that period, the difference is 
recognised as a contribution from (or distribution to) equity participants. 

(r) Share-based payments 

Equity-settled share-based payments are measured at fair value at the grant date.  Fair value is 
measured under the Black Scholes model for options and retention rights and the Monte Carlo 
Simulation Model for performance rights in circumstances where the value cannot be determined 
based on the service being delivered.  The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-
settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based 
on the Consolidated Entity’s estimate of the number of options and shares that will eventually 
vest. At the end of each reporting period, the Consolidated Entity revises its estimate of the 
number equity instruments expected to vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if 
any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, 
with a corresponding adjustment to the share rights reserve. 

(s) Borrowing costs 

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying 
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their 
intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets, until such time as the 
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. 
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Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their 
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation. 

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

(t) Non-current assets classified as held for sale and discontinued operations 

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will 
be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use.  This 
condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset (or disposal 
group) is available for immediate sale in its present condition.  Management must be committed to 
the sale, which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year 
from the date of classification. 

• When the Consolidated Entity is committed to a sale plan involving loss of control of a 
subsidiary, all of the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary are classified as held for sale when 
the criteria described above are met, regardless of whether the Consolidated Entity will retain a 
non-controlling interest in its former subsidiary after the sale. 

• Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held for sale are measured at the lower 
of their previous carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. 

• In the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, income and expenses from 
discontinued operations are reported separately from income and expenses from continuing 
operations, down to the level of profit after taxes, even when the Consolidated Entity retains a 
non-controlling interest in the subsidiary after the sale.  The resulting profit or loss (after taxes) 
is reported separately in the statement of comprehensive income. 

• Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets once classified as held for sale are not 
depreciated or amortised.

 (u) Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

 In the application of the Consolidated Entity’s accounting policies, management is required to 
make judgments, estimates and assumptions about carrying values of assets and liabilities that 
are not readily apparent from other sources.  The estimates and associated assumptions are 
based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under 
the circumstance, the results of which form the basis of making the judgments.  Actual results 
may differ from these estimates. 

• The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the 
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the 
revision affects both current and future periods. 

• Judgments made by management, in the application of the Consolidated Entity’s accounting 
policies, that have significant effects on the financial statements and estimates with a 
significant risk of material adjustments in the next year are disclosed, where applicable, in the 
relevant notes to the financial statements.

 (v) Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

 (i)   Exploration and evaluation expenditures 

The application of the Consolidated Entity’s accounting policy for exploration and evaluation 
expenditure requires judgement in determining whether it is likely that future economic 
benefits are likely either from exploitation or sale or where activities have not reached a stage 
which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence of reserves.  The deferral policy 
requires management to make certain estimates and assumptions as to future events and 
circumstances, in particular whether an economically viable extraction operation can be 
established.  Any such estimates and assumptions may change as new information becomes 
available.  If, after expenditure is capitalised, information becomes available suggesting that 
the recovery of the expenditure is unlikely, the relevant capitalised amount is written off in 
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profit or loss in the period when the information becomes available.

 (ii) Impairment of oil & gas assets 

In determining the recoverable amount of assets, in the absence of quoted market prices, 
estimations are made regarding the present value of future cash flows.  For oil and gas 
assets, expected future cash flow estimation is based on reserves, future production profiles, 
commodity prices and costs.  These estimates and assumptions are subject to risk and 
uncertainty.  Therefore, there is a possibility that changes in circumstances will impact these 
projections, which may impact the recoverable amount of the oil & gas assets. 

 (iii) Reserves estimates 

Estimates of recoverable quantities of proven and probable reserves include assumptions 
regarding commodity prices, exchange rates, discount rates and production and 
transportation costs for future cash flows.  It also requires interpretation of geological and 
geophysical models in order to make an assessment of the size, shape, depth and quality of 
reservoirs and their anticipated recoveries.  The economic, geological and technical factors 
used to estimate reserves may change from period to period.  Changes in reported reserves 
can impact asset carrying values, the provision for restoration and the recognition of deferred 
tax assets, due to changes in expected future cash flows.  Reserves are integral to the 
amount of depreciation, depletion and amortisation charged to the income statement and the 
calculation of inventory. 

 (iv) Decommissioning costs 

Decommissioning costs will be incurred by the Consolidated Entity at the end of the 
operating life of some of the Consolidated Entity’s facilities and properties.  The Consolidated 
Entity assesses its decommissioning provision at each reporting date.  The ultimate 
decommissioning costs are uncertain and cost estimates can vary in response to many 
factors, including changes to relevant legal requirements, the emergence of new restoration 
techniques or experience at other production sites.  The expected timing, extent and amount 
of expenditure can also change.  Therefore, significant estimates and assumptions are made 
in determining the provision for decommissioning.  As a result, there could be significant 
adjustments to the provisions established which would affect future financial results.  The 
provision at reporting date represents management’s best estimate of the present value of 
the future decommissioning costs required. 

 (v) Contingencies 

By their nature, contingencies will only be resolved when one or more uncertain future events 
occur or fail to occur.  The assessment of the existence, and potential quantum, of 
contingencies inherently involves the exercise of significant judgement and the use of 
estimates regarding the future outcome of events. 

 (vi) Classification of joint arrangements

Exploration, appraisal, development and production activities of the Consolidated Entity are 
conducted primarily through arrangements with other parties. Each arrangement has a 
contractual agreement which provides the participating parties rights to the assets and 
obligations for the liabilities of the arrangement. Under certain agreements, more than one 
combination of participants can make decisions about the relevant activities and therefore 
joint control does not exist. Where the arrangement has the same legal form as a joint 
operation but is not subject to joint control, the Consolidated Entity accounts for its interest in 
accordance with the contractual agreement by recognising its share of jointly held assets, 
liabilities, revenues and expenses of the arrangement. 

The Consolidated Entity's interest in joint arrangements is disclosed in note 18. The 
Consolidated Entity does not currently have any interest in other arrangements with the same 
legal form as a joint operation but that are not subject to joint control. 
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Consolidated 

2014 
US$’000 

Restated
2013

US$’000
2. Loss for the year from operations   

(a) Revenue   
Liquid sales  1,833 - 
Gas sales 24,717 26,118 

26,550 26,118 
Other revenue: 

Royalties received 54 239 
Interest received 185 1,669 

239 1,908 
26,789 28,026 

(b) Cost of sales
Depreciation of capitalised development costs  938 70
Production costs – Manora 640 -
Production costs – Third party gas 10,270 11,009
Other production costs  353 572

12,201 11,651
  

(c) Other Income    

Foreign exchange gain 81 3,271 
81 3,271  

    
 (d) Administration expenses    
 Loss before income tax has been arrived at after 

charging the following:   

Employee benefit expenses:  
Post employment benefits:  

Superannuation contributions  365 470 
Share-based payments:    

Equity settled share-based payments  719 836 
Other 4,739 6,879 

5,823 8,185 
Depreciation of office fixed assets  72 113 
Operating lease rental payments   705 761 
Other expenses, net of recoveries (i)  131 (2,493)

6,731 6,566 
(i) The other expenses are shown net of recoveries.  The recoveries represent costs, including time spent by 

the Consolidated Entity’s employees on exploration and production interests, which get recharged to the 
applicable exploration and production interests. 
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Consolidated

  Note 
2014 

US$’000 

Restated
2013

US$’000
2. Loss for the year from operations  

(cont’d)

  

(e) Finance costs 
Notional interest from unwinding discount on 
restoration provisions 375 533
Borrowing costs 1,846 465

2,221 998
  

(f) Impairment losses and write-downs 
Exploration impairment losses (i) 8 54,425 37,701
Exploration expenditure write-downs (i) 8 2,754 7,934

57,179 45,635
Property, plant and equipment impairment losses (ii) 7 20,886 -

78,065 45,634

(i) Exploration impairment losses and exploration expenditure write-downs are recognised when the carrying 
amount of the exploration and evaluation assets exceeds the recoverable amount. Estimates of recoverable 
amount are based on fair value less costs of disposal (level 3 fair value hierarchy as defined in Note 1). The 
impairment losses and write-downs noted in the table below represent the Directors best estimate of 
recoverable value using a fair value less costs of disposal approach with the key assumptions supporting this 
estimate including the relinquishment of permits, the lower oil price environment and in some cases a 
consequential reduction in future capital expenditure that diminishes or removes the path to 
commercialisation.   

Permit Country/ 
Company 

2014 
US$’000 Description 

WA33R Australia 7,902 

WA49R Australia 24,068 

WA34R Australia 2,735 The current low oil price environment has caused the 
estimates of recoverable value to fall significantly. 

WA8L Australia 2,020 

G1/48 Thailand 14,101 

Other Various 3,574 

VIC/P67 Australia 2,779 Impaired to nil due to election not to exercise option. 

57,179 

The exploration impairment losses/write-downs is included in the oil & gas exploration segment. 
(ii) Property, plant and equipment impairment losses relates to Manora impairment of $15.1 million and Airlie 

impairment of $5.8 million. 
The property, plant and equipment impairment losses are included in the oil & gas production and 
development segment. 

Consolidated

2014 
US$’000

Restated
2013

US$’000
(g) Other expenses 
New venture and Business Development expenditure 1,651 2,451
Provision for doubtful debts - 1,706
Rehabilitation/restoration expenses - 135
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 9 -
Other 582 451

2,242 4,743
(h) Depreciation 
Depreciation charges are included above in cost of sales (b) and administration expenses (d).  
Total depreciation for the Consolidated Entity is $0.938 million (2013: $0.189 million). 
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Consolidated

2014
US$’000

Restated
2013

US$’000
3. Income taxes    

(a) Income tax recognised in profit or loss  
Tax (benefit)/expense comprises:  
Current tax (benefit)/expense 1,253 (2,807) 
PRRT refund received (129) (107) 
Adjustments recognised in the current year in relation to the 
current tax of prior years (39) 104  
Deferred income tax relating to the origination and reversal 
of temporary differences (31,287) 4,008  
Foreign exchange impact on tax expense 1,533 (11) 
Deferred PRRT tax (credit)/expense (3,216) (1,354) 
Total income tax (benefit)/expense from continuing 
operations (31,885) (167) 

The prima facie income tax expense on pre-tax accounting 
profit from operations reconciles to the income tax expense 
in the financial statements as follows:

Loss before tax (74,590) (38,295) 
Income tax benefit calculated at 30% (22,377) (10,801) 

  

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 396 268  
Unused tax losses, tax offsets and temporary differences 
not recognised as deferred tax assets  1,321 18,310  
Prior year temporary differences now recognised (1,367) -  
Foreign tax rate adjustment on unrecognised deferred tax 
assets (5,822) (5,854) 
Foreign exchange impact on tax expense (708) 761  
PRRT related tax (credit)/expense (3,344) (1,462) 
Other 50 (777) 

(31,851) (242) 
Adjustments recognised in the current year in relation to the 
current tax of prior years (34) 75  
Income tax (benefit)/expense (31,885) (167) 

The tax rate used in the above reconciliation is the corporate tax rate of 30% payable by 
Australian corporate entities on taxable profits under Australian tax law.  There has been no 
change in the corporate tax rate when compared with the previous reporting period. 

Consolidated

2014
US$’000

Restated 
2013 

US$’000 

Restated
1 January 

2013 
US$’000 

(b) Current tax assets and liabilities   
Current tax liabilities:  
Tax payable - - 5,228 
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Consolidated

2014
US$’000

Restated 
2013 

US$’000 

Restated
1 January 

2013 
US$’000 

3. Income taxes  (cont’d)
(c) Deferred tax asset/(liability) balances 
Deferred tax liabilities comprise:   
Temporary differences – refer below 20,352 (10,768) (12,671) 

Opening 
balance 

Recognised 
in profit or 

loss 

Recognised 
in other 

comprehen-
sive income 

Recognised 
directly in 

equity 
Exchange 

differences
Closing 
balance 

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 

Consolidated 
2014 
Income tax losses carried 
forward 2,782  (1,214) - - (121) 1,447  
Property, plant & 
equipment (1,023) 1,503 - - (52) 428  
Deferred exploration (22,256) 16,336 - - 359 (5,561) 
Development - 11,414 - - (1,045) 10,370  
Restoration provisions 8,470  5,895 - - (1,264) 13,101  
Others 1,259  (646) - - (46) 567  

(10,768) 33,289 - - (2,169) 20,352  
2013 (Restated) 

 Income tax losses carried 
forward - 3,009 - - (227) 2,782  

 Property, plant & 
equipment (1,223) 34 - - 167 (1,023) 
Deferred exploration (22,066) (3,507) - - 3,316 (22,256) 
Restoration provisions 9,925  (89) - - (1,366) 8,470  
Others 693  716 - - (150) 1,259  

  (12,671) 163 - - 1,740 (10,768) 

Consolidated

2014
US$’000

Restated
2013 

US$’000 
Unrecognised deferred tax balances
The following deferred tax assets, relating to foreign 
operations, have not been brought to account as assets:  
Tax losses – revenue 16,414 -
Temporary differences - -

16,414 -

Consolidated
2014

AU$’000
2013

AU$’000 
(d) Franking account balance
On a tax paid basis 71,789 71,789 
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3. Income taxes  (cont’d)

Tax consolidation 

Relevance of tax consolidation to the Consolidated Entity 

The Company and its wholly-owned Australian resident entities formed a tax-consolidated group 
with effect from 1 January 2004 and are therefore taxed as a single entity from that date.  The head 
entity within the tax-consolidated group is Tap Oil Limited.  The members of the tax-consolidated 
group are identified at note 19. 

Nature of tax funding arrangements and tax sharing agreements 
Entities within the tax-consolidated group have entered into a tax funding and tax sharing 
arrangement with the head entity.  Under the terms of the tax funding agreement, each of the 
entities in the tax-consolidated group has agreed to pay a tax equivalent payment to or from the 
head entity based on the current tax liability or current tax asset of the entity.  Such amounts are 
reflected in amounts receivable from or payable to other entities in the tax-consolidated group. 
The tax sharing agreement entered into between members of the tax-consolidated group provides 
for the determination of the allocation of income tax liabilities between the entities should the head 
entity default on its tax payment obligations.  The effect of the tax sharing agreement is that each 
member’s liability for tax payable by the tax consolidated group is limited to the amount payable to 
the head entity under the tax funding arrangement. 

Consolidated 

2014
US$’000

Restated
2013

US$’000

Restated
1 January 2013

US$’000
4. Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables (i)  5,590 6,167 2,440

Allowance for doubtful debts  (1,446) (1,578) -

4,144 4,589 2,440

Joint operations’ debtors  4,330 3,757 1,199

Other receivables (ii)  12,311 2,184 3,656

20,785 10,530 7,295

Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts 

Balance at the beginning of the year  1,578 - -

Doubtful debts charge for the year  - 1,706 -

Foreign exchange difference  (132) (128) -

Balance at the end of the year  1,446 1,578 -

(i) Trade receivables relate to gas sales on terms that result in payment within 30 days from invoice.

(ii) Included in other receivables is $10 million receivable from Northern Gulf Petroleum representing 50% of the carry paid by 
Tap since 2010 on behalf of Northern Gulf Petroleum. 

At 31 December 2014 the amount receivable from Apex Gold Pty Ltd of US$1.4 million has been 
fully provided for as the company went into administration. There are no material amounts included 
in the Consolidated Entity’s trade receivable balance (2013:  nil) which are past due, but not 
considered impaired, at the reporting date.  The Consolidated Entity does not hold any collateral 
over the accounts receivable balances. 
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Consolidated

2014
US$’000

Restated
2013

US$’000

Restated
1 January 2013

US$’000
5. Inventories     

Oil in storage – at cost  5,033 - - 
Materials and consumables – at cost 5,646 2,950 853 

10,679 2,950 853 

6. Other current assets     
Prepayments 377 496 608 

Prepaid gas 2,955 3,651 5,554 

3,332 4,147 6,162 

7. Property, plant and equipment    
Development expenditures   
Gross carrying amount – at cost: 
Opening balance  166,030 145,946 91,466 

Additions 72,924 33,496 13,466 

Adjustment in respect of carry  (ii)  (5,166) - - 

Foreign exchange differences  (6,642) (14,039) - 

Transfer from exploration expenditure  221 627 41,014 

Closing balance (i) 227,367 166,030 145,946 

Accumulated depreciation: 
Opening balance  74,964 86,930 86,860 
Provision for impairment losses 2(f) 20,886 - - 
Foreign exchange differences  (6,793) (12,031) - 
Depreciation  4,049 65 70 
Closing balance 93,106 74,964 86,930 
Net book value  134,261 91,066 59,016 

  
Office improvements, furniture & equipment 
Gross carrying amount – at cost: 
Opening balance 3,369 3,893 3,931 

Additions 33 11 135 

Foreign exchange differences (281) (535) - 

Asset write-offs (428) - (173)

Closing balance 2,693 3,369 3,893 

Accumulated depreciation: 
Opening balance 3,187 3,573 3,553 
Asset write-offs (462) - (168)
Foreign exchange differences (230) (491) - 
Depreciation 72 105 188 
Closing balance 2,567 3,187 3,573 
Net book value 126 182 320 

Total – net book value 134,387 91,248 59,336 
(i) The cost of development expenditures includes Manora abandonment asset of $10.4 million and Airlie 

abandonment asset of $0.806 million.
(ii) Relates to 50% of the development portion of the carry of $20 million paid by Tap since 2010 on behalf 

of Northern Gulf Petroleum that is now receivable, and has therefore been transferred to other debtors. 
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7. Property, plant and equipment  (cont’d)

Impairment of development expenditures 

At 31 December 2014, the Consolidated Entity has assessed each cash generating unit to 
determine whether an impairment indicator existed.  Based on the current declining oil prices, the 
Airlie development asset may not be recoverable through development or sale and has therefore 
been fully impaired by $5.8 million at 31 December 2014.   

The recoverable amount of the Manora development asset of $134.4 million (2013: $86.4 million) 
has been determined based on a fair value model using cash flow projections from financial 
budgets covering a eleven-year period. As a result of the current declining oil prices, recoverable 
amount of $134.4 million for Manora resulted in an impairment loss of $15.1 million being 
recognised for the year. 

The following assumptions were used in the assessment of the recoverable amount: 

• Discount rate – pre-tax discount rate of 12.5% (2013: 12.5%) has been applied to the cash 
flow projections; 

• Inflation rate – Thailand inflation rate of 2% (2013: 1.5%) has been applied to the cash flow 
projections; 

• Oil price – the oil price applied to the cash flow projections is based on the average of the 
Brent forward and economic consensus price at the date of assessment for 5 years then 
reverting to long term US$80/bbl. 

Sensitivity analysis 

It is estimated that changes in the key assumptions would have resulted in the following additional 
impairment at year end: 

2014
$’000

Discount rate: 1% increase 1,625
Inflation rate: 1% increase 925
Long term oil price reduction of US$5/bbl (real)  1,125
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Consolidated 

Note 
2014

US$’000

Restated
2013

US$’000

Restated
1 January 2013

US$’000
8. Exploration and evaluation 

assets 
   

Exploration and/or evaluation phase   
At cost  109,010 141,964 119,511 
Less:  impairment   (87,927) (60,997) (28,924)
Net carrying value  21,083 80,967 90,587 

Reconciliation of movement:  
Opening balance  80,967 90,587 146,605 
Current year exploration expenditure  3,774 43,466 20,282 
Exploration impairment losses/write-
downs 2(f) (57,179) (45,635) (8,989)
Transfer to development expenditure  (222) (627) (41,014)
Foreign exchange movement  (1,423) (6,743) - 
Carry transferred to other debtors (iii)  (4,834) - - 
Disposals  - -  (21,981)
Farm-out of partial interest in WA320P 
and WA155P(i)  - (81) - 
Farm-out of interest in Accra Joint 
Venture (ii)  - -  (4,316)
Closing balance  21,083 80,967 90,587 

Movement in the impairment provision:  
Balance at the beginning of the year  (60,997) (28,924) (19,935)
Impairment provision (increase)  (54,425) (37,701) (8,989)
Write offs against provision  25,656 - - 
Foreign exchange movement  1,839 5,628  - 
Balance at the end of the year  (87,927) (60,997) (28,924)
(i) In 2013 Tap reduced its participating interest in WA-320-P from 19.78% to 9.78% and WA-155-P from 13.5% to 6.5%.  
(ii) Tap reduced its participating interest in the Offshore Accra Contract Area from 40% to 17.5% in 2012. 
(iii) Relates to the 50% of the exploration and evaluation portion of the carry of $20 million paid by Tap since 2010 on behalf of 

Northern Gulf Petroleum that is now receivable, and has therefore been transferred to other debtors. 

Ultimate recoupment of this expenditure is dependent upon the continuance of the Consolidated 
Entity’s right to tenure of the areas of interest and the discovery of commercially viable oil and gas 
reserves, their successful development and exploitation, or, alternatively, sale of the respective areas of 
interest at an amount at least equal to book value.

Impairment losses are provided when the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount. 

Exploration expenditure is written off and any related impairment losses released when permits are 
relinquished or disposed. 
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Consolidated

2014
US$’000

Restated
2013

US$’000

Restated
1 January 2013

US$’000
9. Loans and Borrowings    

Secured bank loans – at amortised cost 
Amount drawn 65,400 - -
Transaction costs (1,145) - -

64,255 - -

Current  12,850 - -
Non-current 51,405 - -

64,255 - -

During the period the Consolidated entity entered into a combined borrowing base facility with 
BNP Paribas for up to $90 million. Effective 1 December 2014, BNP Paribas syndicated 33.3% 
of the facility to Siam Commercial Bank. The facility is secured over the Manora development 
assets (with a carrying value of $134.4 million at 31 December 2014) and the third party gas 
assets (these are forward contracts and do not have a book value). The effective interest rate is 
5.98%.  Final Maturity date of the facility is May 2018. 

Consolidated

2014
US$’000

Restated
2013

US$’000

Restated
1 January 2013

US$’000
10. Trade and other payables    

Trade payables (i) 1,451 15,608 2,589
Share of joint operations’ payables 15,085 25,268 8,088
Goods and services tax (GST) payable 338 121 296
Other payables 5,344 4,834 4,152
Income received in advance 4,869 2,358 5,674

27,087 48,189 20,799
(i) The credit period on purchases averages between 7 and 30 days.  No interest is charged on trade payables. 

The Consolidated Entity has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all payables are paid within 
the credit timeframe.
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Consolidated 

2014
US$’000

Restated
2013

US$’000

Restated
1 January 2013

US$’000
11. Provisions    

Current 
Employee benefits 387 539  738 
Restoration costs 2,133 2,629  2,859 

2,520 3,168  3,597 

Non-current 
Employee benefits  94 121  160 
Restoration costs 22,955 12,569  14,781 

23,049 12,690  14,941 
Restoration costs provision 
Reconciliation of movement: 
Opening balance 15,198 17,640  16,422 
Increase resulting from re-measurement  11,240 30  2,565 

 Reductions resulting from re-measurement or 
settlement without cost (57) (206) - 
Unwinding of discount 375 533  549 
Restoration costs incurred (368) (320) (1,896)
Foreign exchange movement (1,300) (2,479) - 
Closing balance 25,088 15,198  17,640 

The provision for restoration costs represents the present value of the directors’ best estimate of the 
future sacrifice of economic benefits that will be required to remove plant and equipment and abandon 
producing and suspended wells. The unexpired terms used in the present value calculations are various 
periods up to the year 2022.  
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Consolidated

2014
US$’000

Restated
2013

US$’000

Restated
1 January 2013

US$’000
12. Issued capital   

243,186,639 fully paid ordinary shares  
(2013: 242,115,528) 133,175 133,175 133,175

2014  2013 
No.

’000 US$’000
No.

’000 
Restated
US$’000

Fully paid ordinary shares     
Balance at beginning of financial year 242,116 133,175  241,295 133,175
Issue of shares under share-based 
payment schemes (note 22) 1,071 -  821 -
Balance at end of financial year 243,187 133,175  242,116 133,175
During the year, 1,071,111 shares (2013: 821,217) were issued as a result of employee retention 
share rights.   

Fully paid ordinary shares carry one vote per share and carry the right to dividends. 

Share performance and retention rights

• In accordance with the provisions of the share-based payment schemes, employees had 
12,128,057 (2013: 13,146,676) outstanding performance and retention rights over ordinary 
shares at 31 December 2014.  A total of 1,071,111 of the performance and retention rights 
vested during the year ended 31 December 2014 (2013: 1,031,664).     

• A total of 2,833,220 (2013:  2,313,136) performance and retention rights were forfeited during 
the 2014 financial year.  A total of 1,019,863 performance rights and retention rights lapsed 
during the 2014 financial year (2013: 2,833,220). 

• The performance and retention rights carry no rights to dividends and no voting rights.  Further 
details of the share-based payment schemes are contained in note 22 to the financial 
statements. 
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13. Reserves
Nature and purpose of reserves

Share options and rights reserve

The share options reserve and the share rights reserve reflect the cost of share related share-based 
payments – refer note 1(r) explaining the grant date fair value of options and rights issued to 
employees but not exercised. 

The reserve comprises the credit to equity for equity-settled share-based payment arrangements 
under AASB 2 – Share-based payments. The standard requires that the expense be charged to the 
profit and loss component of the statement of comprehensive income, while a credit needs to be 
raised against equity over the vesting period.

For further information on the share-based payment schemes refer note 22.

Foreign currency translation reserve 

Used to record foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of 
foreign entities from their functional currency to the Consolidated Entity’s presentation currency. The 
reserve is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income when the net investment is 
disposed. 

Current year profit reserve 

A profit reserve has been created in selected entities within the tax consolidated group (refer note 
19). The balance represents an appropriation of amounts from retained earnings for the payment of 
future dividends. 

14. Earnings per share Consolidated 

2014
Cents per

share

Restated
2013

Cents per
share  

  
Basic  and diluted earnings per share (17.6) (15.8)

  
Basic earnings per share:   

The earnings and weighted average number of ordinary shares 
used in the calculation of basic earnings per share are as follows:

2014
US$’000

Restated
2013

US$’000

Earnings used in the calculation of basic earnings per share from 
continuing operations (42,705) (38,128)

  
2014

No.’000
2013

No.’000
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of 
basic earnings per share 242,723 241,241 
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14. Earnings per share (cont’d)   
Diluted earnings per share: Consolidated

The earnings and weighted average number of ordinary shares 
used in the calculation of diluted earnings per share are as follows:

2014
US$’000

Restated
2013

US$’000

Earnings used in the calculation of diluted earnings per share from 
continuing operations (42,705) (38,128)

  
2014

No.’000
2013

No.’000
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of 
diluted earnings per share (a) 242,723 241,316 

(a) The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the 
purposes of diluted earnings per share reconciles to the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the 
calculation of basic earnings per share as follows:

2014
No.’000

2013
No.’000

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the 
calculation of diluted EPS 242,723 241,316 

15. Commitments for expenditure
(a) Capital expenditure commitments 

Committed expenditures that have not been provided for in 
the financial statements:   
Property, plant and equipment   
Not longer than 1 year 9,032 65,268 
Longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years - 4,900 
Longer than 5 years - - 

9,032 70,168 
  

Exploration expenditure   
Not longer than 1 year 8,694 14,796 
Longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years 2,122 5,899 
Longer than 5 years - - 

10,816 20,695 
These commitments represent Tap’s share of joint operations’ commitments. The 
commitments for exploration expenditure include the minimum expenditure requirements of 
various government regulatory bodies and joint operations that the Consolidated Entity is 
required to meet in order to retain its present permit interests.  These obligations may be 
subject to renegotiation, may be farmed out or may be relinquished.  No amounts have been 
included for permits where an application for renewal has been made to the designated 
authority and is pending. 

The property, plant and equipment commitments represent Tap’s share of the G1/48 Joint 
operation commitments in respect of the Manora Development. 
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15. Commitments for expenditure (cont’d)
Under the terms of the Good Standing Agreement entered into with the Joint Authority in 
relation to T/47P in October 2013, Tap is required to spend A$5.8 million in order to maintain 
its good standing with the Joint Authority.  Any expenditure to be credited against this 
obligation must be expended on field activities within the primary terms of Qualifying Permits 
in Australian waters.  This includes both prime acreage and re-release areas and must be 
obtained by the completion of the 2015 Acreage Release.  This amount is not included in the 
commitments table above. 

(b) Lease commitments

Non-cancellable operating lease commitments are disclosed in note 16 to the financial 
statements. 

16. Leases 
Operating leases
Leasing arrangements 
The Consolidated Entity has non-cancellable operating leases for the following: 
(i) Office premises – the premises lease expires on 31 January 2018 
(ii) Office equipment – the copy management plan expires on 29 November 2015. 

Consolidated
2014

US$’000
2013

US$’000
Non-cancellable operating lease commitments 
Not longer than 1 year 514 536
Longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years 1,129 1,792
Longer than 5 years - -

1,643 2,328

17. Segment information 
The Consolidated Entity derives its revenue from the sale of oil & gas. 

Information reported to the Consolidated Entity’s chief operating decision maker for the purposes of 
resource allocation and assessment of performance is focussed on the separate divisions managed 
by each individual member of senior management.  Based on this, the Consolidated Entity’s 
reportable segments under AASB 8 are as follows: 

- Oil & gas production and development 

- Oil & gas exploration 

- Third party gas 

The oil & gas production and development segment includes the assets moved from the exploration 
phase to the development phase. This segment also includes producing assets. The Manora (G1/48) 
development asset is included here as it commenced production during Nov 2014. There were no 
producing assets at 31 December 2013.   

The oil & gas exploration segment includes all the areas of interest still in their exploration phase.  
This segment primarily incurs the exploration expenditure in the Consolidated Entity.   

The Third party gas segment includes the purchases and sale of gas. The gas purchases are based 
on contracted quantities and sales are done via agreements with customers or in certain instances 
via market sales.  The segment is managed by the Commercial Manager. 
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17. Segment information  (cont’d)

The following is an analysis of the Consolidated Entity’s revenue and results from continuing 
operations by reportable operating segment for the periods under review: 

Revenue Segment result

2014
US$’000

Restated
2013

US$’000
2014

US$’000

Restated
2013

US$’000
    

 Oil & gas production 
and development 1,833 -  (22,179) (1,265) 
Oil & gas exploration - -  (58,353) (48,251) 
Third party gas 24,717 26,118  14,188  12,430  

26,550 26,118  (66,344) (37,086) 
Interest revenue    185  1,669  
Finance costs    (1,846) (465) 

 Central administration 
costs    (4,650) (3,118) 

 Foreign exchange 
gain/(loss)     81  3,271  
Other expenses    (2,016) (2,567) 
Loss before tax    (74,590) (38,296) 

 Income tax 
benefit/(expense)    31,885  167  

 Loss for the year from 
continuing operations    (42,705) (38,129) 

Segment revenues and results

Segment profit/(loss) represents the profit earned by each segment or loss made by each segment 
without the allocation of centralised administration expenses, recoveries of administration expenses 
recognised on a Consolidated Entity level, interest revenue, foreign exchange losses and income tax 
benefits. 

The revenue represents oil and gas sales (2013: gas sales) to external customers with no 
intersegment sales during the period.  All of the $1.887 million oil revenue was sold to one customer.  
Included in revenues arising from direct sales of third party gas of $24.7 million (2012:  $27.0 million) 
are revenues of $22.7 million (2013: $14.1 million) which arose from sales to the Consolidated 
Entity’s largest third party gas customer. 



Tap Oil Limited 
Consolidated statement of cash flows 

64 

17. Segment information  (cont’d)

Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Consolidated Entity’s assets and liabilities by reportable operating 
segment for the periods under review: 

Assets Liabilities

2014
US$’000

Restated
2013

US$’000
2014

US$’000

Restated
2013

US$’000
    

Oil & gas production and 
development 153,958 96,728  41,297 50,683
Oil & gas exploration 25,898 81,995  3,466 6,135
Third party gas 5,142 8,417  6,189 8,252
Total segment assets and 
liabilities 184,998 187,140  50,952 65,070
Unallocated assets and 
liabilities 39,654 41,638  65,959 12,695
Consolidated total assets 
and liabilities 224,652 228,778  116,911 77,765
For the purpose of measuring segment performance and allocating resources between segments, the 
chief operating decision maker monitors the tangible, intangible and financial assets attributable to each 
segment.  All assets and liabilities are allocated to reportable segments except for cash and cash 
equivalents and tax-related assets and liabilities.

Other segment information

Depreciation and 
amortisation  

Additions to non-current 
assets 

2014
US$’000

Restated
2013

US$’000
2014

US$’000

Restated
2013

US$’000
    

Oil & gas production 
and development 938 70  67,758 33,496 
Oil & gas exploration - -  3,774 43,466 
Other 72 113  33 11 
  1,010 183  71,565 76,974 
       
In addition to the depreciation and amortisation expense reported above, exploration expenditure 
write-downs/impairment losses of $57.2 million (2013:  $47.1 million) were recognised in respect of exploration 
and evaluation assets.  Impairment losses of $20.8 million (2013: nil) were also recognised in respect of 
property, plant and equipment. Both the exploration and evaluation assets and property, plant and equipment 
write-downs/impairment losses were attributable to oil & gas exploration and oil & gas production and 
development. There were no other material non-cash expenses attributable to individual segments. 

Geographical information 
The Consolidated Entity operates in two principal geographical areas – Australia and Asia . 

Revenue from external 
customers  Non-current assets 

2014
US$’000 

Restated2013
US$’000

2014
US$’000

Restated 2013
US$’000

    
Australia 24,717 26,118  34,513 69,778 
Asia 1,833 -  141,309 102,437 
  26,550 26,118  175,822 172,215 
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18. Interests in joint operations  
The Consolidated Entity has interests in numerous joint operations in Australia and Thailand. 
The principal activity of the joint operations is oil & gas exploration and production. 
Refer to the table below for a full list of the licences and permits held by the Consolidated Entity. 

Working interest (%) 
2014 2013

Exploration permits     
Western Australia     
TP/7    12.47 12.47 
WA-8-L   20.00 20.00 
WA-33-R   22.47 22.47 
WA-34-R   12.00 12.00 
WA-49-R   10.00 10.00 
WA-290-P   10.00 10.00 
WA-320-P      9.78 9.78 
WA-155-P   13.55 13.55 
WA-351-P   20.00 20.00 

    
Ghana     
Offshore Accra Contract Area(i) - 17.50 

    
Thailand     
G1/48   30.00 30.00 
G3/48   30.00 30.00 

  
Production & Pipeline Licences   
Western Australia   
TL/2  10.00 10.00 
WA-22-L  15.00 15.00 
WA-25-L  15.00 15.00 
PL/14  10.00 10.00 
TPL/3  10.00 10.00 
TPL/4  10.00 10.00 
TPL/7  10.00 10.00 
(i) Tap withdrew from the Offshore Accra Contract Area on 23 April 2014.  Final approval was obtained from the Ministry of 

Energy and Petroleum in November 2014. 

The Consolidated Entity has a material joint operation, Manora Oil Development.  The Consolidated 
Entity has a 30% share in the ownership of Manora located in the northern gulf of Thailand.  The 
Consolidated Entity is entitled to a proportionate share of oil revenue and bears a proportionate 
share of the joint operation’s expenses.
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18. Interests in joint operations  (cont’d)

Joint Operations’ net assets

The Consolidated Entity’s share of assets and liabilities in joint operations is detailed below. 
The amounts are included in the consolidated financial statements in their respective categories: 

Consolidated

2014
US$’000

Restated
2013

US$’000
Current assets   
Cash 9,562  2,598  
Receivables 4,330  3,757  
Inventories 10,679  2,950  
Total current assets 24,571  9,305  
Non-current assets   
Property, plant and equipment  134,387  91,066  
Exploration and evaluation assets  21,083  80,967  
Total non-current assets 155,470  172,033  
Total assets 180,041  181,338  
Current liabilities   
Trade and other payables 15,085  25,268  
Provision for restoration 2,133  2,629  
Total current liabilities 17,218  27,897  
Non-current liabilities   
Provision for restoration 22,955  12,569  
Total non-current liabilities 22,955  12,569  
Total liabilities 40,173  40,466  
Net assets 139,868  140,872  

  
Revenues 1,887  239  
Cost of sales (1,928) (38) 
Other (expenses)/income  (238) 945  
(Loss)/profit before income tax (279) 1,146  

Capital commitments and contingent liabilities 

The capital commitments arising from the Consolidated Entity’s interests in joint operations are 
disclosed in note 15.  No contingent liabilities have been identified beyond those set out in note 26.
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19. Subsidiaries 

Name of entity Country of 
incorporation 

Ownership interest
  2014

% 
2013

% 
Parent entity 
Tap Oil Limited (i) Australia   
Subsidiaries (ii)

Tap West Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
Tap (Shelfal) Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
Tap (New Zealand) Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
Tap Oil (Philippines) Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
Tap (Ghana) Pty Ltd  Australia 100 100 
Tap Oil (Ghana) Ltd (iii) Ghana 100 100 
Tap Energy (Rangkas) Pty Ltd  Australia 100 100 
Tap Bass Pty Ltd (iv) Australia 100 100 
Tap Energy (Thailand) Pty Ltd  Australia 100 100 
Tap (Zola) Pty Ltd (v) Australia 100 100 
Tap (WA Gas) Pty Ltd (v) Australia 100 100 
Tap Energy (Finance) Pty Ltd (vi) Australia 100 100 
Tap Energy (GOT) Limited (vii) Thailand - 100 
Tap (Shale) Pty Ltd  Australia 100 100 
Tap (Maitland) Pty Ltd (viii) Australia 100 100 
Tap (SCB) Pty Ltd (ix) Australia 100 100 
Tap (NCB) Pty Ltd (x) Australia 100 100 
Tap (Alpha) Pty Ltd (xi) Australia 100 100 
Tap (Bonaparte) Pty Ltd (xii) Australia 100 100 
Tap Energy (Australia) Pty Ltd (xiii) Australia 100 100 
Tap Energy (SE Asia) Pte Ltd (xiv) Singapore 100 - 
Tap Energy (M-7) Pte Ltd (xv) Singapore 100 - 

   
(i) Tap Oil Limited is the head entity of the tax-consolidated group. 

(ii) All subsidiaries incorporated in Australia are members of the tax-consolidated group.   

(iii) Tap Oil (Ghana) Ltd is a wholly owned subsidiary of Tap (Ghana) Pty Ltd. 

(iv) Tap Bass Pty Ltd is a wholly owned subsidiary of Tap Energy (Australia) Pty Ltd. 

(v) Tap (Zola) Pty Ltd is a wholly owned subsidiary of Tap Energy (Australia) Pty Ltd. 

(vi) Tap Energy (Vietnam) Pty Ltd changed its name to Tap Energy (Finance) Pty Ltd on 24 April 2014. 

(vii) Tap Energy (GOT) Limited was a wholly owned subsidiary of Tap Energy (Thailand) Pty Ltd.  Tap Energy (GOT) 
Limited was registered for dissolution on 2 July 2013 and completed liquidation on 13 June 2014. 

(viii) Tap (Maitland) Pty Ltd is a wholly owned subsidiary of Tap Energy (Australia) Pty Ltd. 

(ix) Tap (SCB) Pty Ltd is a wholly owned subsidiary of Tap Energy (Australia) Pty Ltd. 

(x) Tap (NCB) Pty Ltd is a wholly owned subsidiary of Tap Energy (Australia) Pty Ltd. 

(xi) Tap (Alpha) Pty Ltd is a wholly owned subsidiary of Tap Energy (Australia) Pty Ltd. 

(xii) Tap (Bonaparte) Pty Ltd was incorporated on 24 April 2013 and is a wholly owned subsidiary of Tap Energy (Australia) 
Pty Ltd. 

(xiii) Tap (Amulet) Pty Ltd was incorporated on 24 April 2013 and changed its name to Tap Energy (Australia) Pty Ltd. 

(xiv) Tap Energy (SE Asia) Pte Ltd was incorporated on 26 September 2014. 

(xv) Tap Energy (M-7) Pte Ltd was incorporated on 26 September 2014 and is a wholly owned subsidiary of Tap Energy 
(SE Asia) Pte Ltd. 

The principal activity of all the subsidiaries is oil and gas exploration and production, except for Tap 
(WA Gas) Pty Ltd where the principal activity is the purchase and subsequent sale of gas.
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20. Notes to the cash flow statement 
Consolidated

2014
US$’000

Restated
2013

    US$’000
(a) Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash 
flow, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand 
and in banks and cash held in joint ventures.

Cash and cash equivalents 7,781 38,936  
Restricted cash and cash equivalents(i) 6,253 -  

14,034 38,936  
(i) Under the terms of the BNP borrowing base facility, as 

at 31 December 2014 these funds can only be used 
toward the assets secured under the facility (Manora 
and G1/48 commitments and the third party gas 
assets). 

(b) Reconciliation of loss for the period to net cash flows 
from operating activities
Loss for the year – continuing operations (42,705) (38,128) 

  
Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets 1,010  183  
Foreign exchange (gain)/loss (81) -  
Equity settled share-based payments  719  836  
Property, plant and equipment impairment 20,886  -  
Exploration impairment losses/write-downs 57,179  45,634  
Furniture and equipment write downs (34) -  
Non-cash interest expense 375  532  
Finance costs paid 1,007  430  
Rehabilitation/restoration expense adjustments (31) (135) 
Unrealised foreign exchange differences -  (780) 
(Decrease)/increase in current tax balances -  (7,287) 
Increase/(decrease) in deferred tax balances (31,885) 2,631  

  
Changes in net assets and liabilities:   

(Increase)/decrease in assets:   
Current receivables (163) (2,485) 
Current inventories -  263  
Other current assets 815  1,162  

(Decrease)/increase in liabilities:   
Current payables (3,714) 131  
Employee provisions (178) (115) 
Unearned revenue 2,511  (2,531) 

Net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities 5,711  341  
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21. Financial instruments 
(a) Capital risk management

The Consolidated Entity manages its capital to ensure that it will be able to continue as 
a going concern while maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the 
debt and equity balance. 

The capital structure of the Consolidated Entity consists of net debt (borrowings as detailed 
in note 9 offset by cash and bank balances) and equity attributable to equity holders, 
comprising issued capital, reserves and retained earnings as disclosed in the statement of 
changes in equity. 

The Consolidated Entity’s Board of Directors reviews the capital structure on an ongoing 
basis to ensure there are sufficient capital facilities in place to meet funding requirements for 
at least the next 12 months. As a part of this review the Board of Directors considers the cost 
of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. The debt portfolio is managed 
by monitoring forecast liquidity against the debt portfolio, to ensure a minimum equity buffer 
is accessible at all times. 

As at December 2014, the Consolidated Entity has a borrowing base facility of up to 
$90 million of which $64 million had been drawn down (see note 9). 

(b) Significant accounting policies

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for 
recognition, the basis of measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are 
recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument 
are disclosed in note 1 to the financial statements. 

(c) Categories of financial instruments

Consolidated
  

2014
US$’000

Restated
2013

US$’000
Financial assets   
Cash and cash equivalents 14,034 38,936 
Trade and other receivables  20,785 10,529 

  
Financial liabilities   
Trade and other payables 27,087 48,189 
Loans and Borrowings at amortised costs 64,255 - 

(d) Financial risk management objectives 

The Consolidated Entity does not enter into or trade financial instruments, including 
derivative financial instruments, for speculative purposes.  The use of financial derivatives is 
governed by the Consolidated Entity’s policies approved by the Board of Directors, which 
provide written principles on the use of financial derivatives. 

The Consolidated Entity’s operations expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in 
crude oil prices and foreign currency exchange rates.  The Consolidated Entity may enter into 
a variety of derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to crude oil price and 
foreign currency risk, including: 

•  forward oil price contracts; and 

•  forward foreign exchange contracts. 
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21. Financial instruments  (cont’d)

(e) Oil price risk management

The Consolidated Entity’s revenue is exposed to oil price fluctuations. Exposure to oil price 
risk is measured by monitoring and stress testing the Consolidated Entity’s forecast financial 
position to sustained periods of low oil prices. This analysis is regularly performed on the 
Consolidated Entity’s portfolio and, as required, for discrete projects and acquisitions. 

Commodity hedging may be undertaken where the Board of Directors determines that 
a hedging strategy is appropriate to mitigate potential periods of adverse movements in 
commodity price. This will be balanced against the desire to expose shareholders to oil price 
upside. Commodity hedging may also be undertaken when there is a hedging requirement 
under a lending facility. There were no commodity hedges undertaken during the year. 

(f) Oil Price sensitivity

The following table details the Consolidated Entity’s sensitivity to a 10% and 20% increase 
and decrease in the oil price. Sensitivities to such possible movements are used when 
reporting oil price risk internally to key management personnel to represent management’s 
near term assessment of the possible change in oil prices. The sensitivity analysis below 
includes current year sales levels varied by a 10% and 20% increase in the Consolidated 
Entity’s average oil price. A positive number indicates an increase in profit and equity where 
the oil price increases. For a 10% and 20% decrease in the Australian dollar oil price, there 
would be a comparable impact on the profit and equity, and the balances below would 
be negative.

Consolidated
Oil Price Impact

2014
US$’000

2013
US$’000

 Profit or loss:  10%  183 -
Profit or loss:  20% 367 -

(g) Foreign currency risk management 

Foreign currency risk arises from future commitments, assets and liabilities that are 
denominated in a currency that is not the functional currency in which they are measured.   

For Tap Energy (Thailand) Pty Ltd which owns the interest in the Manora oil field, the 
functional currency is USD. Manora crude revenue, local taxes and some expenses are 
denominated in Thai Baht and hence are exposed to foreign currency risk.  

For all group companies except for Tap Energy (Thailand) Pty Ltd, the functional currency 
is Australian dollars (AUD). Some items of capital expenditure relating to the Australian 
exploration portfolio can be denominated in USD such as drilling or seismic.Some 
corporate administration costs such as insurance may also be denominated in USD. As a 
result, such items are exposed to foreign currency risk. 

Measuring the exposure to foreign exchange risk is achieved by regularly monitoring and 
stress testing the Consolidated Entity’s forecast financial position to sustained periods of 
adverse foreign exchange rates. 

A foreign exchange hedging strategy may be undertaken to mitigate the negative impacts 
of adverse exchange rates on the Consolidated Entity’s forecast cash flows. 
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21. Financial instruments  (cont’d)

The Consolidated Entity’s exposure to foreign currency balances (compared to the 
presentation currency of USD) at year end is contained in the table below: 

Consolidated
Assets Liabilities

2014
$’000 

2013
$’000 

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

Australian Dollars 5,685 16,192 9,537 9,888
Thai Baht 1,957 - - -

(h) Foreign currency sensitivity 

 The Consolidated Entity is mainly exposed to Australian dollars (AUD) and Thai Baht (THB). 

The following table details the Consolidated Entity’s sensitivity to a 10% and 20% increase 
and decrease in the Australian dollar and Thai Baht against the US dollar.  Management 
considers foreign exchange sensitivity when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key 
management personnel.  Management continually monitors exchange rate forecasts and 
assesses the impact of possible changes in foreign exchange rates.  The sensitivity analysis 
only includes outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their 
translation at the period end for a 10% and 20% strengthening in foreign currency rates.   

Consolidated
US Dollar Impact

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

Australian Dollars: 
Profit or loss:  10% (385) 630

 Profit or loss:  20% (770) 1,261
  
 Thai Baht: 
 Profit or loss:  10% 196 -
 Profit or loss:  20% 391 -

(i) Interest rate risk management 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the Consolidated Entity’s financial position will fluctuate due 
to changes in market interest rates.  The Consolidated Entity’s exposure to the risk of 
changes in market interest rates relates primarily to long term debt obligations, cash and 
short term deposits. 

The Consolidated Entity’s exposure to interest rate risk is measured by monitoring the 
interest rate ratio within the current and forecast debt portfolio to determine the current and 
forecast fixed rate debt to total debt interest rate ratio.  In general, the forecast fixed rate debt 
to total debt interest rate ratio is managed through the appropriate choice of funding 
instrument, but when this cannot be prudently achieved, the Board of Directors may 
authorise the implementation of interest rate hedge transactions.  There were no interest rate 
hedges undertaken during the year. 

(j) Interest rate sensitivity

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on exposure to interest rates at 
the reporting date and the stipulated change taking place at the beginning of the financial 
year and held constant throughout the year.  Varying sensitivities are used when reporting 
interest rate risk internally to key management personnel that represent management’s 
assessment of the possible change in interest rates.  
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21. Financial instruments  (cont’d)

At the reporting date, if interest rates had been 50 basis points higher or lower and all other 
variables were held constant, the Consolidated Entity’s profit or loss and equity for the year 
will be impacted as follows: 

Consolidated
Interest Rate Impact

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

Profit or loss:  50 basis points increase  (268) 182 
Profit or loss:  50 basis points decrease  268 (182)

(k) Credit risk management 

 Credit risk is the risk that a contracting entity will not complete its obligation under a financial 
instrument, resulting in a financial loss to the Consolidated Entity.  Credit risk arises from the 
financial assets of the Consolidated Entity, which comprise trade and other receivables and 
deposits with banks and financial instruments. 

The Consolidated Entity has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy customers 
and counterparties.  Receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result 
that the Consolidate Entity’s exposure to bad debts is not significant. 

The Consolidated Entity may at times have a high credit risk exposure to a single customer in 
relation to oil liftings or gas sales. The above-mentioned credit risk management procedures 
are followed in these instances. Of the total trade receivables balance of $5.590 million in 
the Consolidated Entity at 31 December 2014 (2013:  $6.167 million), $4.146 million 
(2013:  $4.604 million) relate to the two (2013: two) largest customers. Included in the trade 
receivables balance at 31 December 2014 is an amount of $1.706 million from Apex Gold 
Pty Ltd which was provided for in 2013. 

The credit risk on liquid funds and derivative financial instruments is limited as the 
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating 
agencies. 

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, net of any 
allowances for losses, represents the Consolidated Entity’s maximum exposure to credit risk. 

(l) Liquidity risk management

 Liquidity risk is the risk that the Consolidated Entity will not have sufficient funds available to 
meet its financial commitments as and when they fall due.  Liquidity is monitored and 
managed on an ongoing, forward-looking basis with day-to-day liquidity requirements met by 
drawing on internally generated cash flows, existing cash balances and existing debt 
facilities.   
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21. Financial instruments  (cont’d)

(m) Maturity profile of financial instruments

The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities 
based on the earliest date the Consolidated Entity can be required to pay. The following table 
details the Consolidated Entity’s exposure to liquidity risk:  

Consolidated 
Weighted 
average 
effective  

interest rate 

Less than 1 
month 1-3 months 3 months to 

1 year 1–5 years Total 

% $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
2014
Financial Assets

 Non-interest bearing  28,163 - - - 28,163
 Variable interest rate  1.27% 10,551 - - - 10,551
 Fixed interest Rate 3.55% - - - 183 183

38,714 - - 183 38,897
Financial Liabilities
Non-interest bearing  27,087 - - - 27,087
Variable interest rate 5.98% - - 12,850 51,405 64,255
  27,087 - 12,850 51,405 91,342

2013 
Financial Assets
Non-interest bearing  13,133 - - - 13,133
Variable interest rate  0.39% 33,448 - - - 33,448
Fixed interest Rate 3.55% - 2,684 200 - 2,884

46,581 2,684 200 - 49,465
Financial Liabilities
Non-interest bearing  48,189 - - - 48,189

  48,189 - - - 48,189
  

(n) Fair value of financial instruments 

Except as detailed in the following table, the directors consider that the carrying amount of 
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the financial statements approximates 
their fair values.  

The following table details the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities, which 
represents a reasonable approximation of the carrying value of the financial assets and 
liabilities: 

Consolidated
Carrying amount Fair value

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

Financial assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 14,034 38,936 14,034 38,936
Trade and other receivables 20,785 10,530 20,785 10,530

34,819 49,466 34,819 49,466
Financial liabilities 
Trade and other payables 27,087 48,189 27,087 48,189
Loans and borrowings 64,255 - 64,255 -

91,342 48,189 91,342 48,189

Fair values are determined based on Level 1 inputs as set out in the Basis of preparation in note 1.  
There are no fair values based on Level 2 and 3 inputs. 
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22. Share-based payments 
Tap currently has the Tap Share Rights Plan as its share-based payment scheme. This plan was 
first approved by shareholders on 30 April 2010 and again on 22 May 2013.  

Performance Rights 

Long-term incentive awards are made in the form of rights to shares which will have a vesting 
timeframe of three years. The rights have a total legal life of seven years from the grant date. The 
number of rights that vest will be based on the Consolidated Entity’s performance over the same 
three years. The long-term incentive awards are made by way of the grant of Performance Rights as 
soon as practicable after each year end.  Grants of Performance Rights will be made each year with 
effect from 1 January. 

• Vesting of up to 50% of the Performance Rights depends upon the Consolidated Entity’s 
Absolute Total Shareholder Return (ATSR) over three years and up to 50% depends upon 
Relative Total Shareholder Return (RTSR). The ATSR and RTSR performance hurdles required 
to achieve increasing levels of vesting will be set by the Board to apply from 1 January of the 
relevant year. For the Performance Rights granted in 2014 and 2013 as long-term incentive 
awards, the Board has set the following ATSR and RTSR performance hurdles: 

  

Assess 50% of Rights 
Against ATSR 

Assess 50% of Rights 
Against RTSR 

Average Annual ATSR 
over 3 years 

% of Rights which will 
vest after 3 years 

Relative TSR
(Relative Percentile 

Ranking of TSR against 
peers over 3 years) 

% of Rights which will 
vest after 3 years 

<5% 0%  <P50% 0% 

=5% 12.5%  =P50% 12.5% 

=15% 25%  =P62.5 25% 

25% 50% P75% 50% 

Vesting characteristics of the Performance Rights are as follows: 

1. Performance measurement period is three years, which is consistent with the typical time cycle 
for an exploration program and the Consolidated Entity’s strategic emphasis on exploration. 

2. Performance is based on differences in ATSR and RTSR as measured from the end of one 
preceding period to the end of the 3-year assessment period. The ATSR and RTSR use the 
30-day VWAP of the Consolidated Entity’s shares preceding and including the last day of each 
measurement period.  

3. RTSR is assessed against a peer group of like companies determined by the Board before the 
start of each assessment period or as soon as practical thereafter. In 2014, the Consolidated 
Entity used a group of 31 (2013: 30) petroleum industry companies which are listed on the ASX 
and whose market capitalisation ranged from approximately $12 million to $850 million. 

Retention Rights 

Retention Rights are issued to staff pursuant to the terms of the Share Rights Plan upon or as soon 
as practicable after commencement of employment. Such rights would vest if the employee remains 
employed by the Consolidated Entity for three years. The rights have a total legal life of seven years 
from the grant date. Retention Rights are valued at 100% of the 30-day volume-weighted average 
share price (VWAP) of the Consolidated Entity’s shares preceding the date of grant.  

Special Awards 

The Board retains the discretion to make Special Awards each year. Special Awards can be in the 
form of Performance Rights and/or Retention Rights. Special Awards are granted to individual staff 
or Group Executives who are judged by the Board to have made an extraordinary contribution to the 
current or future performance of the Consolidated Entity or who are expected to play a critical role in 
one of the Consolidated Entity’s activities that could take 2-3 years to complete and where retention 
of the individual’s services is seen as an important determinant of the success to that activity.
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22. Share-based payments  (cont’d)

Grant date Number Expiry date Exercise price 
AU$ 

Fair value at 
grant date 

AU$ 

2014     
Performance Rights     

12/03/2014 3,865,335 1/01/2021 - 0.05 
Retention Rights     

12/03/2014 40,241 12/02/2015 - 0.50 
    

2013 
Performance Rights     

16/01/2013 3,619,430 1/01/2020 - 0.12 
16/01/2013 288,197 1/01/2020 - 0.11 
24/05/2013 5,000,000 24/05/2020 - 0.00 

Retention Rights     
16/01/2013 198,729 13/12/2019 - 0.63 
16/07/2013 31,289 4/02/2020 - 0.65 
16/07/2013 36,564 15/07/2020 - 0.49 
22/07/2013 446,959 27/06/2020 - 0.49 
6/09/2013 30,840 29/07/2020 - 0.53 

20/09/2013 19,877 19/08/2020 - 0.54 
20/09/2013 22,830 1/09/2020 - 0.51 
20/09/2013 14,715 2/09/2020 - 0.53 
23/10/2013 50,000 14/10/2020 - 0.57 

The volume weighted average fair value of the performance rights granted in 2014 is $0.05 
(2013:  $0.05).  Performance rights issued are valued using a Monte Carlo Simulation model. The 
Monte Carlo Simulation model is a computer based technique where a large sample of iterations is 
performed, based on random numbers and their associated probabilities determined by a specified 
probability distribution function. The Monte Carlo Simulation model is used to determine the 
probability of the absolute return performance hurdles and the relative return performance hurdles 
being achieved. 

The performance rights have no exercise price and vesting occurs after three years. Expected 
volatility for the ATSR performance hurdle is based on the volatility of historical 3-year performance 
period returns using 30-day VWAP share price data. Expected volatility for the RTSR performance 
hurdle is based on the volatility of historical 3-year performance period returns using 30-day VWAP 
share price data of Tap Oil Limited shares compared to its peer group. 

The volume weighted average fair value of the retention rights granted in 2014 is $0.50 
(2013:  $0.05). Retention rights are valued using the Black Scholes model with the life of the rights 
assumed to be three years, which is the same as the vesting period of the retention rights (based 
on employees remaining in the Consolidated Entity’s employment for three years as the condition 
for rights vesting). The retention rights have no exercise price and no other performance conditions, 
except that the employees need to be in the Consolidated Entity’s employment after a period of 
three years, resulting in the fair value of the retention rights being equal to the 30-day VWAP share 
price at the date of grant (the volatility and risk-free rate included as inputs to the Black Scholes 
model will be irrelevant). Expected volatility is based on the historical 30-day VWAP share price 
volatility over a 3-year performance period and the risk free interest rate based on the Reserve 
Bank of Australia’s 3-year government bond rate, both as quoted on the date of grant of the 
retention rights.   
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22. Share-based payments  (cont’d)

Inputs into the model 

Rights series (by 
expiry date) 

Grant date 
share price 

AU$ 

Vesting 
probabil

ity 

Exercise 
price 
AU$ 

Expected 
volatility  

Vesting 
term of 
rights 

Dividend 
yield 

Risk-free 
interest rate 

2014
Performance Rights 

1/01/2021 $0.48 10% $0.00 10% 3yr - N/A 
Retention Rights 

12/02/2015 $0.48 N/A $0.00 38% 1yr - 2.70% 

Inputs into the model 

Rights series (by 
expiry date) 

Grant date 
share price 

AU$ 
Vesting 

probability 
Exercise 

price 
AU$ 

Expected 
volatility  

Vesting 
term of 
rights 

Dividend 
yield 

Risk-free 
interest rate 

2013
Performance Rights 

1/01/2020 $0.66 19% $0.00 9% 3yr - N/A 
1/01/2020 $0.66 17% $0.00 9% 2yr - N/A 
24/05/2020 $0.53 19% $0.00 10% 3yr - N/A 

Retention Rights 
13/12/2019 $0.66 N/A $0.00 38% 1yr - 2.75% 
4/02/2020 $0.53 N/A $0.00 38% 3yr - 2.69% 
15/07/2020 $0.53 N/A $0.00 38% 3yr - 2.69% 
27/06/2020 $0.54 N/A $0.00 38% 1yr - 2.54% 
29/07/2020 $0.50 N/A $0.00 38% 3yr - 2.90% 
19/08/2020 $0.54 N/A $0.00 38% 3yr - 2.90% 
1/09/2020 $0.54 N/A $0.00 38% 3yr - 2.90% 
2/09/2020 $0.54 N/A $0.00 38% 3yr - 2.90% 
14/10/2020 $0.56 N/A $0.00 38% 3yr - 2.95% 

The following reconciles the outstanding share rights granted at the beginning and end of the 
financial year: 

2014 2013

Number of 
rights 

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price 
AU$

Number of 
rights 

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price 
AU$

Balance at beginning of the financial year 13,146,675 - 8,857,048 - 
Granted during the financial year  3,905,576 - 9,759,430 - 
Forfeited during the financial year (2,833,220) - (2,313,136) - 
Vested during the financial year (i) (1,071,111) - (1,031,664) - 
Lapsed during the financial year  (1,019,863) - (2,125,003) - 
Balance at end of the financial year (ii) 12,128,057 - 13,146,675 - 

(i) Vested during the financial year
No performance rights vested during the 2014 financial year (2013: 113,265). A total of 1,071,111 retention rights 
vested during the 2014 financial year (2013: 918,399).     

(ii) Balance at end of the financial year  
The performance rights and retention rights outstanding at the end of the financial year had no exercise prices and 
had a weighted average remaining contractual life of 1,903 days (2013:  2,047 days). 

(i) Exercised during the financial year
There were no options exercised during the 2014 financial year (2013: nil).   
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23. Key management personnel compensation 
After consideration of the nature of each employee’s role within the Consolidated Entity, in the 
opinion of the Board the Consolidated Entity had the following key management personnel during 
the financial year: 
Non-Executive Directors 
• D W Bailey (Chairman) 
• M J Sandy 
• D A Schwebel  
Senior Executives 
• T J Hayden (Managing Director/CEO)
• B M Ulmer (Engineering and Development Manager resigned 18 June 2014)
• D J Rich (Chief Financial Officer)
• M J Williams (General Counsel/Company Secretary) 
• T M Schmedje (Exploration Manager resigned 4 July 2014)
• A C Sudlow (Commercial Manager) 
The aggregate compensation of the key management personnel of the Consolidated Entity is set 
out below: 

Consolidated

2014
US$000

Restated
2013 

US$000 
Short-term employee benefits 2,392 3,023
Post-employment benefits 150 171
Other long-term benefits - -
Termination benefits  596 -
Share-based payments 365 616

3,503 3,810
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24. Related party transactions 
(a) Key management personnel compensation 

Details of key management personnel compensation are disclosed in note 23 to the financial 
statements and in the remuneration report disclosed in the Directors report.

(b) Transactions with other related parties

Other related parties include the parent entity, joint operations in which the entity is a venturer 
and subsidiaries. 

Amounts receivable from and payable to parties within the Tap Oil Limited Group eliminate on 
consolidation.  The outstanding balances related to joint operations are disclosed in note 18 to 
the financial statements.  All loans advanced to and payable to related parties are unsecured, 
have no fixed repayment dates and are interest-free. 

The Consolidated Entity has no other outstanding commitments at 31 December 2014 with 
related parties (2013: nil).

25. Remuneration of auditors Consolidated

2014
US$’000

Restated
2013 

US$’000 
Audit services 
Auditor of the parent entity – Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 

- Audit and review of financial reports 105 107
Overseas Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu firms 

- Audit of financial report - 33
105 140

Other auditors 
- Audit of financial report 46 24

151 164

Other services 
Auditor of the parent entity – Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 

- Treasury services 24 -
Other auditors 

- Taxation services 14 8
  38 8
  

26. Contingencies 

Success payments in respect of the Manora oil field development 

As part of the consideration for acquiring the G1/48 permit in 2010, Tap Energy (Thailand) Pty Ltd (a 
subsidiary of Tap Oil Limited), is liable to make a 2P Reserves Deferred Payment, to NGPH. The 
payment is calculated pro-rata based on 2P reserves between 10mmbbls and 35mmbbls. 

Tap paid an initial 2P Reserves Deferred Payment of US$7.65 million in August 2012, based on the 
Operator’s Manora 2P gross reserves estimate of 20.2 mmbbls at the time of the Manora Final 
Investment Decision (FID). Further payments (up to a maximum of US$29.85 million) will be calculated 
on the Operator’s 2P reserves estimate at year end, and are payable up to four years after first 
production (conditional on the Manora 2P Reserves (plus recovered oil) remaining greater than 
10mmbbls). 
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Tap expects to make a payment this year to NGPH based on the Operator’s 2P reserves estimates as at 
31 December 2014. The Operator is currently finalising its 2P reserve estimates as at 31 December 2014 
for review by the joint venture. Accordingly Tap is unable to provide an estimate on the exact size of this 
year’s Reserves Deferred Payment. However, if the 2P reserves estimate for 31 December 2014 remains 
the same as the 2P reserves estimates as at FID (20.2mmbbls gross), Tap will be liable to make a further 
payment of US$7.65 million. If the 31 December 2014 2P reserves estimate increases beyond 20.2 
mmbbls, this payment will increase by US$1.50/additional barrel (capped as described above). 

The payment will be due within 30 days following the finalisation of the year-end 2P reserves estimates 
for Manora – either through the joint venture process, or through a further reserves certification by an 
independent expert if required by either Tap or NGPH. 

Contractual Disputes – Apache Northwest Pty Ltd

Tap (Shelfal) Pty Ltd has been served with proceedings in the Supreme Court of Western Australia, 
commenced by Apache Northwest Pty Ltd (Apache).  The Apache claim is for US$4.154 million plus 
interest and costs. 

The claim is for the repayment of a portion of the moneys paid to Tap by BHP Billiton Petroleum (North 
West Shelf) Pty Ltd under a Farmin Agreement entered into in June 2011 between Tap and BHP 
Billiton, under which Tap sold to BHP Billiton a 25% interest in the WA-351-P permit offshore 
Carnarvon Basin. The Farmin Agreement resulted from BHP Billiton’s decision to pre-empt a 
transaction on the same terms and conditions between Tap and Japan Australia LNG (MIMI) Pty Ltd.  
BHP Billiton subsequently assigned to Apache a portion of its interest in WA-351-P.   

Tap denies any liability in respect of the claim made by Apache and is defending the claim. Tap has 
filed its defence. Tap considers the probability of any material financial outflow from the Consolidated 
Entity is unlikely.

27. Subsequent Events
Since the end of the financial year, the Directors are not aware of any other matter or circumstance not 
otherwise dealt with within the financial report that has significantly or may significantly affect the 
operations of the Consolidated Entity, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of the 
Consolidated Entity in subsequent financial years, except for the following: 

Manora 

a) Manora is now producing from six wells: MNA-01, MNA-02, MNA-03, MNA-05, MNA-07 and MNA-08.    

Following the end of the year, MNA-07, the first well to be produced from the east fault block, was 
put on production with a tested rate of 1,332 barrels per day (gross) with 40% watercut, and has 
increased to 62% watercut at present. MNA-08 started production on 21 February 2015. 

b) The Operator (Mubadala Petroleum) has confirmed that peak production of 15,000 barrels per 
day (gross) has now been achieved. As at 14 February 2015, Manora had produced 1 million 
stock tank barrels (gross) (based on FSO official rate and corrected for shrinkage). Water injection 
to two wells started on 19 February 2015. 

c) Following a review of the results from the development drilling programme to date, the Manora 
joint venture has agreed that two wells (one producer and one injector) are no longer required and 
also to defer two producer wells. The development plan had previously forecast up to 15 
development wells (10 producers and 5 injectors). The Operator (Mubadala Petroleum) has 
confirmed that peak production of 15,000 barrels per day (gross) has now been achieved and can 
be maintained with only 7 producer wells (instead of the original 10 producer wells). The Operator 
has advised that the revised Manora Oil Development drilling programme reduces the 
development drilling budget by approximately $5 million (gross) allowing for well cost overruns to 
date and the modified forward drilling programme. 

d) Tap has a received a proposal from the Operator to approve a capital expenditure increase for the 
facilities on the Manora Oil Development by effectively US$28 million (gross) – a 15% increase 
since the 2015 budget was signed in December 2014. This would bring the total estimated cost at 
completion to $328 million (gross). This proposal was unexpected and follows Tap’s approval of 
the 2015 budget in December 2014 which was in line with Operator’s previous capital expenditure 
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estimates. Tap understands that the increase relates to increased facilities costs claimed by the 
platform contractor, and the increased duration of hook up and commissioning work. Extensive 
work is being undertaken by Tap to validate these unexpected cost overruns, and further 
discussions are being held with the Operator. If these costs are approved by the joint venture, 
Tap’s total estimated capital expenditure for the project will be approximately $105 million (after 
repayment of the carry of Northern Gulf Petroleum Pte. Ltd). These costs have not yet been 
approved and are not considered commitments. Tap has reserved its position on Manora cost 
overruns until further clarity is provided by the Operator. 

Vic/P67 

On 11 February 2015, Tap advised WHL that it had elected not to exercise its option to acquire 10% of the 
Vic/P67 permit. The final seismic cost amounts to $2,778,887 and remains payable on 31 March 2015.
Upon payment, Tap will have no further obligation or liability in respect of exploration permit Vic/P67. 

G3/48 

Tap has withdrawn from its 30% participating interest in G3/48,Thailand.  The joint venture has agreed 
that Tap will have no further exploration drilling obligations (including drilling) with respect to G3/48.  
This will result in a cost saving of $2.7 million to Tap in 2015.  The G3/48 withdrawal will not have any 
impact on the Manora Oil Development or exploration in the G1/48 concession. 

Financing 

On 31 January 2015, Tap announced that it had fully drawn $68.5 million of its Borrowing Base Debt 
Facility of up to $90 million with BNP Paribas and Siam Commercial Bank. At that time the facility size 
had reduced to $68.5 million due to the fall in oil price and consequent decreases in forecast net cash 
flows from Manora. Tap has been in discussions with BNP Paribas and Siam Commercial Bank 
regarding a review of its existing borrowing base debt facility. On 27 February 2015, Tap, BNP Paribas 
and Siam Commercial Bank have agreed the following modifications and waivers to the debt facility: 

•     Tap has the ability to draw down $78.9 million (previously $68.5m) under the borrowing base; 

•     the following waivers are in place until 31 July 2015, at which stage Tap believes it will no 
longer require them: 

•     the banks have waived their minimum liquidity requirements during the waiver period; 

•     financial cover ratio requirements have been temporarily reduced; 

•     a waiver fee is payable, and a higher interest rate margin applicable to the debt, during the 
waiver period; and 

•     the deferral of repayments during the waiver period. 

As the size of the borrowing base debt facility is linked to Manora reserves and revenues (as well as 
Third Party Gas revenues), the maximum amount available under the facility fluctuates with changes in 
the oil price.   

The current debt repayment schedule remains less than 3 years. Tap intends to fully draw the 
remaining amount of the facility during March 2015. This amount will be used towards Tap’s share of 
the remaining approved Manora capital expenditure of $1 million, and for general corporate and 
exploration costs.  The increased borrowing amount ensures that all forecast commitments can be fully 
funded at this time. 

Assuming the facility is fully drawn as above, Tap’s liability for repayments in 2015 will total 
$27.4 million. All these repayments are scheduled for on or after 31 July 2015. 

Hedging 

Tap has hedged 40% of forecast 1P Manora production over April to December 2015 at an average 
swap price of $62.75/bbl, (representing 495,000 barrels) to enhance the borrowing base and support 
Tap’s cashflows. 
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Section 203D  Notice 

On 27 February 2015 the Directors of Tap Oil Limited received a notice from Mr Chatchai 
Yenbamroong under section 203D of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) of his intention to move 
resolutions at a meeting of Tap shareholders convened under section 249F of the Corporations Act to:  

(a) remove as directors of Tap each of Messrs Douglas Bailey, Troy Hayden, Michael Sandy and any 
other director of Tap appointed on and from the date of receipt of the section 203D notice until the 
end of the general meeting of Tap shareholders at which these resolutions are considered (other 
than Messrs David Whitby, Alan Stein, David Johnson, James Menzies and any other person that 
may be nominated by Mr Yenbamroong as a director of Tap at that general meeting of Tap); and 

(b) appoint each of Messrs David Whitby, Alan Stein, David Johnson and James Menzies as 
directors of Tap.  

Mr Yenbamroong, who is the executive director and controller of Northern Gulf Petroleum Holdings Ltd 
(NGPH), currently has voting power to approximately 19.98% of Tap, having recently increased its 
shareholding in Tap from approximately 6% to 19.98% of Tap’s total issued capital through various 
on-market trades. Please refer to the ASX announcement dated 27 February 2015 for further 
information. 
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28. Parent entity disclosures  
The accounting policies of the parent entity, which have been applied in determining the financial 
information shown below, are the same as those applied in the consolidated financial statements.  
Refer to note 1 for a summary of the significant accounting policies relating to the Consolidated Entity. 

Parent Entity

2014
US$’000

Restated
2013

US$’000
Financial Position of parent entity at year end
Assets 
Current assets 124,398 150,082 

Non-current assets 1,628 27,986 

Total assets 126,026 178,068 

Liabilities 
Current liabilities 5,860 165 

Non-current liabilities 3,044 138 

Total liabilities 8,904 303 

Net assets 117,122 177,765 

Total equity of the parent entity comprising of: 
Issued capital 133,175 133,175 

Retained earnings (55,327) 16,015 

Share option reserve 3,526 3,526 
Share rights reserve 2,800 2,081 
Foreign Currency Translation Reserve (26,872) (1,815)
Profit reserve 59,818 24,783 
Total equity 117,122 177,765 

Results of the parent entity
(Loss)/profit for the year (23,701) 24,783 
Total comprehensive income (23,701) 24,783 
Guarantees entered into by the parent entity

Parent company guarantees are extended on a case by case basis. Tap Oil Ltd has provided a 
number of performance guarantees for subsidiaries under the terms of joint operations operating 
agreements and agreements with Governments pertaining to oil & gas exploration. 

Tap Oil Limited has parent company guarantees in place which guarantees the obligations of Tap 
Energy (Thailand) Pty Ltd under the Petroleum Concessions for the G1/48 and G3/48 Permit Areas, 
Thailand. 

Tap Oil Limited has parent company guarantees in place which guarantees the obligations of Tap (WA 
Gas) Pty Ltd under gas sale agreements.  

Tap Oil Ltd guarantees to BNP Paribas the punctual performance by Tap Energy (Thailand) Pty Ltd of 
its obligations under an ISDA Master Agreement with BNP Paribas. 

Each of Tap Oil Limited; Tap Energy (Thailand) Pty Ltd and Tap (WA Gas) Pty Ltd jointly and severally 
guarantee to BNP Paribas and Siam Commercial Bank the punctual performance by Tap Oil Ltd; Tap 
Energy (Thailand) Pty Ltd and Tap (WA Gas) Pty Ltd of its obligations under the Borrowing Base 
facility with BNP Paribas and Siam Commercial Bank and associated finance documents.  
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28. Parent entity disclosures  
Contingent liabilities of the parent entity

The parent entity did not have any contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2014 other than those 
disclosed in note 26. 

Lease commitments of the Parent entity

Operating leases

Leasing arrangements

The Parent Entity has non-cancellable operating leases for office premises (the premises lease expires 
on 31 January 2018) and Office equipment (the copy management plan expires on 29 November 
2015). 

Parent Entity

2014
US$’000

Restated
2013

US$’000
Non-cancellable operating lease commitments
Not longer than 1 year 514 536
Longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years 1,129 1,792
Longer than 5 years - -

1,643 2,328

29. General information
Tap Oil Limited is a listed public company, incorporated in Australia. 

Tap Oil Limited’s registered office and its principal place of business are as follows: 

Registered office Principal place of business
Level 1, 47 Colin Street Level 1, 47 Colin Street 
West Perth WA 6005 West Perth WA 6005 
Ph:  +61 8 9485 1000 Ph:  +61 8 9485 1000 
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Shareholder Information as at 10 April 2015  
1. NUMBER OF EQUITY HOLDERS 

Ordinary Share Capital 

243,288,334 fully paid ordinary shares are held by 7,104 individual shareholders. 

Options  

There were no options on issues at the date of this report. 

Performance Rights 

The Company has 14,839,309 performance/retention rights on issue at the date of this report: 

Number Class Vesting Date 

2,064,781 Performance Rights 1 January 2016 

5,000,000 Performance Rights  
(special award to MD/CEO) 

1 July 2016 

2,320,742 Performance Rights 1 January 2017 

3,383,211 Performance Rights 1 January 2018 

958,298 Retention Rights 1 January 2016 

850,362 Retention Rights 1 July 2016 

261,915 Retention Rights 3 years 

The above share rights are held by 20 individual employees. 

2. VOTING RIGHTS 

In accordance with Article 5 of the Company's Constitution, on a show of hands every shareholder 
present in person or by proxy, attorney or representative of a shareholder has one vote and on a 
poll every shareholder present in person or by proxy, attorney or representative of a shareholder 
has in respect of fully paid shares, one vote for every share held.  No class of option holders and 
rights holders have a right to vote, however, the shares issued upon exercise of options or vesting 
of rights will rank pari passu with the then existing issued fully paid ordinary shares.  

3. DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS 

Holdings No. of 
Shareholders

1 to 1,000  1,245 
1,001 to 5,000  2,854 
5,001 to 10,000  1,274 
10,001 to 100,000  1,564 
100,001 & over  167 
Total  7,104 

4. UNMARKETABLE PARCELS 

There were 2,354 shareholders holding less than a marketable parcel of shares in the Company. 
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5. SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS 

Substantial shareholders as disclosed in substantial shareholder notices given to the Company and/or 
the records maintained by the Company’s share registry are as follows: 

Name Shares %
Mr Chatchai Yenbamroong and  
Northern Gulf Petroleum Holdings 

48,580,575 19.97 

M&G Investment Management 23,983,178 9.86 
Dimensional Fund Advisors 13,992,776 5.75 

6. THE 20 LARGEST HOLDERS OF ORDINARY SHARES AS AT 10 APRIL 2015 

Name Units % of Units

Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 35,193,639 14.47

Mr Chatchai Yenbamroong 35,173,532 14.46

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 33,961,206 13.96

Zero Nominees Pty Ltd  8,000,000 3.29

J P Morgan Nominees Australia Limited  7,068,058 2.91

Brispot Nominees Pty Ltd <House Head Nominee No 
1 A/C> 6,516,456 2.68

National Nominees Limited 5,026,532 2.07

BNP Paribas Noms Pty Ltd <DRP> 2,555,672 1.05

Mr Troy John Hayden 1,696,753 0.70

Ms Margaret Packer 1,503,351 0.62

Waratah Capital Partners Pty Limited 1,500,000 0.62

Weswood Pty Ltd <Paul Underwood Family A/C> 1,429,767 0.59

Mr David Andrew Jennings + Ms Deborah Jan 
Jennings <Jennings Family Super A/C> 1,200,000 0.49

Mr Gregory John Munyard + Mrs Maria Ann Munyard 
+ Miss Carmen Helene Munyard <Riviera Super 
Fund A/C> 

1,161,167 0.48

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited – A/C 2 1,019,800 0.42

Mr Paul Fudge 881,500 0.36

QIC Limited 828,456 0.34

BNP Paribas Noms (NZ) Ltd <DRP> 805,612 0.33

Mr Vadim Volovsky 749,000 0.31

Keepa Pty Ltd <Keepa Investment A/C> 705,000 0.29

TOTAL 146,975,501 60.41



Page 111 Tap Oil 2014 Annual Report  

Corporate Directory 
Directors 

D W Bailey 
Independent, Non-executive Chairman 

T J Hayden 
Managing Director/Chief Executive Officer 

M J Sandy 
Independent, Non-executive Director 

D A Schwebel 
Independent, Non-executive Director 

Company Secretary 

M J Williams 

Registered Office 

Level 1, 47 Colin Street 
West Perth  WA  6000 

Telephone:  +61 8 9485 1000 
Facsimile:  +61 8 9485 1060 
Email:  info@tapoil.com.au 
Website:  www.tapoil.com.au 

Share Registry 

Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited 
Level 2, 45 St Georges Terrace 
Perth  WA  6000 
Telephone:  +61 8 9323 2000 

Auditors 

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 
Level 14, 240 St Georges Terrace 
Perth  WA  6000 

Stock Exchange Listing 

Australian Securities Exchange Limited 
ASX Code – TAP 

Bankers 

BNP Paribas 
#34-01 Ocean Financial Centre,  
10 Collyer Quay Singapore 049315 

Commonwealth Bank of Australia 
Level 14A, 300 Murray St 
Perth  WA  6000 

St George Bank 
Level 11, 152-158 St Georges Terrace 
Perth  WA  6000 
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